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FORM 2A
LISTING STATEMENT

This Listing Statement must be used for all initial applications for listing and for Issuers resulting from a fundamental change.  CNSX requires prospectus level disclosure in the Listing Statement (other than certain financial disclosure and interim Management's Discussion and Analysis) and can require that the Issuer include additional disclosure.

General Instructions

(a) Please prepare this Listing Statement using the format set out below.  The sequence of questions must not be altered nor should questions be omitted or left unanswered.  The answers to the following items must be in narrative form.  When the answer to any item is negative or not applicable to the Issuer, state it in a sentence.  The title to each item must precede the answer.

(b) In this form, the term “Issuer” includes the applicant Issuer and any of its subsidiaries.

(c) In determining the degree of detail required, a standard of materiality should be applied. Materiality is a matter of judgment in a particular circumstance, and should generally be determined in relation to an item's significance to investors, analysts and other users of the information. An item of information, or an aggregate of items, is considered material if it is probable that its omission or misstatement would influence or change an investment decision with respect to the Issuer's securities. In determining whether information is material, take into account both quantitative and qualitative factors. The potential significance of items should be considered individually rather than on a net basis, if the items have an offsetting effect. This concept of materiality is consistent with the financial reporting notion of materiality contained in the Handbook.

(d) Terms used and not defined in this form are defined or interpreted in Policy 1 – Interpretation.

(e) For Issuers that are re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change, provide historic and current details on 

(i) the Issuer 

(ii) all other companies or businesses that are involved in the fundamental change (the “target”); and

(iii) the entity that will result from the fundamental change (the "New Issuer").  

Information concerning the Issuer that was contained in the most recent Listing Statement may be incorporated by reference, but this statement must indicate if any of the information in the prior statement has changed (e.g. describing a business that will no longer be undertaken by the New Issuer). Information concerning assets or lines of business of the target that will not be part of the New Issuer's business should not be included.

(f)
This Listing Statement provides prospectus-level disclosure. It will be amended from time to time to reflect any changes to the prospectus disclosure requirements. If changed, the new form is to be used for the next listing statement the Issuer is required to file. The Issuer does not have to amend a listing statement currently on file to reflect any new disclosure requirements. 
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This document includes forward-looking statements and information within the meaning of applicable securities laws. These forward-looking statements and information include, among others, statements and information with respect to projected revenues, anticipated timing of construction of facilities and anticipated production volumes, the Company’s ability to obtain future debt or equity financing on reasonable terms, the Company’s ability to obtain the required permits, licenses and government approvals for the Company’s facilities, our objectives and goals, and strategies to achieve those objectives and goals, as well as statements with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions. The words “may”, “will”, “could”, “should”, “would”, “suspect”, “might”, “outlook”, “believe”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “forecast”, “objective”, “continue”, “budget”, “schedule” (or the negative or grammatical variations thereof), and words and expressions of similar meaning, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. 

By their very nature, forward-looking statements and information involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, which give rise to the possibility that predictions, forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements will not be achieved. Certain material factors or assumptions are applied in making forward-looking statements and information and actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements and information. These include assumptions with respect to the Company’s ability to produce the anticipated tonnage of Downstream Products (as defined below) at current market prices. Even though our management believes that the assumptions made and the expectations represented by such statements and information are reasonable, we caution readers not to place undue reliance on these statements as a number of important factors, many of which are beyond our control, could cause actual results to differ materially from the beliefs, plans, objectives, expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to risks relating to execution of our business plan; the ability of the Company to produce the Downstream Products (as defined below) and to sell such products at current market prices; statements with respect to future financial and operating performance; costs and timing of development of new products, dependence on key personnel; dependence on key relationships with customers, suppliers and government officials; competition; market factors and volatility of commodity prices; our operations; infrastructure; future capital requirements; manufacturing processes; exchange rate fluctuations; insurance; foreign operations; weather conditions and natural disasters; environmental risks and hazards; control by management/principal shareholders; seasonality; dividends; conflicts of interest; state ownership; government sector intervention; regulations relating to cross-border mergers and acquisitions; foreign investment; repatriation of profit and currency conversion; regulations relating to offshore special purpose companies; shareholders’ rights and enforcement of judgements; developing legal system; protection of intellectual property rights; permits and business licenses; appropriation; inflation; and availability of land and land use rights.  See “Risk Factors”. 

Should one or more of these factors materialize, or should our estimates or underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results, performance or achievements may vary materially from those described in forward-looking statements and information. 

Although we have attempted to identify factors that would cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially from those disclosed in the forward-looking statements or information, there may be other factors that cause actual results, performances, achievements or events not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. Also, many of the factors are beyond our control.  We caution that the foregoing list of important factors that may affect our future results is not exhaustive. When reviewing our forward-looking statements, readers should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential events. Additional information about factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from expectations, and about material factors or assumptions applied in making forward-looking statements, may be found under the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Information Form and elsewhere in our filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities. Except as required by Canadian securities law, we do not undertake to update any forward-looking statements, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time by us or on our behalf; such statements speak only as of the date made. We cannot assure readers that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements and information, and the differences may be material. The forward-looking statements included in this Annual Information Form are, unless otherwise indicated, made as of March 30, 2014 and are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary language.  

CURRENCY

Unless otherwise indicated, in this Annual Information Form all references to “dollars” or the use of the symbol “$” are to Canadian dollars, all references to “US Dollars” or “US$” are to United States dollars, and all references to “RMB” are to Renminbi, the legal currency in China.

Canadian Dollar/RMB Exchange Rates  

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain information concerning the exchange rate for translating RMB into dollars based on rates quoted by the Bank of Canada website. No representation is made that dollars could be converted into RMB at that rate or any other rate.

	One RMB expressed in Canadian dollars
 Year ended December 31 - Average During Period

	2013
	0.1675

	January 1 to March 30, 2014
	0.1808


US Dollar/Canadian Dollar Exchange Rates

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain information concerning the exchange rate for translating US Dollars into dollars based on rates quoted by the Bank of Canada website. No representation is made that US Dollars could be converted in dollars at that rate or any other rate. 

	One US Dollar expressed in Canadian dollars 
Year ended December 31 - Average During Period

	2013
	1.0299

	January 1 to March 30, 2014
	1.1039


US Dollar/RMB Exchange Rates

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain information concerning the exchange rate for translating US Dollars into RMB constructed from rates quoted by the Bank of Canada website. No representation is made that US Dollars could be converted in RMB at that rate or any other rate. 

	One US Dollar expressed in RMB 
Year ended December 31 - Average During Period

	2013
	6.1486

	January 1 to March 30, 2014
	6.1056


The financial data and other information contained in this Annual Information Form are presented as at December 31, 2013. All references to a year mean the calendar year unless otherwise indicated.

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. (the “Company” or “Asia Bio-Chem”), formerly Parran Capital Inc. (“Parran”), was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on October 5, 2005.  From incorporation until June 26, 2008, the Company was a capital pool company pursuant to Policy 2.4 of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) Corporate Finance Manual.  On June 19, 2008, Parran completed a qualifying transaction by acquiring Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd. (“Asia Bio Sub”), a company incorporated on July 30, 2007 under the Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands, and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Chang Tu Bio-Chem Technology Co. Ltd. (“Changtu Bio”), formerly Chang Tu Wanshunda Starch Co. Ltd., which was incorporated on June 11, 2004 under the laws of the Peoples Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”). The acquisition was accomplished by way of a reverse takeover (“RTO”) transaction through an exchange of shares, resulting in the former shareholders of Asia Bio Sub obtaining control of the Company.

Concurrent with the RTO, the Company changed its name from Parran Capital Inc. to Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. and its common shares commenced trading as a Tier 1 Industrial Issuer on the TSX-V under the symbol “ABC”. On September 20, 2010, the Company graduated from the TSX-V to the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) with its shares listed under the trading symbol “ABC”. The Company's primary business is the manufacturing, packaging and sale of corn starch, germ, fibre and gluten manufactured from raw corn using various physical processes. 

Asia Bio-Chem’s head office is located at B1908 Fengtian Yinzuo, 19 Youhao Street, Shenhe District, Shenyang, Liaoning, China 110013 and its registered and records office is located at 2900-550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 0A3.  

Inter-corporate Relationships

The following diagram indicates the relationships among Asia Bio-Chem and its subsidiaries. Each subsidiary is 100% owned.


[image: image1]
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, is a manufacturer of corn products in China, the primary products being corn starch, gluten, corn germ and fibre. 

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Asia Bio Sub, in turn directly owns two subsidiaries and indirectly owns one subsidiary (via Cheerful Dragon, a company established in British Virgin Island) in the PRC engaged in the corn milling industry in China. Changtu Bio operates a 300,000 tonne per year corn processing facility in Changtu County in the northern region of Liaoning Province.  Daqing, which was established in August 2007, operates a 600,000 tonne per year corn processing facility in Zhaoyuan County of Heilongjiang Province.  Tieling was established in May 2007 and owns a 600,000 tonne per year corn processing facility in Tieling City of Liaoning Province, the sole shareholder of which, Cheerful Dragon, was acquired by Asia Bio Sub in February2014. 
Three Year History

On June 19, 2008, Parran completed a qualifying transaction by acquiring Asia Bio Sub and its wholly-owned subsidiary Changtu Bio. The acquisition was accomplished by way of an RTO transaction through an exchange of shares, resulting in the former shareholders of Asia Bio Sub obtaining control of the Company.  Concurrent with this transaction, the Company changed its name from Parran Capital Inc. to Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp., effected a change in directors, management and business, and its common shares commenced trading as a Tier 1 Industrial Issuer on the TSX-V. The Company's primary business is the manufacturing, packaging and sale of corn starch, germ, fibre and gluten manufactured from raw corn using various chemical processes.

Effective September 24, 2008, the Company acquired a 100% interest in Daqing, a wholly foreign owned enterprise under the laws of the PRC. At the time of acquisition, Daqing was a partially completed, 600,000 tonne corn processing facility in Zhaoyuan County of Heilongjiang Province.  Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the Company paid consideration of $24,700,000, comprised of cash of $17,290,000 and the issuance of an unsecured non-interest bearing promissory note (the “Note”) with a face value of $7,410,000. The Note was due six months from the completion of construction and commissioning of the processing plant, then extended for another six months and was repaid in October 2010.  
On March 16, 2009, the Company announced that it had entered into a loan agreement with China Construction Bank for a RMB 35 million ($6.6 million) short term, working capital loan. On this date, the Company also announced that it had entered into an agreement with Zhaoyuan County Government whereby a long term loan will be made available to the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Daqing in the amount of up to a maximum of RMB 100 million ($18.9 million).  The same day, the Company announced the resignation of Stephen See from the board of directors of the Company, effective March 31, 2009.

On June 8, 2009, the Company announced that it had secured a long-term loan from China Construction Bank in the amount of 100 million RMB ($18.9 million), and on October 30, 2009, the Company announced the completion of its Daqing plant.

On December 8, 2009, the Company announced that it had successfully completed negotiations and had drawn down a second operating line of credit with China Construction Bank in the amount of RMB 145 million ($22.5 million).

During 2009 the Company made a number of announcements regarding the completion of construction of the Daqing plant (“Daqing Phase 1”).  

On January 15, 2010, the Company announced that the Daqing plant had reached its production capacity for a continuous period of 48 hours in the first week of January.  In December, 2010, the Company completed the implementation of an intermodal container system at the Daqing facility which allows the Company to continuously load product into containers, thereby allowing a higher rate of production at the plant. The new containers can be loaded directly from the rail cars to the ships which reduce the time the product sits at the seaport and provides more efficient scheduling between the rail car and ship arrivals and departures. On March 15, 2011, the Company announced that it had achieved production capacity at the Daqing plant of over 90% during the year ended December 31, 2010.

In August 2010, the Company commenced the first phase of work on the Changtu Bio Chemical Industrial Park project in cooperation with the Changtu county government (“Changtu Phase 1”).  The Changtu Phase 1 project involved an upgrade to the existing manufacturing process and equipment intended to improve upon efficiencies at the existing Changtu facility by reducing steam, electricity and water usage. Changtu Phase 1 also involved the relocation of manufacturing operations to a new facility located 7.5km from the previous plant. The total cost of Changtu Phase 1 was approximately RMB 80 million and was completed in late 2010.  The original Changtu plant will remain the property of the Company to serve as a storage facility.  

On December 14, 2010, the Company announced that it had secured an additional RMB 55 million in operating credit facility from China Construction Bank. The loan represents an increase of the existing RMB 145 million operating loan on the Daqing plant, which had been renewed with a maturity date of late November 2012.  The loan is renewable on an annual basis and is secured against the assets of the Company’s Daqing plant. This facility bears a fixed annual rate of interest of approximately 6.888%. 

On January 12, 2011, the Company announced that it would commence construction of a downstream production facility at the Daqing plant (“Daqing Phase 2”).  The Company submitted orders for equipment and had begun to procure construction services in connection with the construction of the downstream facility (which was to be housed in the current production facility). 
See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”, “Risk Factors – Execution of the Business Plan” and “Risk Factors – Future Capital Requirements”.  

As stipulated in an agreement dated November 7, 2008 with Zhaoyuan County Government, Daqing was provided with a long term loan in the amount of up to a maximum of RMB 100 million for investment in corn processing facilities in Zhaoyuan County. To date, the Company has received RMB 60 million of this facility. See “Risk Factors – Execution of Business Plan” and “Risk Factors – Future Capital Requirements”. 
On February 1, 2011, the Company completed an offering of 7,200,000 common shares in the capital of the Company (the “Common Shares”) at a price of $1.40 per Common Share (the “Issue Price”) to a syndicate of underwriters led by Canaccord Genuity Corp., and including Dundee Securities Corporation, Jennings Capital Inc., Mackie Research Capital Corporation, Octagon Capital Corporation, Raymond James Ltd. and Northern Securities Inc. (the “Underwriters”). On February 8, 2011, the Company closed the over-allotment option by way of an offering of an additional 1,080,000 Common Shares at the Issue Price to the Underwriters.  In total, the Company issued 8,280,000 Common Shares pursuant to the offering for total gross proceeds to the Company of $11,592,000 (the “Offering”). 

On March 29, 2011, the Company announced it had entered into a major contract with Zhaoqing Huanfa Bio Tech Ltd. for the sale of 204,000 tonnes of starch over the following 12 months.   

On August 11, 2011, and on March 22, 2012, the Company announced that its Daqing Phase 2 project would be delayed due to the current corn processing market conditions and due to a delay of the local Government’s financial commitment to the project.

On November 10, 2011, the Company announced total bank borrowings of $80.7 million including an additional $4.9 million loan from Shanghai Pudong Development Bank. On November 25, 2011, the Company announced that it successfully renewed its 200 million RMB ($32.3 million) operating line with China Construction Bank for another 12 months.  On December 28, 2011, the Company announced that it has successfully secured 100 million RMB ($16 million) in new operating lines of credit to finance working capital including purchases of corn for 2012. On March 22, 2012, the Company announced that it had secured an additional $40.4 million in lines of credit from various banks. See “Risk Factors – Future Capital Requirements”.  

On March 22, 2012, the Company announced total bank borrowings of $120.9 million including securing of an additional $40.4 million in short term loans.  On May 10, 2012 the Company announced that it was adjusting its production capacities at its plants in response to weak market conditions.

On November 13, 2012, the Company announced that it successfully renewed three of its short-term credit facilities and has obtained a new short term facility in the amount of $4.5 million.  On December 5, 2012, the Company announced that it successfully renewed its 200 million RMB ($31million) operating line with China Construction Bank for another 12 months.  

On December 22, 2012, Asia Bio Sub entered into a share transfer agreement for the acquisition of Tieling. Under the terms of the acquisition (available on SEDAR), the purchase price of Chinese Yuan (CNY) 280 million (Canadian $44.1 million) will be satisfied as follows:  CNY 250 million ($39.4 million) in the form of accounts receivable of Asia Bio-Chem, and CNY 30 million ($4.7 million) note payable 12 months after the completion of all title changes and filing approval with the local government (Purchase Price). The Company has filed a Form 51-104F4 Business Acquisition Report in respect of the acquisition of Tieling. The accounts receivable have been transferred to the sellers. However, the transaction may be subject to equity change approval and registration (including without limitation, registration with competent administration for industry and commerce and competent administration for foreign exchange) with relevant Chinese governmental authorities.  
After several attempts, the approvals and registrations relating to the Tieling acquisition could not be obtained.  Consequently, on January 27, 2014, the Company entered into an amending agreement to the Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 2012 (the “Amending Agreement”).  Under the terms of this Amending Agreement, the Company acquired the holding company of Tieling (Cheerful Dragon) from its sole owner, Kon Hon Wong (the “Seller”).  Further, under the Amending Agreement, the Seller agreed to cancel the CNY 30 million Note in respect of the Purchase Price.  With respect to the receivables transferred to the Seller from Changtu Bio and Daqing, the Seller appointed a subsidiary incorporated in China to collect the receivables.   According to consultation with the local SAFE by the Company, such transfer of receivables shall not be subject to the administration of SAFE as the price is paid in receivables other than in cash and there is no inbound or outbound payment of  foreign exchange.  However, according to PRC laws and regulations, there is no guarantee that local SAFE will not change its interpretation of the foreign exchange administration rules and a penalty may be imposed on the Company as a result of such payment in Renminbi.  See “Risk Factors – Approval of the acquisition documents regarding Tieling”. 
On March 7th, 2014 the Company announced that its Chairman and CEO, Zhiping Wang, together with another significant shareholder, Yong Chin Wang (together, the “Controlling Shareholders”) had entered into a letter of intent to indirectly sell their interest in Asia Bio-Chem to a state-owned agriculture enterprise (State Farm).  The Controlling Shareholders will then invest the proceeds of the sale back into the subsidiary of State Farm and become shareholders of the State Farm subsidiary. The Company cannot provide any assurances as to whether the proposed transaction will be completed and what benefits the transaction will have for the Company. 
THE BUSINESS

Corn Processing Facilities

Summary

Asia Bio-Chem manufactures and sells corn starch and related products in PRC. Asia Bio-Chem’s first manufacturing facility, the Changtu facility was constructed in 2004 and is located in Changtu County of Liaoning Province. In the third quarter of 2010, the Changtu facility was closed for upgrade and relocation and subsequently reopened in late 2010.   

The Company’s second manufacturing facility, the Daqing plant, was completed in October 2009 and is located in Zhaoyuan County, Heilongjiang Province. 

During the 12 month period ended December 31, 2013, both of the Company’s plants produced a total of 259,461 tonnes of product.  
The Tieling facility is not currently in production having been closed by the previous owner during 2012 due to poor market conditions.  The Tieling facility is however fully equipped with modern processing equipment installed when the plant was upgraded in 2007.  The Tieling facility employs the same process and technology as is used in the Company’s Changtu facility and includes a power plant. The Tieling facility has an estimated corn processing capacity of 600,000 tonnes per year.  

Products  

Asia Bio-Chem’s products include corn starch, corn germ, gluten and fibre.  

Corn Starch

Corn starch represented 75% of the sales volume of products and 78% of revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.  
Corn starch is derived from the energy storage part of the corn kernel called the endosperm. The endosperm is made up of starch and protein, with the remainder consisting of small amounts of oil, minerals and trace constituents. Starch exists as a major carbohydrate storage product in all plants containing chlorophyll including corn, wheat, potatoes and rice. Starch produced from corn represents over 80% of all starch produced globally.

In the process of photosynthesis, green plants extract energy from sunlight to form glucose from carbon dioxide and water. Glucose fuels plant growth processes and is the primary building material for plant support structures such as cellulose and hemicellulose. When the plant reaches maturity, the reproduction cycle begins, culminating in pollination and formation of the starch- and oil-rich seed embryo. Starch and oil exist in the corn kernel to supply energy to the germinating seed. The highly structured nature of the starch granule is demonstrated by its great strength. After all the pulverizing, pumping, centrifugal circulation and physical attrition in the wet phases of the corn wet milling operation, followed by drying, grinding and mechanical or air transportation of the dry starch, practically all of the granules remain intact. Granule integrity also persists in both modified and derivatized starches. Isolated starch is typically a dry, soft, white powder. It is insoluble in cold water, alcohol, ether and most organic solvents. Starch, if kept dry, is stable in storage for indefinite periods. Though starch granules are physically durable, they can be disrupted quite easily. 

Starches have four major properties that make them useful in food and industrial applications. The first property, thickening, gives many food products such as puddings, gravies, sauces and pie fillings their desired physical characteristics. This property is also useful in many industrial starch applications. The second property is the ability of the starch paste to disperse and suspend other ingredients or particulate matter. In many foods, fats and proteins are suspended and/or emulsified in starch pastes. In the manufacturing of paper and adhesives, clay particles are suspended in thick starch pastes.  The third useful property, gel formation, provides the body typical of starch-based puddings, salad dressings and some types of adhesives. The fourth property of starch paste is its ability to produce strong adhesive films when spread on smooth surfaces and dried. The major industrial uses of starch, such as paper coating and sizing, textile sizing, corrugated board manufacture and all adhesive applications utilize this property.

Germ 

Corn germ represented 7% of the sales volume of products and 9% of revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.  

Corn germ is the embryo of the kernel found in its centre. The germ can be processed into corn oil, which can then be further processed into cooking oil, margarine, mayonnaise, salad dressing, soaps and a variety of other products. Corn oil contains a high level of polyunsaturated fats, which is effective in lowering cholesterol levels as compared to animal fats. After the extraction of the corn oil from the germ, the residue is used in corn germ meal as animal feed primarily for pigs and poultry.

Gluten 

Corn gluten represented 5% of the sales volume of products and 8% of revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.  
Corn gluten is the yellow portion of the corn kernel. Corn gluten is a high source of protein for use in animal feed. The level of protein degradability is an important factor when considering protein levels in the diet of livestock.  

Fibre

Corn fibre represented 13% of the volume of products and 5% of revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. Fibre produced from the wet milling process is somewhat more digestible than in the dry form, permitting greater intakes of wet versus dry corn gluten feed.
Corn fibre is a mixture of the seed coat and remaining endosperm of the kernel after the extraction of the starch, gluten and germ. Fibre is used as an ingredient for animal feed. 

Industry Overview

The corn processing industry in China, including all corn-based products represented 43 million tonnes in 2011 (Market year ending October) representing a 4% increase over the previous year (SUDA GRAIN Report CH11014, 3/8/11).  

During 2009, 76% of all corn starch production capacity in China was from Shandong, Jilin, Henan and Hebai provinces. The largest producer of cornstarch in the PRC is Shandong Province which represents 55% of the national total (Source: China Corn Market Review and Outlook 2009/10).

Demand for cornstarch in the PRC is driven by the wide variety of uses for this product including the manufacturing of sweeteners, MSG, and amino acids. Starch is also disnatured and used in the paper, textile, pharmaceutical, food, feed, chemical and petroleum industries.  

Competition

Over the period between 1996 and 2006 the number of corn processors in the PRC with production capacity of over 50,000 tonnes per year of corn has grown from 12 in 1996, to 108 in 2006.  In addition, the size of the average corn starch operation has grown significantly over this period. While, in 1996, there were no manufacturers over 200,000 tonnes per year, in 2009, there were 5 that had combined capacity of over 1 million tonnes per year (Source: China Corn & Corn Processing Products Market Review and Outlook 2007/2008 and China Corn Market Review and Outlook 2009/10)

The following table shows the largest corn starch producers in China: 

	Global Bio-Chem Technology Group

	Zhucheng Xingmao Corn Developing Co., Ltd. 

	China Agri-industries Holdings Ltd.

	Luzhou Bio-Chem Technology Ltd. 

	Xiwang Sugar Holdings Company Ltd.

	China Starch Holdings Ltd.

	China Sun Bio-Chem Technology Group Co. Ltd.

	ShanDong RunSheng Incorporation

	Maihua Group

	Shandong Fufeng Fermentation Co., Ltd.


(Source: Corn Market Review and Outlook 2009/10 and Company Information)

Asia Bio-Chem has corn processing capacity of 1,500,000 tonnes per year and, as such, the Company ranks among the largest in China.

While the table above shows the largest companies in terms of corn processing capacity, these companies are primarily focused on downstream products such as sweeteners, lysine, MSG, ethanol/alcohol and various forms of modified cornstarch (referred to herein as “Integrated Processors”).  Therefore, in terms of starch production capacity for third party sales, the Company estimates that Asia Bio-Chem ranks within the top five in China.

Manufacturing Process 

The Company uses the corn wet milling process to manufacture its products. The corn wet milling process involves the separation of corn into its component parts, and such parts are then further subdivided and refined.

Incoming corn is cleaned to remove extraneous material such as pieces of cob, foreign seeds, stray metal, and fine grit. Cleaned corn is transported to large tanks called steeps. Warm water containing small quantities of dissolved sulphur dioxide is circulated through the steeps for approximately 24 to 48 hours to soften the kernel. Sulphur dioxide and water react during steeping to form sulphurous acid, which controls fermentation and assists in separation of starch and protein. During steeping, the soluble components are extracted from the intact kernel. 

At the conclusion of steeping, water is drained from the kernels and concentrated in multiple effect evaporators to yield concentrated steep water. This protein-rich extract is combined with fibre and gluten in the production of animal feed ingredients. 

Softened corn kernels next pass through mild attrition mills to loosen the hull and free the germ from the starch-rich endosperm. Water is added to the attrition mills creating thick slurry of macerated kernels and whole germ. Because the germ at this stage contains 40-50% oil, it is lighter than the endosperm and hull. Centrifugal force is used to isolate the germ through the use of a hydrocyclone. Clean, separated germ is dried and used in manufacturing corn oil.

The remaining mixture of hull and endosperm then passes through a series of milling operations. Large hull particles are retained on screens and removed, while finer protein and starch particles pass through. The hull is washed and milled in the production of refined fibre. The water slurry of starch and gluten protein is next separated by centrifuge machines. Because starch and gluten differ widely in buoyant density, nearly complete separation is obtained. Typical operations yield a gluten stream containing over 60% protein, while the starch stream is between 96-98% starch. The gluten is dried and sold as gluten meal used as animal feed.

The white, nearly-pure starch slurry is further washed to remove small quantities of solubles. At this stage the starch slurry is dried into a powder for packaging and storage or shipment. 

The following table outlines manufacturing yields by weight and approximate product prices experienced by the Company during fiscal 2013:  
	Product
	Yield(1)
	Price / Ton(2)(3)

	Starch
	62 %
	2,487 RMB ($417)

	Germ
	6 %
	2,949 RMB ($494)

	Gluten
	4 %
	3,777 RMB ($633)

	Fibre
	11 %
	984 RMB ($165)


(1) 
Yield is the tonnage achieved in production during 2013 as a percentage from the tonnage of corn processed.

(2) 
Average price for 2013 excluding value added tax.

(3)
Canadian dollar price/ton based on Bank of Canada Exchange Rate for the year ended December 31, 2013

While the characteristics of each product will vary based on the quality of corn inputs, the above yields are common in the corn starch industry. 

Downstream Production

Downstream products are produced from corn starch by one of a number of processes. The most common of these processes is hydrolysis where a molecule is split into two parts by the addition of a molecule of water. Starch is hydrolized to produce starch sugars such as glucose or maltose. These starch sugars are either sold or further, fermented or isomerized (rearranged) to create products such as fructose, mannose, sorbitol or mannitol. While alcohol or ethanol can also be produced in this way, it is more efficient to use a dry milling process which does not involve the separation of the kernel and therefore does not involve the production of starch.  Other methods of downstream processing of starch include various forms of fermentation to create products such as amino acids such as lysine, organic acids such as citric acid, maltic acid and lactic acid as well as a variety of antibiotics. 

There are also many processes available to modify starch through physical and chemical methods to create modified starch products such as dextrin and starch ester. The industry for modified starch is relatively new and involves a high degree technology which is specific to the end application for the product. For example, the modification process of starch for the pulp and paper industry will be different from that used in textile applications.

Pollution Control

The Company uses an anaerobic wastewater treatment system for cleaning its industrial wastewater. This system uses a stirred tank reactor to convert organic compounds in the wastewater into a biogas (methane). This biogas is then used to supplement the coal used in the steam boiler.

The Company also has a boiler pollution control system installed on its coal-fired boilers.

Customer Base

The Company has over 30 customers for its products and these customers are primarily in the sweetener, oil and feed industries.  For the year ended December 31, 2013, two of the Company’s customers accounted for approximately 55% of the Company’s total sales. 
The Company sells its products to customers primarily in the south eastern regions of the PRC. The Company’s customers are primarily involved in the manufacturing of downstream food products, pharmaceutical products and animal feed. 

The Company does not have significant seasonal changes in demand for its products. See “Risk Factors – Seasonality”. 

All customer orders are documented in a standard form agreement, which stipulates the product amount, price, delivery and payment terms. Pricing and other terms are set through negotiations between the Company and its customers, however, prices are adjusted monthly.  The Company does not have any long-term customer contracts. 

Raw Material Supply

China is the second largest producer of corn in the world, after the United States.  The Company obtains its supply of corn from farmers, granaries and government-owned distributors located in the region around its manufacturing facilities. During 2013, the Company had no major supplier and purchased mainly from individual farmers. See “Risk Factors – Key Relationships – Dependence on Key Suppliers”. 

During the harvest season in September and October, the Company purchases corn directly from local farmers. In aggregate, purchases directly from farmers represent approximately 96% of annual purchasing.  Corn supply from the local granaries is reliable through the year and, as such, the supply of corn is not affected by the seasonal nature of the growing season. See “Risk Factors – Seasonality”. 

The terms under which the Company purchases corn are dependent on the supplier. In the case of purchases from granaries and distributors, the Company has ongoing relationships with its major suppliers and is advised of the availability of corn throughout the year. Purchase contracts are entered into for each delivery of corn, which stipulate the quantity to be delivered, price, delivery instructions and payment terms. Payment terms for all suppliers are 30 days after delivery.

Other major suppliers of the Company are a local coal company, electricity provider and a supplier of packaging.  During the 2013 fiscal year, coal purchases represented 6% of total cost of purchases, while electricity represented 2% and packaging represented 2%, respectively.  
Corn Pricing

In China, the price of corn is established based on regional supply and demand factors.

In Liaoning and Heilongjiang provinces, where the Company’s plants are located, the total production of corn in 2009 was approximately 30 million tonnes; however, the amount of corn processed in these provinces is less than 7 million tonnes. As a result of this lack of processing capacity, these provinces have historically enjoy a lower cost of corn compared with the more central regions of China where the amount of processing is greater (Source: www.ex-starch.com).  During 2012 and 2013 this pricing paradigm was interrupted due to higher government stockpiling in central China and additional capacity coming on stream in the north-eastern regions.

Competitive Advantages

Asia Bio-Chem’s competitive advantage lies in its size and management experience. 

Size

With the addition of Tieling, the Company’s corn processing capacity is approximately 1,500,000 tonnes which makes it among the largest processors of corn in China. As the corn processing and downstream product markets grow, the importance of size becomes more critical. 
The major corn processors in China are Integrated Processors, in that they are focused on production of downstream products and, as such, most of the starch they produce is consumed internally in the production of these downstream products. Therefore, these Integrated Processors are unable to supply the large downstream processors with the capacity they require. Further, in many cases these Integrated Processors compete in the same markets with the downstream processors.  The Company differs in that it does not compete with its customers and is able to supply the major downstream processors.

In addition, larger processors of corn will generally have larger, more modern plants.  Modern corn processing equipment is important, particularly for larger customers, because the quality of the starch is consistent, thereby providing a more stable and efficient manufacturing environment to the downstream processing customers.  The Company has one of the most modern plants in China, and, as such, it has a competitive advantage in terms of product consistency. 

Management Experience

The CEO of the Company, Mr. Zhiping Wang, has 20 years of experience in the starch industry in China, both within the Chinese central government and in private industry. Mr. Wang previously worked for a number of major international manufacturers of equipment used by most corn starch companies in the PRC.  In this role, Mr. Wang was involved in the design of many of the corn starch plants in the PRC and, as such, he has an in-depth knowledge of the industry and the competitive environment. 
Growth Strategy

The Company’s strategy for growth is, to increase its capacity of starch manufacturing and to enter selected downstream product markets. The Company has undertaken an expansion into downstream product markets as described above (See “Three Year History”).

The Company expects to execute its growth strategy through a combination of adding a new plant and through acquisitions. 

Sales and Marketing 

The Company’s sales department is primarily responsible for maintaining existing customer relationships and soliciting new customers.

According to the official website of Trademark Office of State Administration of Industry and Commerce (http://sbcx.saic.gov.cn/trade/index.jsp), as of March 14, 2014, in the PRC, Changtu Bio has registered 13 trademarks and Daqing has registered one trademark. Tieling has no registered trademarks in the PRC. These trademarks will be used for branding the Company’s products in the PRC.  See “Risk Factors – Protection of Intellectual Property Rights”.  
Employees

As of February 28, 2014, the Company had approximately 868 employees, all but two of which are located in the PRC. The breakdown of these employees is as follows: 26 in management, 23 in sales, and the remainder in manufacturing. 

On October 15, 2007, the Tieling Federation of Trade Unions issued a Certificate for a Labour Union to the labour union committee of Changtu Bio.  On May 27, 2008, an approval was issued by General Labour Union of Yinzhou District of Tieling City for the establishment of labour union committee of Tieling. 

Daqing has not yet established a labour union in accordance with the Labour Union Law of the PRC and the implementing rules thereof, and thereby Daqing could be required to establish a labour union and carry out relevant approval and registration procedures. 
Under existing PRC labour laws, employees are permitted to enter into collective bargaining agreements with employers in respect of compensation, hours of work, vacation time, work safety, insurance, benefits, disciplinary actions and other matters concerning employees. The collective bargaining agreement must be approved at a meeting of employees delegated by all employees or approved by all employees and filed with the labour bureau. The collective bargaining agreement becomes effective 15 days after it is filed with the labour bureau, provided that the labour bureau does not raise any objections within that time period. 

As of January 1, 2008, the New Labour Contract Law of China came into force, which provides that employers are required to consult with union or employee representatives regarding the rules and regulations adopted by employers in respect of compensation, hours of work, leave time, work safety, insurance, benefits, disciplinary actions and other material matters concerning employees. Further, if an employer intends to lay off more than 20 employees or 10% or more of its total workforce, the employer is required to consult with the union or all its employees and seek their opinion 30 days in advance and to file a report with the labour bureau before the lay-off can proceed. Further, employers must notify the union before unilaterally terminating any employment contracts, and if such termination contravenes applicable laws or regulations or is in breach of the employment contract or collective bargaining agreement, the union is entitled to require employers to not terminate such contracts or work with all parties to agree on a suitable solution, and employers shall study the opinion of the union and notify the union in writing of the outcome. Changes in these labour laws or regulations, or their interpretations may adversely affect the Company’s profitability and prospects. See “Risk Factors – Risk of Doing Business in China – Developing Legal System”.  
Facilities

Manufacturing

Changtu Bio

The Company’s original Changtu plant is located in Changtu County in the Province of Liaoning, on a 122,000 m2 portion of land owned by the government. Pursuant to the land use rights certificates issued to Changtu Bio, it has the right to use the land until November 2053. Changtu Bio’s capital records indicate that it acquired the land use rights from a previous shareholder by way of the transfer of such land use rights by the shareholder as a capital contribution to Changtu Bio valued at RMB21.7 million. During the term of the land use rights certificate, no fees are payable.

The Company’s new Changtu facility is located in Changtu County in the Province of Liaoning, on a 96,324 m2 portion of land owned by the government. Preparation of the facility commenced in 2009 and the Company moved its operations into the new facility in late 2010.  This new Changtu facility includes a 16,938m2 plant, a 725m2 office space and a 61.56m2 laboratory (“Changtu Phase 1”). The Company also maintains a storage facility at this location.  The capacity of the new Changtu Phase 1 will be the same as the original facility: 300,000 tonnes of corn processing per year.  Additional capacity will be added with the Changtu Phase 2 of this project (“Changtu Phase 2”).
Pursuant to the land use rights certificates issued to Changtu Bio, it has the right to use the land associated with Changtu Phase 1 and Changtu Phase 2 until October 2060. The Company has paid the land price of RMB 9,247,104 and RMB 8,885,000 has been refunded by Changtu County Government to Changtu Bio.  During the term of the land use rights certificates, no additional fees are payable. 
Daqing

The Company’s Daqing plant is located in Zhaoyuan County in the Province of Heilongjiang, on a 480,000 m2 portion of land owned by the government.  In December 2007, Daqing obtained a land use rights certificate for consideration of RMB 46,080,000 and RMB 46,000,000 has been refunded by Zhaoyuan County Government to Daqing.  Pursuant to the land use rights certificate dated December 26, 2007, Daqing has the right to use the land until December 1, 2056. During the term of the land use rights certificate, no additional fees are payable. 
The construction of Daqing facilities has been divided into two phases; Daqing Phase 1 and Daqing Phase 2.  Construction of Daqing Phase 1 facilities was completed in October 2009. This facility includes a 50,981.70 m2 plant, a 4,187.20 m2 dormitory and a 4,266.10 m2 office building. Daqing also maintains a 2,686.00 m2 boiler house, a 959.00 m2 storage facility and a 614.25 m2 water supply station at this location.  In June 2009, Daqing pledged its land to China Construction Bank in connection with certain loans to Daqing.  The pledge will expire in June 2015, upon the full repayment of the relevant loans.

Tieling

The Company’s Tieling plant is located on a 98,881 m2 portion of land in Tieling City in the Province of Liaoning. In September 2009, Tieling purchased the land use right from a third party and obtained a land use right certificate. Pursuant to the land use right certificate dated September 23, 2009, Tieling has the right to use the land until September 22, 2059.  
The Tieling plant was constructed in the early 1990s and upgraded in 2007 and includes up to date and fully functional equipment which employs the same process and technology as employed at our updated Changtu facility. This facility includes a 65,200 m2 plant, manufacturing and office buildings, a power facility and modern equipment relating to a complete corn starch processing plant.   The plant has an estimated capacity of 600,000 tonnes of corn per annum. 
The Company leases 290 m2 of office space in the city of Shenyang, in Liaoning Province. The lease commenced on September 1, 2007 and expired on November 30, 2014. The yearly rental fee under current lease contract is RMB 232,000. In order to renew this lease, the Company must provide the landlord with one month’s notice prior to the expiration of the lease. 
Equipment

The Company owns all of the equipment utilized in its facilities and required to manufacture its products. 

Industry Regulation

Corn Processing

China National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) issued three regulatory documents entitled “Urgent Notification of National Development and Reform Commission on Enhanced Administration of Corn Processing Project”, dated December 8, 2006, “Circular of National Development and Reform Commission to Verify and Check the Corn Deep Processing Project under construction or Contemplated to be Constructed”, dated June 13, 2007 and “Guidance on Improving Healthy Development of Corn Deep Processing Industry”, dated September 2007 (collectively, the “Corn Processing Regulations”). These Corn Processing Regulations define a portion of the corn processing industry in the PRC which is regulated as “Corn Deep Processing”, defined as the conversion of preliminary process products or corn directly into further derivative products by means of bioenzyme modification conversion technology, micro bio fermentation technology and modern bio engineering technology with physical or chemical methods. The establishment of new projects or the expansion or change of existing projects that involve Corn Deep Processing will require prior approval from the NDRC.

As the Company’s first corn processing project, Changtu Bio, was fully constructed in 2004, and was in production and approved for processing 300,000 tonnes corn per year shortly thereafter, its operations are not within the scope of projects that will be subject to review under the Corn Processing Regulations.
According to the Circular on Approving the Initial Tasks of Chang Tu Bio-Chem Technology Co., Ltd., a document issued by Changtu County Development and Reform Commission with the code of Chang Fa Gai Fa [2008] No. 60 on June 2, 2008, regarding the relocation of the Project of Processing 600,000 tonnes Corn per year at another Location by Provincial Development and Reform Commission Forwarded by Tieling Municipal Reform and Development Commission with the code of Tie Fa Gai Gong Ye [2008] No. 156, Changtu Bio was approved by Liaoning Provincial Reform and Development Commission to carry out preliminary work for building another plant for processing 600,000 tonnes corn each year at a different location and moving the original plant to such location while Changtu Bio shall seek to obtain the further approval from Liaoning Provincial Reform and Development Commission.   Rules issued by the NDRC and other relevant governmental authorities in 2011 expressly include processing starch within the definition of “Corn Deep Processing” even though such rules do not specifically require prior approval of the NDRC for corn starch projects. Considering that Changtu Bio’s present project is a relocated corn primary processing project mainly producing corn starch, there can be no assurance that the NDRC will not change its interpretation of Corn Deep Processing Regulation and require that Changtu Bio should obtain approval from the NDRC in the future. 

In September 2006, approval for the Company’s Daqing corn processing facility was granted by Zhaoyuan County Economic Planning Bureau for processing 600,000 tonnes corn per year.  Subsequently, as confirmed in the notice issued by Heilongjiang Provincial Development and Reform Commission on February 14, 2008, the Daqing facility was in conformity with the Corn Processing Regulations and was approved, upon the completion of project review by the NDRC. Moreover, in May 2009, Heilongjiang Provincial Development and Reform Commission issued a letter which reconfirmed Daqing’s compliance with the Corn Processing Regulations.  This approval relates to the production of corn starch, germ, fibre and albumen powder. Daqing plans to produce Downstream Products (as defined below) and such change has been filed with the Economic Planning Bureau of Zhaoyuan County. In late 2010, Heilongjiang Provincial Development and Reform Commission carried out a second round of clearing and inspection of corn deep processing projects. Although the change to production of Downstream Products does not change the aggregate corn quantity production of Daqing, Daqing may need to apply to the NDRC to confirm if the relevant approval for the production of Downstream Products should be obtained from Heilongjiang Provincial Development and Reform Commission or the NDRC, and there is no guarantee that such approval will be granted. 

Pursuant to an approval dated June 22, 2007 issued by Tieling Municipal Development and Reform Commission, Tieling was approved to build a sweetener plant for manufacturing 350,000 tonnes of corn sweeteners per year by processing 420,000 tonnes of starch through leasing corn processing facility (including factories, corn producing line and other ancillary facilities) from a company. The lessor completed construction of the corn processing facility in around 1990. According to the Emergent Notice on Strengthening Construction Regulation of the Corn Processing Projects regulation issued by the NDRC dated December 8, 2006, the NDRC requires that approval and filing for record of the corn processing projects shall be suspended immediately before it declared that the approval of the corn deep processing projects shall be subject to the approval by the NDRC in September 2007.  Therefore, the approval of Tieling Municipal Development and Revolution Commission on corn sweeteners is questionable, though Tieling purchased the corn starch processing facility and has neither made substantial change thereto nor built the sweetener plant.  In September 2009, Tieling purchased all the aforesaid corn processing facility from the said company and obtained relevant land use rights and certain building ownership certificates. As a result, the plant had been producing only corn starch, germ, gluten and fiber. Pursuant to the Corn Processing Regulations, since September 2007, the manufacturing of corn sweeteners falls into Corn Deep Processing and the substantial change of projects in relation to the manufacturing of corn sweeteners may be subject to an approval from the NDRC.  Therefore, if Tieling intends to manufacture corn sweeteners in the future, there is a possibility that Tieling may be required to apply to the NDRC for obtaining a project approval for its full compliance with the PRC law. 
Permits, Licenses and Approvals

Changtu Bio

As indicated above, the Company has recently relocated its Changtu facility to the new Changtu facility and, as such, was required to secure transfers or reissuance of its licences and permits a summary of which is as follows:

The Company has obtained a land use rights certificate for the new Changtu facility and has paid certain required granting fees to the Changtu Non-tax Collection Bureau.  

The construction of the new Changtu facilities has been divided into two phases, i.e., the Changtu Phase 1 and Changtu Phase 2.  With respect to the permits for the two phases construction, in addition to the previous projects approval from local development and reform commission, Changtu Bio has received two Planning Permits on Land for Construction, the approval on environmental impact appraisal for the relocation project of annual processing  600,000 tons corn issued by the Liaoning Environment Protection Bureau on June 11, 2010, under which Changtu Bio should obtain from the same bureau further environment impact approval on the heating source and the approval on the check and acceptance of the environment protection facilities upon completion.  According to a regulation issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection in February 2009, environmental impact appraisal on construction of new facilities or expansion of the same in connection with corn deep processing projects shall be subject to the approval by the Ministry of Environment Protection, though no interpretation of the “corn deep processing” has been given thereunder.  In the event Changtu Bio resumes the construction of Changtu Phase 2 facilities in the future, it may be deemed to be the expansion of the existing and relocated facilities.  Therefore, there is a possibility that Changtu Bio may be required to obtain further approvals from the Ministry of Environment Protection in connection with the environmental impact appraisal as well as check and acceptance upon completion.  Regarding the heating source for the new facilities, Changtu Bio has established a temporary boiler for alternative heating source as the anticipated public heating source has neither been built nor is available to Changtu Bio.  Once the public heating source is available for use, it is possible that Changtu Bio may be required to stop utilizing the temporary boiler and complete relevant environmental approval procedures as required by an approval dated June 11, 2010 issued by Liaoning Environment Protection Bureau.  In addition, formal project approvals issued by Liaoning Reform and Development Commission and the NDRC may be required to obtain in connection with the project for the full compliance with relevant laws of the PRC.

With respect to the Changtu Phase 1 facilities, Changtu Bio has completed construction on May 17, 2013, and has obtained 12 building ownership certificates for workshops and other buildings constructed under Changtu Phase 1 for the purpose of industrial use.  However, due to economic and industrial conditions, later in 2013, Changtu Bio decided to defer the construction of Changtu Phase 2 facilities. 
See “Risk Factors – Land Use Rights”, “Risk Factors – Permits and Business Licenses” and “Risk Factors – Foreign Investment”.  
The Company has been issued a land use rights certificate for the new Changtu facility. In addition, the material licences, permits and approvals which are currently held for the Changtu facility and some of which have been transferred to the new Changtu facility are as follows: 
1. Business License, issued by Tieling Administration for Industry and Commerce on January 7, 2014.
2. Certificate of Approval for Establishment of Enterprises with Foreign Investment in the PRC, issued by Liaoning Provincial People’s Government on December 6, 2013.
3. China Industry Products Production License, issued by Liaoning Bureau of Quality and Technical Supervision on June 22, 2011, which expires on May 11, 2015.
4. Filing Registration Certificate for Self-declaration Enterprises, issued by the Tieling Entry Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau on December 24, 2007. 
5. Foreign Exchange Registration Certificate, issued by Tieling Central Sub-bureau of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on July 5, 2006.
6. Finance Registration Certificate for Enterprises with Foreign Investment, issued by the Finance Bureau of Tieling City on March 24, 2011, which is valid until June 10, 2024. 
7. Opinion on Approval of the Environmental Protection Check and Acceptance for the Corn Advanced Processing Project, issued by the Environmental Protection Bureau of Tieling City on December 11, 2007.
8. Approval of Environment Impact Report on the Relocated Annual 600,000 tonnes corn deep processing project of Changtu Bio, issued by Liaoning Environment Protection Bureau on June 11, 2010.    
9. Grain Collection Permit issued by Grain Bureau of Changtu County on August 22, 2012, which shall expire on August 22, 2015. 
As the public heating source is unavailable, Changtu Bio built and alternatively uses a temporary boiler. Relevant check and acceptance for the environmental protection facility (including heating source) must be completed before Changtu Bio is qualified to apply for the Pollutant Discharge Permit for the new Changtu facility.
Daqing

The Company has been issued land use rights certificates, building ownership certificates, an environmental impact appraisal permit issued in June 2007 as well as other approvals and permits required for operation of the facility including the following:  

1. Business License, issued by Daqing Administration for Industry and Commerce on August 11, 2013.
2. Certificate of Approval for Establishment of Enterprises with Foreign Investment in the PRC, issued by Heilongjiang Provincial People’s Government on July 16, 2013.
3. Filing Registration Certificate for Self-declaration Enterprises, issued by the Daqing Entry Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau on October 21, 2008.

4. Foreign Exchange Registration Certificate, issued by Daqing Sub-bureau of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on July 5, 2006.

5. Opinion on Approval of the Environmental Impact for the Corn Advanced Processing Project, issued by the Environmental Protection Bureau of Heilongjiang Province on June 10, 2007.

6. Finance Registration Certificate for Enterprises with Foreign Investment, issued by Zhaoyuan Finance Bureau on April 6, 2010, the effective term of which is commencing on August 3, 2007 until August 2, 2037.
7. China Industry Products Production License, issued by Heilongjiang Provincial Bureau of Quality and Technical Supervision on May 24, 2013. This license expires on June 16, 2016.
8. Filing Certificate on Check and Acceptance of Completing Construction, issued by Zhaoyuan Construction Bureau on July 13, 2010.  Approval on Check and Acceptance in respect of Environmental Protection for the Project for Annual Processing Capacity of 600,000 tonnes corn dated October 31, 2011 issued by Heilongjiang Provincial Environment Protection Bureau. 
9. Grain Collection Permit issued by Zhaoyuan County Grain Bureau on March 25, 2012. 

Daqing’s Water Drawing Permit and Pollutant Discharge Permit expired on September 5, 2013 and December 31, 2013, respectively, and Daqing is in the progress of renewing such permits. It is expected that such new permits may be issued in May 2014. 

In relation to the construction of the Daqing Phase 1 facility, the Zhaoyuan Economic Planning Bureau issued a project approval, which permitted Daqing to proceed with the filed feasibility report in September 2006 and to construct the facility with annual processing capacity of 600,000 tonnes corn.  Subsequently, in February 2008, the Heilongjiang Provincial Development and Reform Commission issued a notice which confirmed the project’s full compliance with relevant construction formalities of Daqing. In May 2009, Heilongjiang Provincial Development and Reform Commission issued a letter which reconfirmed the foregoing and approved the continuance of the facility construction.  In addition, Daqing has procured the necessary approvals and permits required to commence the construction of the Daqing facilities, including the Planning Permit for Construction on Land, the Construction Project Planning Permit, Construction Permit and Environment Impact Approval.  The Daqing plant was completed in October 2009 and started production thereafter, however, the review process to obtain acceptance permits for such plant is ongoing. On March 9, 2010, Daqing was issued an approval on the Supplementary Analysis Report of Environment Impact due to Adjusting Heating Source in connection with the Deep Processing Project of 600,000 tonnes Corn Per Year by Daqing Zhanhua Bio-Chem Technology Co., Ltd. with the code of Hei Huan Han [2010] No. 72, was issued by Heilongjiang Environment Protection Bureau on March 9, 2010, pursuant to which Daqing received approval to replace natural gas with coal as the heating source and to discharge certain amounts of dusts and SO2.

In addition, according to the agreement on the Bio-Chem Industry Park Project regarding Processing Corn of 2,000,000 Tonnes per year, entered into by Daqing and Zhaoyuan County People’s Government, dated November 7, 2008, Daqing is supported by Zhaoyuan County People’s Government to build an industry park in order to process 2,000,000 tonnes corn per year.  Nonetheless, except for the 600,000 tonne corn processing project of Daqing approved and mentioned above, Daqing must obtain approvals from competent authorities for the expansion and relevant construction of plants and facilities for the purpose of processing the additional 1,400,000 tonnes corn per year.
At the end of 2012, Daqing Phase 2 facilities (including certain workshops) were under construction and the Company did not apply for preliminary approvals for such constructions which include renewed project approval to be issued by Zhaoyuan County Economy and Planning Bureau (the previous approval expired in 2012), environment impact appraisal approval issued by competent environment protection bureau and construction permits.  On April 24, 2013, Daqing obtained an approval on environmental impact appraisal for the construction of crystalline dextrose and maltodextrin project (i.e., Daqing Phase 2 project) issued by the Environmental Protection Bureau of Heilongjiang Province. However, later in 2013, Daqing decided to defer such construction due to relevant economic and industrial conditions. Daqing may be required to obtain the other construction permits before it continues the Daqing Phase 2 construction.
Tieling

The Company has been issued a land use right certificate, certain building ownership certificates as well as other approvals and permits required for intended operation of the facility including the following: 
1. Business License, issued by Tieling Administration for Industry and Commerce on November 19, 2012. 

2. Certificate of Approval for Establishment of Enterprises with Foreign Investment in the PRC, issued by Liaoning Provincial People’s Government on October 16, 2012. 

3. Foreign Exchange Registration Certificate issued by Tieling Central Sub-bureau of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange. 

4. Finance Registration Certificate for Enterprises with Foreign Investment issued by Tieling Municipal Finance Bureau on December 6, 2012, which shall expire on May 23, 2027. 

5. Pursuant to a Decision Letter for the Approval of Foreign Invested Project dated June 22, 2007 issued by Development and Revolution Commission of Tieling, Tieling owns a license, to construct and operate a plant to process 420,000 tons corn starch and produce 350,000 tons of corn sweeteners per year. The sweetener plant was never built and the plant had been producing only corn starch, germ, gluten and fiber. 
As Tieling has not been in production for almost 2 years, its relevant permits and licenses, including China Industry Products Production License, Grain Collection Permit, Water Drawing Permit and Customs Registration Certificate for Consignees and Consignors of Imported and Exported Goods have either expired or been revoked by relevant governmental authorities. Tieling may be required to renew its licenses and permits before Tieling begins the manufacturing in the future. 

The foregoing various approvals, licenses and permits required in relation to the construction of the Company’s facilities are all the approvals, licenses and permits required by Changtu Bio, Daqing and Tieling to operate their current business. However, there is a risk that additional approvals, licenses and permits may be required or that these approvals, license and permits may be revoked or not renewed. See “Risk Factors – Permits and Business Licenses”.
Daqing Phase 2 (Downstream) 

The current Daqing facility was reviewed by the Heilongjiang Development and Reform Commission for compliance under certain regulations governing advanced corn processing in December 2010.  While the Company believes its regulatory approval covers the production of the proposed Downstream Products (as defined above), the Company may be required to re-apply for the NDRC approval in connection with the expansion to produce the proposed Downstream Products (as defined above). See “Risk Factors – Permits and Business Licenses” and “Risk Factors – Foreign Investment”. 
Environmental Matters and Safety Policy
Effective from October 1, 2007, Changtu Bio implemented production and labour safety policies. Pursuant to these policies, management is required to provide training to employees in respect of the prevention of accidents; to provide appropriate safety clothing and equipment; to inspect safety clothing and equipment; to limit access in specified areas of the facility to authorized personnel only and to organize safety teams with designated safety inspectors for each department and each shift. Further, management has established an accident reporting system, which requires management and employees to hold accident analysis meetings, to complete accident reports and to report accidents to designated safety inspectors. Upon report of an accident, the safety inspector is required to conduct an investigation and provide a report and recommendations in respect of the same. Changtu Bio also has a fire prevention system, with key watch areas and key personnel in charge of inspection and supervision. These policies contain a variety of penalties to be imposed in respect of safety violations, including, the imposition of fines, the transfer of employees and the possibility of termination of employment. 

In late 2010 Changtu Bio was relocated to a new facility (Changtu Phase 1). The approval on environmental impact appraisal for the relocation project of annual processing 600,000 tons corn was issued by Liaoning Environment Protection Bureau on June 11, 2010, under which Changtu Bio may be required to obtain from the same bureau further environment impact approval on the heating source and the approval on the check and acceptance of the environment protection facilities upon completion. However, as the public heating source is unavailable, and Changtu Bio was permitted to build a temporary boiler pursuant to an approval on environmental impact appraisal for the construction of such temporary boiler issued by Environmental Protection Bureau of Changtu County. Nonetheless, it is possible that Changtu Bio may be required to obtain relevant approval on heating source from Liaoning Environment Protection Bureau in the future pursuant to the aforesaid approval dated June 11, 2010.  Moreover, according to a regulation issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection in February 2009, environmental impact appraisal on construction of new facilities or expansion of the same in connection with corn deep processing projects shall be subject to the approval by the Ministry of Environment Protection, though no interpretation of the “corn deep processing” has been given thereunder.  In the event Changtu Bio resumes the construction of Changtu Phase 2 facilities in future, it may be deemed to be the expansion of the existing and relocated facilities.  Therefore, it is possible that Changtu Bio may be required to obtain further approvals from the Ministry of Environment Protection in connection with the environmental impact appraisal as well as check and acceptance upon completion.  In addition, Changtu Bio will be required to obtain a Pollutant Discharge Permit upon approval by the competent environment protection authorities on the check and acceptance for the environmental protection facility. Changtu Bio may be required to make correction for its failure to obtain pollutant discharge permit. Nonetheless, Changtu Bio has regularly paid a pollutant discharge fee to the competent environmental protection authority.  See “Industry Regulation – Approvals, Licenses and Permits”.  

Daqing implemented various production and labour safety policies, such as rules and regulations of production safety, the rules of safe operation of employees on production position, and measures on the prevention of hazardous factors in production system. Pursuant to these policies, employees are required to check and ensure the safe operation, maintenance and repair of equipment and report to the production manager on site if any hidden danger of accidents or other safety risk is detected.  The policies also contain several monetary penalties to be imposed in respect of safety violations. On June 10, 2007, Daqing was issued the Approval Reply to the Environmental Impact Report of the Corn Advanced Processing Project (the “Reply”) by the Environmental Protection Bureau of Heilongjiang Province, which approved the construction of the Daqing facility, provided that construction was in conformity with the filed Environmental Impact Report and the Reply.  The Reply also required that a trial production permit should be obtained by Daqing from the Environmental Protection Bureau of Heilongjiang Province.  However, the process of obtaining such permit has been delayed due to the change in heating sources for the plant and Daqing must first submit for an approval to change the original environment impact report.  On March 9, 2010, Daqing was issued an approval on the Supplementary Analysis Report of Environment Impact due to Adjusting Heating Source in connection with the Deep Processing Project of 600,000 Tonnes Corn Per Year by Daqing Zhanhua Bio-Chem Technology Co., Ltd. with the code of Hei Huan Han [2010] No. 72, issued by Heilongjiang Environment Protection Bureau on March 9, 2010, pursuant to which Daqing received approval to replace natural gas with coal as the heating source and discharge certain amounts of dust and SO2 .   Daqing obtained the trial production permit which expired in late December 2010 and has now obtained the required permits regarding check and acceptance of construction of environmental facilities for its completed project. 
Foreign Operations

Currently, the Company’s operations are conducted solely in the PRC and it is anticipated that this will continue to be the case in the future. As such, the Company’s operations are exposed to various levels of political, economic and other risks and uncertainties. See “Risk Factors – Future Capital Requirements – Exchange Rate Fluctuations – Foreign Operations – Risks of Doing Business in China”.

Through an indirect 15% interest in the Company, Mr. Zhiping Wang, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer, a PRC citizen, holds a beneficial interest in Changtu Bio and Daqing. Pursuant to the regulations published and interpreted by SAFE, namely, SAFE Circular 75 and SAFE Circular 19 issued by SAFE on May 20, 2011 to replace application of SAFE Circular 106, this PRC citizen and Changtu Bio previously believed that the PRC citizen was required to make a foreign exchange registration with the Liaoning Provincial Branch of SAFE.  Such application was made in March 2008, but was verbally rejected by the Liaoning Provincial Branch of SAFE on the ground that the same was not required by the relevant SAFE regulations.  Further telephone inquiries were made which confirmed that the Liaoning Provincial Branch of SAFE would not accept the registration as they did not believe it was required. 

Although the Liaoning Provincial Branch of SAFE has confirmed that, in their assessment, registration is not required, because the relevant regulations are governed by the national SAFE office, there is a possibility that the national SAFE office may take a different view than the Liaoning Provincial Branch of SAFE and conclude that the registrations were in fact required and certain penalties or legal sanctions may be imposed against the PRC citizen in question and/or Changtu Bio and Daqing.  From March 2008 till the date hereof, the PRC citizen has not re-applied for such registration, nor has the national SAFE office or its Liaoning Provincial Branch demanded the PRC citizen to fulfil the registration requirements.  See “Risk Factors – Risk of Doing Business in China – Repatriation of Profit and Currency Conversion – Recent PRC Regulations Relating to the Establishment of Offshore Special Purpose Companies by PRC Residents.” 
TAXATION

Changtu Bio 

Changtu Bio pays value-added tax (“VAT”) at a rate of 17% or 13% of taxable sales, which is credited by VAT paid on materials and related expenditures.  According to the Circular on VAT Rates of Certain Corn Deep Processing Products effective from May 1, 2012 issued by Sate Taxation Bureau, the rate of 17% applies to finished products of starch, gluten and fibre, while the rate of 13% applies to sales of the finished products of germ.

With respect to corporate income tax, Changtu Bio, as a wholly foreign owned enterprise or “WFOE”, has been entitled to the benefits of China’s Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise Income Tax “Two-year Exemption and Three-year Fifty Percent Deduction” Policy (the “Policy”). Changtu Bio began to enjoy the tax exemptions set out in the Policy in 2006. Pursuant to the Policy, Changtu Bio was exempt from corporate income tax in the first two years it was profitable, being the fiscal years ending December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007. 

In March 2007, the new Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EITL”) was enacted in China. Under the EITL, which took effect in 2008, foreign and domestic companies in the PRC are now under the same tax code with most companies doing business in China having a corporate income tax rate of 25%. However, the EITL provides a “grandfather rule” for already established enterprises with respect to the Policy whereby the incentives will be allowed to continue to their conclusion.

Thus, for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2008 through December 31, 2010, that Changtu Bio’s corporate income tax rate was reduced to half of the applicable corporate income tax rate, being 12.5%. Thereafter, the tax rate increases to 25%.  
Daqing

Daqing pays VAT at a rate of 17% or 13% of taxable sales, which is credited by VAT paid on materials and related expenditures. The rate of 17% applies to sales of finished products of starch, protein and fibre, while the rate of 13% applies to the sales of finished products of germ.

The National People’s Congress of China approved legislation relating to tax reforms on March 16, 2007 and, effective January 1, 2008, China adopted a uniform tax rate of 25% for all enterprises (including foreign-invested enterprises) and cancelled several tax incentives previously enjoyed by foreign-invested enterprises. 

The Daqing tax exemption was granted by local authorities after the effective date of the tax reform changes in China.  There is a risk that the incentives that have been granted by the local government may not continue and may be retroactively revoked, in which case Daqing may become subject to the usual tax rate of 25% applicable under Chinese tax reform.  See “Risk Factors – Risks of Doing Business in China - Tax”.
Tieling

Tieling pays VAT at a rate of 17% which applies to sales of finished products of starch, protein and fibre or 13% which applies to sales of finished products of germ. Tieling also pays corporate income tax at the rate of 25%. 

Changtu Bio, Daqing and Tieling are also subject to a variety of other local taxes. As at March 14, 2014, Changtu Bio, Daqing and Tieling are current on local and state tax payment respectively. 
RISK FACTORS

The following are certain risk factors inherent in the Company’s business and an investment in shares of the Company. The following information is a summary only of certain risk factors and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction with, the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Information Form. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Company, or that the Company currently considers immaterial, may also impair the operations of the Company. If any such risks actually occur, the business, financial condition, liquidity and operating results of the Company could be materially adversely affected.

There are a number of risks associated with the Company’s business. The following risk factors are considered to be material to a prospective investor.

Company Risk Factors

Execution of the Business Plan

Although management of the Company has developed a business plan, there can be no assurance that the business plan will succeed in whole or in part. 

The Company continues to plan to undertake expansion of its business either by way of acquisitions or the construction of new production capacity. The construction of new production capacity or further processing into new products such as the Downstream Products is subject to various risks and uncertainties customary for projects of this nature which may result in the facility not being completed as scheduled or as budgeted. Such delays or cost overruns may result from increases in the cost of land use rights, equipment, materials and labour, construction delays, equipment failures or damage, weather conditions, industrial accidents, changes to governmental regulations, errors in design specifications or defective equipment, among other things. The operation or use of such facility will also be subject to the granting of licences, the completion, review and acceptance procedures of the relevant government authorities. Further, the facility could experience operating difficulties or delays during start-up. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to complete the planned expansion within the expected timeframe or for the estimated costs set out in the Feasibility Study. Further, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully construct the new production facility on terms acceptable to the Company. 

In order to implement its expansion plans, including the Daqing expansion to produce Downstream Products, the Company will likely require additional funds and, accordingly, will require additional financing. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to secure financing.  While the Company anticipates using existing credit facilities, new credit facilities and cash flows from operations, there can be no assurance that those sources of funding will be sufficient or will be obtained on terms acceptable to the Company in order to complete the construction of the new downstream production facility at the time the Company decides to advance the project.  
In addition, expansion could place a significant strain on the Company’s management, operational, financial and other resources. The Company’s ability to manage growth effectively will require improvement of operational and financial systems. Moreover, the Company will need to train, motivate and manage its employees and attract senior managers. Any failure to expand these areas and implement and improve such systems, procedures, and controls in an efficient manner at a pace consistent with the Company’s business could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, and operating results.

Further, the continued delay or any cancellation of the Company’s planned expansion may affect the Company’s ability to increase revenues and satisfy customer orders.

Future Capital Requirements 

The development and operation of the business of the Company will require substantial additional financing. The Company’s future capital requirements will depend upon many factors, including maintenance, plant and product expansion and expansion of its sales and marketing efforts. Failure to obtain sufficient financing may result in delaying, scaling back, elimination, or indefinite postponement of, future programs. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable to the Company. Lending may be obtained from Chinese banks, government organizations, major shareholders or other debt markets; however, there can be no assurance such loans will be obtained.

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had approximately $194.4 million of short-term debt secured by $32.7 million restricted cash plus $11.9 million of current portion of long-term debt all of which will mature within 2014 and accordingly, the Company will need to renew these debt facilities during 2014. While the Company will seek to renew some or all of these loans, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to renew the debt on terms suitable to the Company or at all. In addition, there can be no assurance that the Company’s business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future to service its debt and make necessary capital expenditures, in which case the Company may seek additional financing, dispose of certain assets or seek to refinance some or all of its debt.  The Company will require additional financing including loans to finance the expansion at the downstream facility.  See “Risk Factors – Execution of Business Plan”. 

Although Chinese banks are in the midst of reform, the basis on which they can lend money is not transparent and they do not often lend money to foreign invested enterprises. Obtaining financing from a Chinese bank will, to a certain extent, involve leveraging personal relationships. There is no guarantee that the Company will have the right relationships if and when it requires further financing. The Chinese government has articulated the need to try and control the rate of economic growth in China and has set out stricter lending policies, and this too could affect the Company’s ability to renew current short term credit facilities and obtain future bank financing. Dependence on Key Personnel 

The Company is highly dependent on the efforts and abilities of its executive officers. In particular, if Mr. Zhiping Wang, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, ceases to work with the Company, and the Company is not able to engage a suitable replacement on a timely and commercially viable basis, the Company’s ability to implement an expansion of its production capacity and the relationships with its customers, suppliers and government officials could be negatively affected, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and operating results. 

Key Relationships 

To date, the success of the Company has been, in part, dependent on personal and corporate relationships with suppliers, customers and certain government officials. The alteration or termination of these relationships could have a substantial impact on the future success of the Company and may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and operating results. 

Dependence on Key Customers 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 55% of the Company’s revenue was derived from the Company’s top two customers. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to retain its relationships with this or other key customers and there can be no assurance that such customers will continue to purchase products from the Company in the future. Any negative change involving any of the Company’s largest customers, including but not limited to any such customer’s financial condition or desire to continue purchasing the Company’s products, could result in a significant reduction in business that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and operating results. 

While the Company has a diversified base of customers, the loss or renegotiation of any single customer and the inability of the Company to find replacement customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and operations. 

Further, with the Company’s proposed expansion into downstream processing, it may be competing with some of its customers and thereby jeopardise these customer relationships.

Dependence on Key Suppliers 

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company’s supply of corn mainly came from farmers, and therefore there was no major supplier.  Should major suppliers or any other suppliers choose not to supply to the Company or significantly change the terms of supply, it may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company.

Competition 

The Company competes with existing cornstarch manufacturers and expects to encounter competition from new entrants to the market who will be selling to the same customer base as the Company. Many of these competitors possess greater financial, technical, personnel, and other resources than the Company and there can be no assurance that the Company will have the ability to compete successfully. 

Further, the Company’s proposed downstream expansion involves entry into markets which have established producers who will be selling to the same customer base as the Company. Many of these competitors possess greater financial, technical, personnel, and other resources than the Company and there can be no assurance that the Company will have the ability to compete successfully.

China can be a competitive market and small price or quality differentials between otherwise competitive goods and services could result in the cancellation of a specific order and/or the loss of a customer.

Market Factors and Volatility of Commodity Prices

A significant portion of the Company’s operating costs are represented by purchases of corn. Therefore, any material increase in the price which the Company pays for corn could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company. A number of factors could cause or contribute to a rise in corn prices, including increased demand from competing uses of corn and weather conditions or the occurrence of natural disasters that effect corn production or cause crop failures. See “Risk Factors - Weather Conditions and Natural Disasters”.

Further, government intervention in the corn market could cause disruption in the pricing relationship between the cost of corn and the Company’s products, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company.

Should the Company experience a significant decline in the prices of one or all of its products, this may have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company. A reduced demand for the Company’s products could reduce prices. A number of factors could cause or contribute to a decreased demand for the Company’s products, including, a change in the consumption of starch and its by-products as a result of changes in food habits in China and a reduction in cattle stocks and accordingly a decreased demand for animal feed made from starch or its by-products.  Government intervention in any of the Company’s product markets could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company. 

Environmental Risks and Hazards

The Company’s operations are subject to various environmental laws which regulate matters such as health, safety, treatment of waste and land use. There are risks that the Company might be required to suspend production before obtaining pollutant discharge permits and environment protection acceptance by competent authorities for its new Changtu facility. Before overall construction is completed, checked and accepted at Changtu Phase 1 of the Changtu plant, the Company will be required to obtain an environmental impact appraisal approval regarding heat source. Upon the check and acceptance of environment protection of the new Changtu facility, a pollutant discharge permit may be issued by a competent environmental authority.  Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and licensing requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder. Penalties could include suspension or revocation of necessary licenses or permits, civil liability or the imposition of fines. The cost of compliance, remediation or liability could materially affect future operating results. Furthermore, the operational or financial impact of new or amended laws or regulations cannot be predicted and could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and operating results. 

Operating Risks 

There is a risk that the existing facilities may continue to be unprofitable or successful. There can be no assurance that any planned additional facilities or downstream expansion will commence commercial operation on schedule or at all, or that the facilities will operate at planned production capacity. The continued delay or cancellation of any of the Company’s planned facilities expansions may affect the Company’s ability to satisfy customer orders. 

There are also many risks associated with operating facilities, including the ability to secure raw materials, electricity and coal, prices, the failure or substandard performance of equipment, the ability to ship product in a timely and cost effective manner, hiring and maintaining a productive and reliable workforce, labour disputes, natural disasters, suspension of operations and compliance with existing and new governmental statutes, regulations, and policies. The occurrence of material operational problems, including but not limited to any of the events described above, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Achieving market success will require marketing efforts and the expenditure of funds to inform potential customers, of the Company’s products. The Company’s long-term success may also depend, to a significant extent, on its ability to expand its present internal marketing organization. The Company will, among other things, have to attract and retain marketing and sales personnel. No assurance can be given that the Company will be able to attract and retain qualified or experienced marketing and sales personnel or that any efforts undertaken by such personnel will be successful.

To the extent that customers delay, reduce, or cancel orders or are unable or refuse to pay for products and services purchased in a timely fashion or at all, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

The occurrence of any of the forgoing operating risks could result in increases to the Company’s operating and production costs or decreases to the Company’s revenues, or both, each of which could result in a reduction in the Company’s profitability. 

Infrastructure 

The Company’s ability to secure material inputs and to ship its products depends on adequate infrastructure including public highways, railways, ports, shipping lines, power sources and water supply. Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, malfunction, ineffective scheduling, sabotage, government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect the Company’s business and operations, financial condition and results of operations. 

Technical Process 

The Company uses the corn wet milling process to manufacture its starch and related by-products.  The Company plans to employ specific methods of fermentation, hydrolization and saccharification in the production of its downstream products.  Production of Downstream Products contemplated by Daqing will involve standard industry manufacturing techniques.  However there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to implement these processes or techniques in a timely or cost-effective manner and new processes may be developed.  Also, new processes may be developed to produce higher quality and/or lower cost products. The development of new technologies could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and operations. 

Exchange Rate Fluctuations 

The value of the RMB fluctuates and is subject to various factors such as changes in the PRC political and economic conditions. Since 1994, the official exchange rate for the conversion of RMB to US Dollars has generally been stable. On July 21, 2005, the PRC government changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the RMB to the US dollar. Under the new policy, the RMB is permitted to fluctuate within a narrow and managed band against a basket of certain foreign currencies. This change in policy has resulted in an appreciation of the RMB against the US dollar. While the international reaction to the RMB revaluation has generally been positive, there remains significant international pressure on the PRC government to adopt an even more flexible currency policy, which could result in a further and more significant appreciation of the RMB against the US dollar.   

Exchange rate fluctuations may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and results. There is no assurance that the value of the RMB will remain at the current level against the US Dollar or against any other foreign currency. The Company does not currently have in place a policy for managing or controlling foreign currency risks since, to date, its primary activities have not resulted in material exposure to foreign currency risk. 

As the Company reports financial results in Canadian dollars but earns its revenue in RMB, an increase in the Canadian dollar relative to the RMB will adversely affect the value, translated or converted into Canadian dollars, of the Company’s revenue and net income. 

Insurance 

The Company maintains property insurance on certain of its assets other than those in Tieling.  However, not all risks are covered by insurance and no assurance can be given that insurance will be consistently available or will be consistently available on an economically feasible basis. The Company may also elect not to be insured against certain liabilities due to high premium costs or for other reasons. Furthermore, although the Company maintains insurance against such claims and in such amounts as it considers adequate, there can be no assurance that such insurance policies will be sufficient to cover each and every claim or loss involving the Company. An uninsured loss could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and operations. 
Foreign Operations 

Currently, the Company’s operations are conducted in the PRC and it is anticipated that this will continue to be the case. As such, the Company’s operations are exposed to various levels of political, economic and other risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: currency exchange rates; high rates of inflation; labour unrest; renegotiation or nullification of existing concessions, licenses, permits and contracts; changes in taxation policies; restrictions on foreign exchange; government corruption; changing political conditions; currency controls and governmental regulations that favour or require the awarding of contracts to local contractors or require foreign contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase supplies from, a particular jurisdiction. 

Changes, if any, in investment policies or shifts in political attitudes in China may adversely affect the Company’s operations or profitability. Operations may be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, foreign investment, environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people and water use. Any events resulting in an adverse impact on the Chinese economy will likely have an adverse effect on the Company’s profitability and prospects. 

The occurrence of these various factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. See “Risk Factors – Risks of Doing Business in China”. 

Weather Conditions and Natural Disasters 

Weather conditions affect the availability of raw materials used to produce the Company’s products and its ability to ship its product. For example, weather conditions such as floods, drought, or frost can cause crop failures that in turn affect the supply of corn. Unfavourable weather conditions or the occurrence of natural disasters (such as damage by fire, insect infestation and earthquakes) may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Seasonality 

The Company is exposed to some seasonality risk due to factors including, but not limited to, the concentrated growing season of the raw material, raw material inventory levels of its suppliers, weather conditions and the buying patterns of major customers.  Should the Company experience a significant change in the seasonal demand for its products or supply of material inputs, this could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company.  These potential seasonality factors should also be considered together with the growth of the business.

Seasonal weather conditions may also affect the Company’s construction schedule for adding new capacity or downstream products. 

Dividends 

The Company has no present intention of declaring or paying any dividends in the foreseeable future.  Any future dividend policy will be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company.  

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of, or have personal interests in, other companies, consequently, there exists the possibility for such directors and officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by any of such directors and officers involving the Company will be made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. 

Risks of Doing Business in China 

State Ownership

The Company carries on its business in China and derives all of its profit from activities in China. As such, the results of operations, financial position and prospects of Changtu Bio and Daqing are subject to a significant degree to economic, political, social and legal developments in China. 

The Chinese economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in a number of respects, including its structure, the level of government involvement, the level of development, the control of foreign exchange and the allocation of resources. 

Before its adoption of reform and open door policies beginning in 1978, China was primarily a planned economy. Since that time, China’s economy has been undergoing a transition from a planned economy to a more market oriented economy. Although in recent years the Chinese government has implemented economic reforms, reduced state ownership and established sound corporate governance in business enterprises, a substantial portion of productive assets in China is still owned by State owned enterprises or entities controlled by the State. In addition, the Chinese government continues to play a significant role in regulating industry by imposing industrial policies. It also exercises significant control over China’s economic growth through the allocation of resources, control for foreign currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy and providing preferential treatment to particular industries or companies. Furthermore, government policies relating to currency conversion, taxation, import restrictions and the trading of imported goods, among others, continue to have a significant impact on the overall economy. Many of the policy changes initiated since 1978 are unprecedented in China, experimental in nature, and are frequently refined and readjusted. Political and social factors may also lead to further refinements and readjustments. Any changes in Chinese political, economic, or social conditions, or to the current laws and regulations or their interpretations, may adversely affect the Company’s profitability and prospects. 

The economy of China has experienced significant growth in the past 20 years, but growth has been uneven both geographically and among various sectors of the economy. The Chinese government has implemented various macro-economic control measures from time to time in order to try and control the rate of economic growth, including certain measures which were put in place to restrict bank lending. Some of these measures may have a negative effect on the Company. For example, the Company’s operating results and financial position may be adversely affected by: changes in the rate or method of taxation; imposition of additional restrictions on currency conversion and remittances abroad; reduction in tariff or quota protection and other import restrictions; changes in the usage and costs of state-controlled transportation services; and, policies affecting the corn processing industry. In addition, such macro-economic control measures may have a general adverse impact on the Chinese economy that would, in turn likely have an adverse impact on the Company’s business and profitability. 

Government Sector Intervention

The central and local governments exercise a substantial degree of influence over the corn processing industry in China and, as a result, set standards through approval of major capital expenditure projects; setting or approving the framework for the pricing of electricity and other utilities and railway transportation; and setting tax levies and incentives, import quotas and tariffs, and safety, environmental and quality standards. 

As certain changes to the Corn Processing Regulations have only recently been adopted, there can be no assurance as to how the NDRC will apply these regulations. Accordingly, while management is of the view that approval of new projects or expansions will likely be granted, if approval from the NDRC is required, there is no assurance that the required approvals will be obtained.  See “Risk Factors – Foreign Investment”.

If the Chinese government changes its current policies, or the interpretation of those policies, the Company may face significant constraints on its flexibility and ability to expand its business operations or to maximize its profitability. 

Recent PRC Regulations Relating to Cross-Border Mergers and Acquisitions

On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory agencies, including the PRC Ministry of Commerce, the State Assets Supervision and Administration Commission, the State Administration for Taxation, the State Administration for Industry and Commerce, the China Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”) and SAFE, jointly published a regulation that became effective on September 8, 2006. This regulation, among other things, requires Special Purpose Vehicles formed for listing purposes through acquisitions of PRC domestic companies by way of share exchange and controlled by PRC residents to obtain the approval of the CSRC before publicly listing their securities on an overseas stock exchange. Management of the Company believes, based on the advice of the Company’s PRC counsel, that CSRC approval was not required because the corporate structure of the Company and its subsidiaries was established, with proper PRC government approvals and registrations, before the effective date of the regulation.

However, the Company’s PRC counsel has also advised that there is no assurance that the relevant PRC government agencies, including the CSRC, would reach the same conclusion as the Company’s PRC counsel. If the CSRC or other PRC regulatory bodies subsequently determine that the Company needed to obtain the CSRC’s approval for the reverse takeover, the Company may face sanctions by the CSRC or other PRC regulatory agencies. In such event, these regulatory agencies may impose fines and penalties on the Company’s operations in the PRC, limit its operating privileges in the PRC, delay or restrict the repatriation of the proceeds from the reverse takeover into the PRC, or take other actions that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation and prospects, as well as the trading price of the Company’s shares.

Foreign Investment 

In the PRC, separate laws have traditionally applied to companies and entities with a foreign investment component. When the Company Law of China was last revised efforts were made to integrate the laws applying to companies and entities with a foreign investment component into the general Company Law of China. However, there are still some matters to which separate laws apply, including compliance with the “Foreign Industrial Investment Catalogue” which specifies the four categories of investment, being encouraged, permitted, restricted and prohibited and the levels of foreign investment permitted in each category. The Chinese government has been opening up opportunities for foreign investment in corn processing projects and this process is expected to continue, especially with China’s entry into the World Trade Organization, provided that the foreign investment in the “corn advanced processing” has fallen into the “restricted category since September 2007. 

The NDRC issued five regulatory documentations entitled “Urgent Notification of National Development and Reform Commission on Enhanced Administration of Corn Processing Project” dated December 8, 2006, “Circular of National Development and Reform Commission to Verify and Check the Corn Deep Processing Project under construction or Contemplated to be Constructed” dated June 13, 2007, “Guidance on Improving Healthy Development of Corn Deep Processing Industry” amended on December 24, 2011, “Urgent Notice on Verification and Examination the Corn Deep Processing Project” dated November 5, 2010 and “Circular of General Office of National Development Reform Commission on Inspection of Corn Deep Processing Project Built and in Progress” (collectively, the “Corn Processing Regulations”). These Corn Processing Regulations define a portion of the corn processing industry in the PRC which will be regulated as “corn deep processing”, defined as the conversion of preliminary process products or corn directly into further derivative products by means of bioenzyme modification conversion technology, micro bio fermentation technology and modern bio engineering technology with physical or chemical methods. The construction of new manufacturing facilities or the expansion of existing manufacturing facilities that involve “corn deep processing” will require prior approval from the NDRC. The foreign investment on the corn deep processing industry falls into the “restricted category” towards the foreign investment industry in China since September 2007. As a result, obtaining of governmental approvals for a new foreign investment (including through establishment of a new foreign invested enterprise in China and acquisition of an existing Chinese enterprise by a foreign investor) on the corn advanced processing industry should be more difficult than that before September 2007. On November 5, 2010, the NDRC announced that it will temporarily cease to grant approval to any new corn advanced processing project. As a result, from November 5, 2010, no more new corn advanced processing projects will obtain the requisite approvals from the NDRC or its local counterpart.  According to the Corn Processing Regulations, since Changtu Bio facilities and the current Daqing facilities only produce corn starch, corn germ, gluten and fibre, which are not included in the Corn Deep Processing definition given in the Corn Processing Regulations, these projects should not be subject to any further review and approval by the NDRC.  
Further, according to new rules issued by the NDRC and other relevant governmental authorities in 2011, the NDRC has expressly included processing starch in the definition of Corn Deep Processing even though such rules do not specifically require prior NDRC approval for corn starch projects. Considering that Changtu Bio’s current project is a relocated corn primary processing project producing corn starch, corn germ, gluten and fibre, there can be no assurance that the NDRC will not change its interpretation of the Corn Deep Processing Regulation and require that Changtu Bio obtain approval from the NDRC in the future.

If the Chinese government should impose greater restrictions on foreign companies regarding the corn processing industry, the Company’s ability to conduct business in China could be negatively affected including its proposed expansion into Downstream Products at the Daqing plant.  The Company may not have the appropriate NDRC approvals and may need to re-apply to the NDRC for approval on the new Downstream Products.  There is no assurance that the Company will obtain such approvals from the NDRC.  

Repatriation of Profit and Currency Conversion 

The PRC government imposes control over the convertibility of the RMB into foreign currencies. With effect from July 21, 2005, the PRC government has reformed the RMB exchange rate regime into a managed floating exchange rate regime based on market supply and demand with reference to a portfolio of currencies, giving more flexibility as compared with the former system in which the RMB was pegged to the US Dollar. See “Risk Factors – Exchange Rate Fluctuations”, above. Under such reformed system, the PBOC announces the closing price of a foreign currency traded against the RMB in the inter-bank foreign exchange market after the closing of the market on each working day, and will make it the central parity for trading against the RMB on the following working day. PRC banks licensed to engage in foreign exchange transactions use the closing price announced by the PBOC as a basis and decide a rate of their own to enter into foreign exchange sale and purchase transactions with customers; such rate shall be within a specified floating band around the central parity which may be adjusted by the PBOC from time to time according to the economic and financial condition in the PRC. On June 19, 2010, the PBOC announced that it has decided to proceed further with reform of the RMB exchange rate regime and to enhance the RMB exchange rate flexibility. Although such new regulations have provided for greater liquidity of the RMB, the RMB is still not a freely convertible currency.

Changtu Bio and Daqing earn all of their revenues in RMB. Changtu Bio and Daqing are allowed to pay outstanding current account obligations in foreign exchange but must present the proper documentation to a designated foreign exchange bank to prove the authenticity of foreign exchange under the current account. However, even on the current account, the RMB is not a freely convertible currency. While the Chinese government is generally relaxing restrictions on foreign trade and investment, there is no certainty that all future local currency can be repatriated. 

Despite the fact that China has significant US Dollars in foreign currency reserves, there can be no assurance that the availability of foreign currency will be sufficient for the Company to satisfy its foreign currency obligations. This may, in turn, adversely affect the Company’s ability to pay dividends. There is also no guarantee that foreign exchange control policies will not be changed so as to require government approval to convert RMB into foreign currency on the current account. In addition, failure to obtain approval from SAFE for currency conversion on the capital account may impact on the Company’s capital expenditure plans and its ability to expand in accordance with its objectives. 

Recent PRC Regulations Relating to the Establishment of Offshore Non-Special- Purpose Companies by PRC Residents

Certain foreign exchange policies of China have been changed from late 2012.  On November 19, 2012, SAFE issued the Circular on Further Improvement and Adjustment of the Administration Policies on the Foreign Directly Investment.  On May 11, 2013, the Administration Rules on Domestic Direct Investment by Foreign Investors and Supporting Documents were issued by SAFE, and the Notice of the Implementing Rules in respect of the “Circular on Certain Foreign Exchange Matters Concerning Fund Raising by Offshore Special Purpose Vehicle Companies of PRC Residents and Related Round-trip Investment” (“SAFE Circular No. 19”) was accordingly cancelled.   Under these new rules, the foreign exchange registration with SAFE by Chinese residents in connection with overseas investment may be divided into SPV round-trip investment registration and Non-SPV round-trip investment registration.  Based on previous consultation with Liaoning SAFE and Heilongjiang SAFE by the Company without official written confirmation from such authorities, the acquisition of Changtu Bio, Daqing and Tieling were/are Non-SPV investment.  However,  under the new rules, Changtu Bio, Daqing and Tieling may be required to disclose to competent SAFE whether there is any Chinese resident/citizen holding directly or indirectly any interest in such companies and to provide relevant supporting documents when they are making foreign exchange registration with the local SAFE.  Based on the fact that one of controlling shareholders of the Company, a Chinese citizen, is holding interest in the Company, such Chinese citizen may be required to complete foreign exchange registration in connection with his overseas investment, while in practice such registration with SAFE by Chinese individual residents seems to be extremely difficult and there is no guarantee that the registration by such Chinese citizen could be completed.  However, Changtu Bio, Daqing and Tieling, when making their own registration with SAFE as applicable, should disclose the fact and accordingly provide documents evidencing that such a Chinese citizen has made overseas investment registration with SAFE.  

Shareholders’ Rights and Enforcement of Judgments 

As Chinese legal entities, Changtu Bio and Daqing are subject to Chinese Company Law and regulations. Chinese company law, in general, and provisions for the protection of shareholders’ rights and access to information, in particular, are less developed than those applicable to companies in other countries. Substantially all of the Company’s assets, through Changtu Bio and Daqing, are located in China. China does not have a treaty with Canada providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments of courts and, as such, recognition and enforcement in China of judgments of a Canadian court in relation to any matter not subject to a binding arbitration provision may be difficult or impossible. Although the rights of minority shareholders in the Company would be protected in Canada, judgments rendered against the Company, Changtu Bio or Daqing would likely not be enforceable in China. 

Developing Legal System 

The Chinese legal system is a system based on written statutes, which are interpreted by the People’s Congress and the Supreme Peoples’ Court. Prior court decisions may be cited for reference but have limited value as precedents. Since 1979, the Chinese government has been developing a comprehensive system of commercial laws, and considerable progress has been made in introducing laws and regulations dealing with economic matters such as foreign investment, corporate organization and governance, commerce, taxation and trade. 

However, because these laws and regulations are relatively new, and because of the limited volume of published cases and their non-binding nature, interpretation and enforcement of these laws and regulations involve uncertainties. As the Chinese legal system develops, changes in such laws and regulations, their interpretation, or their enforcement, may have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights 

Intellectual property rights in China are still developing and there are uncertainties involved in intellectual property rights protection and the enforcement of such protection. The Company will need to pay special attention to protecting its intellectual property and trade secrets. Failure to do so could lead to the loss of a competitive advantage that could not be compensated by a damages award. 

Permits and Business Licenses 

Changtu Bio, Daqing and Tieling hold various permits, business licenses and approvals authorizing their operations and activities which are subject to periodic review and re-assessment by the Chinese authorities. Standards of compliance necessary to pass such reviews change from time to time and differ from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, leading to a degree of uncertainty. If renewals, or new permits, business licenses, or approvals required in connection with existing or new facilities or activities, are not granted or are delayed, or if existing permits, business licenses or approvals are revoked or substantially modified, the Company may be required to cease operations and may suffer a material adverse effect. If new standards are applied to renewals or new applications, it could prove costly to the Company to meet any new level of compliance. 

Construction of the original Changtu facility commenced in 2002 and was completed in 2003. The initial capacity of 500 tonnes of corn production per day was increased to 1,000 tonnes of corn production per day in 2005. In relation to the construction of the facility, the Tieling Municipal Reform and Development Commission issued a project approval from its superior authority, Liaoning Provincial Reform and Development Commission, which permitted Changtu Bio to proceed with a feasibility report as approved by the Liaoning Provincial Reform and Development Commission. Although Changtu Bio has been unable to locate the original feasibility report, and thus cannot be certain as to whether the construction of the production facility is in compliance with such feasibility report, construction has been completed and it has been issued all land use right certificates, building ownership certificates, environmental permits and numerous other approvals and permits required to operate the facility. It should, however, be noted that there are potential risks associated with not having the original feasibility report and that other permits or approvals may be required. 

At the new Changtu facility, the Company has obtained a land use rights certificate and has paid certain amount of granting fees to the Changtu Non-tax Collection Bureau. 
In late 2010, Changtu Bio has been relocated to a new facility. The approval on environmental impact appraisal for the relocation project of annual processing 600,000 tons corn was issued by the Liaoning Environment Protection Bureau on June 11, 2010, under which Changtu Bio may be required to obtain from the same bureau further environment impact approval on the heating source and the approval on the check and acceptance of the environment protection facilities upon completion. However, as the public heating source was unavailable and Changtu Bio was permitted to build a temporary boiler pursuant to an approval on environmental impact appraisal for the construction of such temporary boiler issued by Environmental Protection Bureau of Changtu County. Nonetheless, it is possible that Changtu Bio may be required to obtain relevant approval from Liaoning Environment Protection Bureau in the future pursuant to the aforesaid Approval dated June 11, 2010.  Moreover, according to a new regulation issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection in February 2009, environmental impact appraisal on construction of new facilities or expansion of the same in connection with corn deep processing projects shall be subject to the approval by the Ministry of Environment Protection, though no interpretation of the “corn deep processing” has been given thereunder.  In the event Changtu Bio resumes the construction of Changtu Phase 2 facilities in future, it may be deemed to be the expansion of the existing and relocated facilities.  Therefore, there is a possibility that Changtu Bio may be required to obtain further approvals from the Ministry of Environment Protection in connection with the environmental impact appraisal as well as check and acceptance upon completion.  In addition, before the new facility of Changtu is put into operation regularly, Pollutant Discharge Permit will be required to be obtained upon the check and acceptance for the environmental protection facility by competent environment protection authorities. As of this date, the check and acceptance for the environmental protection facility of Changtu Bio is still to be completed, it is possible that the competent environmental authority may require Changtu Bio to suspend  its operation before the relevant environmental facilities are checked and accepted..   

Formal project approval issued by Liaoning Reform and Development Commission may be required in connection with the project in order to be in compliance with relevant laws of the PRC.  Moreover, although management of the Company believes that the new Changtu facility does not fall into the scope of the corn advanced processing industry based on the Corn Processing Regulations, the Company may also need to seek project approvals from the NDRC.  Changtu Bio started to construct the Changtu Phase 2 facilities at the end of year 2012. However, due to relevant economic and industrial conditions, the construction of Changtu Phase 2 facilities was suspended in 2013. In the event Changtu Bio restarts such construction, it may be required to apply for and obtain the following related project approvals in connection with Changtu Phase 2 facilities: local project approvals to be issued by competent reform and development commission, planning certificate of construction and engineering and construction license.  As a result, there is a risk that the Company may be required to obtain such approvals and/or may be subject to a fine, suspension of its production, the inability to obtain property ownership certificates or even the closure of its facility, which may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and operating results. 
As set forth above, Daqing has obtained certain licenses and approvals in respect of environment protection required for its present production and plant construction.   The Daqing project was reviewed by the NDRC as a corn advanced processing project in December 2010; however, the Company may be required to re-apply for the NDRC approval in connection with the proposed expansion to produce the Downstream Products. There can be no assurance that the Company will obtain the relevant approvals to proceed with its planned expansion to produce Downstream Products.  In addition, Daqing has started its Daqing Phase 2 construction of the Daqing facility on the 480,000 m2 portion of land the use right of which Daqing has title to, and is in the progress of seeking relevant preliminary project approvals for such construction which include  renewed project approval issued by Zhaoyuan Economy and Planning Bureau (the previous one has been expired), environment impact appraisal approval issued by competent environment protection bureau, planning certificate of construction and engineering and construction license. Based on the foregoing, there is a risk that Daqing may be subject to a fine, suspension of its construction, the inability to obtain ownership certificates in connection with the Daqing Phase 2 construction for the Daqing facility. 

Pursuant to an approval dated June 22, 2007 issued by Tieling Municipal Development and Reform Commission, Tieling was approved to build a sweetener plant for manufacturing 350,000 tonnes corn sweeteners per year by processing 420,000 tonnes starch through leasing corn processing facility (including factories, corn producing line and other ancillary facilities) from a company. The lessor completed construction of the corn processing facility in around 1990. According to the Emergent Notice on Strengthening Construction Regulation of the Corn Processing Projects regulation issued by the NDRC dated December 8, 2006, the NDRC requires that approval and filing for record of the corn processing projects shall be suspended immediately before it declared that the approval of the corn deep processing projects shall be subject to the approval by the NDRC in September 2007.  Therefore, the approval of Tieling Municipal Development and Revolution Commission on corn sweeteners is questionable, though Tieling purchased the corn starch processing facility and has neither made substantial change thereto nor built the sweetener plant in accordance with such approval.  In September 2009, Tieling purchased all the aforesaid corn processing facility from the said company and obtained relevant land use rights and certain building ownership certificates. As a result, the plant only produced corn starch, germ, gluten. Pursuant to the Corn Processing Regulations, since September 2007, the manufacturing of corn sweeteners falls into Corn Deep Processing and the substantial change of projects in relation to the manufacturing of corn sweeteners may be subject to an approval from the NDRC.  Therefore, if Tieling intends to manufacture corn sweeteners in the future, it is possible that Tieling may be required to apply to the NDRC for obtaining a project approval for its full compliance with the PRC law. 

Production at Tieling has been suspended for almost 2 years while Tieling maintained its business activities with certain customers.  The Company intends to relocate Tieling to Changtu Bio’s facility at the end of year 2014 and plans to resume its production. The contemplated relocation and corresponding change of registered address (when applicable) will be subject to relevant approval from or filing with competent governmental authorities (including, without limitation, competent NDRC, commerce authority, environmental protection bureau and administration for industry and commerce).  As of this date, all relevant documents have not been obtained.  The Company cannot provide any assurances that such approval will not be obtained. 
Appropriation 

Changtu Bio and Daqing hold certain land use rights in China. Under PRC law, land use rights can be revoked in the public interest, although holders of such appropriated land use rights typically receive compensation. Events in China have shown that the public interest rationale is interpreted quite broadly and the process of land appropriation may be less than transparent. If the land use rights of Changtu Bio or Daqing are revoked, the Company may suffer a material adverse effect. See “Risk Factors – Land Use Rights”, below.

Availability of Land 

Land in China is divided into agricultural land, construction land and unused land. Pursuant to a series of laws, regulations and policies, conversion of agricultural land to non-agricultural purposes is subject to controls in China. On October 1, 2007, a new property law took effect, further restricting the use or conversion of agricultural land for non-agricultural purposes. While the new law does not prohibit the use of agricultural land for non-agricultural purposes, it may make it more difficult for the Company to secure new land and/or increase the price of available properties.

Inflation

While the PRC economy has experienced rapid growth, such growth has been uneven among various sectors of the economy and in different geographic areas of the country. Rapid economic growth can lead to growth in the supply of money and rising inflation. If the operating costs of the Company rise disproportionately to the Company’s product prices, business may be materially and adversely affected.

Land Use Rights

Under PRC law, all urban land is owned by the State, which grants land use rights for residential, commercial, industrial and other uses for extended periods. The usual tenure of land use rights for industrial use is up to 50 years. To obtain land use rights a Person makes a land grant contract with the local government, pays the fees under the contract and obtains the land use right certificate from the appropriate administrative department of land.
On August 31, 2006, State Council of the PRC issued a “Circular on Several Issues Concerning the Strengthening of Land Adjustment and Control” (Guo Fa [2006] No.31, or “Circular No. 31”).  On April 4, 2007, State Land & Resources Bureau and Ministry of Supervision of the PRC jointly issued the “Circular for Implementing the Rules of Granting Land for Industrial Use by Bidding, Auctioning and listing for Sale” (Guo Tu Zi Fa [2007] No. 78, or “Circular No. 78”).   Pursuant to Circular No. 31 and Circular No. 78, after August 31, 2006, land for industrial use should only be granted by way of bidding, auctioning or listing for sale and the land prices should not be less than the minimum land price announced publicly or refunded to the purchaser after obtaining the relevant land use right.  

On December 17, 2006, State Council of the PRC issued a “Circular on the Regulation of Management of the Collection and Expenditure of Proceeds from Grant of State-owned Land Use Rights” (Guo Ban Fa [2006] No. 100, or “Circular No. 100”). Circular No. 100 has strengthened procedures regarding the acquisition of land use rights and the use of proceeds from the grant of land. The scope of proceeds from the grant of State-owned land use rights is clearly defined and any form of financial subsidies offered by local governments having the effect of reducing the proceeds from land grant is prohibited. On December 23, 2006, the Ministry of Land and Resources of the PRC issued a “Circular on the Promulgation and Implementation of the ‘National Minimum Price Schedule for the Grant of Land for Industrial Use” (Guo Tu Zi Fa [2006] No. 307, or “Circular No. 307”). Circular No. 307, which became effective on January 1, 2007, has significantly increased the land grant fee rates. Under Circular No. 307, the land of different areas of the PRC is divided into 15 grades, with each grade of land being subject to a specified minimum land grant fee rate on a per square metre basis. The minimum rate for Grade 1 is RMB 840 per square metre and the minimum rate for Grade 15 is RMB 60 per square metre.

The new rates do not apply to land use rights granted before January 1, 2007.  In early January 2009, State Land & Resources Bureau and the Ministry of Supervision of the PRC issued another circular to change the grades of the land in certain districts, but the land grades of Zhaoyuan and Changtu country remain the same. 
Furthermore, pursuant to the Urban and Rural Planning Law of the People’s Republic of China effective from January 1, 2008, the purpose for which land is used must be in compliance with overall land use plan and Land Use Planning Permits should be obtained in advance of any construction on such land.

As the Land Use Rights Certificates granted to the Company in connection with the original Changtu plant were granted before January 1, 2007, these new laws do not affect those certificates at this time, but they will have an effect on the Company’s planned expansion of capacity.  

The new laws are applicable to the state-owned land on which the Daqing facility and Changtu Bio’s relocated new facility for Changtu Phase 1 are built, which, as land for industrial uses, has not been granted by way of bidding, auctioning or listing for sale in accordance with Circular No. 31 and Circular No. 78, nor was a contract for granting land use rights required entered into between Daqing or Changtu Bio and the local land and resources bureau.  

The land use rights certificate with a land area of 96,324 m² has been issued to Changtu Bio for the relocation of the Changtu Phase 1 facilities. The Company is in the operation on the new Changtu facility, but the Company has neither entered into a land grant contract with the local land administrative authority nor gone through a bidding process to obtain the land where the new Changtu facility is located. Although the Company has paid the land price of RMB 9,247,104, RMB 8,885,000 has been refunded by Changtu County Government to Changtu Bio. If the Changtu land use right is not obtained by Changtu Bio by way of bidding, auctioning or listing for sale, then there might be a possibility that correction and even repayment of the RMB 8,885,000 refunded may be required by superior land inspection authority. Accordingly there is an inconsistency between the local policy and the aforementioned state regulations. Therefore there is a risk that the competent authority may require Changtu Bio to repay the land price previously refunded to it.  
In December 2007, Daqing obtained a Land Use Right Certificate in consideration for RMB 46,080,000, which is in compliance with the minimum price provided in Circular No. 307.  Pursuant to the agreement entered into between Daqing and Zhaoyuan County People’s Government dated November 7, 2008, the local government, in order to encourage investment by Daqing the land price was refunded to Daqing.  Accordingly, there is inconsistency between the local policy and the aforementioned state regulations.  Therefore, there is a risk that the competent authority may require Daqing to repay the land price previously refunded to it.

Furthermore, in order to facilitate loans from banks, security has been pledged on the land and buildings of  Daqing,  Changtu Bio and Tieling for the benefit of various banks including China Construction Bank. A mortgage has also been created on Daqing’s land use right, buildings and equipment for securing loan facilitated by China Construction Bank. 

Building Ownership 

In 2009, Tieling acquired a land use right and the relevant buildings of 81,664 m2 built on this land from a third company. Of those buildings, Tieling has not obtained the relevant building ownership certificates for approximately 22,725 m2 buildings (which include several workshops, storehouse and main factory) and no relevant construction approvals (including planning certificate of land, planning certificate of construction and engineering and construction license) are available to the Company. Therefore, there is a risk that such buildings may be deemed as illegal constructions and Tieling could be subject to a fine or required to demolish such buildings. 

Tax 

The Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EITL”) enacted in China in March 2007 removes the tax incentives currently offered to foreign invested enterprises since wholly domestically owned companies did not receive such incentives. Asia Bio-Chem’s subsidiaries may enjoy certain “grandfathering” provisions under the EITL, however, there can be no certainty that these benefits will be granted or how long they will last if granted until each subsidiary applies for, and if available to it, receives approval. Any increase in the tax rate to which the Company or its subsidiaries are subject, pursuant to the EITL or otherwise, will reduce the net profitability of the Company. Such reduction could be material and historical financial results may thus not be indicative of results for future periods.

Regarding value added tax payable by Changtu Bio, Changtu County Government has executed an agreement with Changtu regarding benefits based on the value added tax paid by Changtu Bio. However, according to the Circular of State Council on Make Correction of Self-issuance of Tax Refunding Policies by local governments in January 2000, local government is not permitted to independently promise tax refund as subsidies. Therefore, there is no guarantee that this incentive policy which has yet to be implemented, will not be revoked. 

The Company signed a tax agreement and a supplementary agreement with the Zhaoqing County People’s Government in November 2008 and in December 2010 under which Daqing was granted (i) a full refund from income tax to be allocated by local government for two fiscal years, and 50% of its usual tax rate of 25% for the next three years starting from the break-even year; (ii) an exemption from value added tax to be allocated by local government for two fiscal years, and 50% of its usual tax rate for the next three years starting from the commencement of operations in Daqing; and (iii) a full refund of all payment of land use tax by the Company, although this income tax exemption is not technically considered grandfathered because it was granted to Daqing after the January 1, 2008 effective date of the New EITL in the PRC and other tax preferential treatments are not supported under the state law. The Company has been provided with assurance that the local Zhaoyuan Government will administratively apply the exemption to Daqing. The tax rate applicable to Daqing will be confirmed when Daqing first reports taxable income on its Daqing operations and there is no guarantee that this incentive policy will not be revoked. 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

The name, address and principal occupation of the directors and executive officers of the Company are as set out below:

	Name and Municipality of Residence 
	Principal Occupation During the Past Five Years

	Jeremy Kendall(1) (2) (3) 

Belfountain, Ontario, Canada
Director since June 2008
	Chairman and Director, SunOpta Inc., May 1983 to present; Chairman, Jemtec Inc., April 1987 to present; Chairman, Opta Minerals, June 2003 to present; Chairman, BI Inc., June 1983 to November 2002.

	Brent Majkrzak(1) (2) (3), 

Fargo, North Dakota, USA
Director since June 2008
	Currently the Owner/operator of Majkrzak farms; President, Precision Equipment Manufacturing LLC, July 2010 to April 2013; President, MagTec Energy LLC, April 2008 to July 2010; Vice President, Sales Marketing of MagTec Energy LLC, September 2006 to April 2008; Mechanical Engineer and Sales Manager of Crary Industries, May 1999 to September 2006.

	William Thomson(1)(2)(3), 

Thornhill, Ontario, Canada
Director since June 2008
	President, Thomson Associates Inc., August 1978 to present

	Zhiping Wang,

Beijing, China
Director since June 2008
	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd., September 14, 2007 to present; Chairman, World Products Group Inc., June 2001 to present; President, Krauss Maffei China Company GmbH, July 1996 to December 2000; Chief Representative and General Manager (China), Dorr Oliver Inc. , November 1984 to June 1996.

	Robert Wilson,

Toronto, Ontario, Canada

	Executive Vice President, Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd., January 10, 2008 to present, Managing Director, Research Capital Corporation, April 2004 to January 2008; Independent Consultant, November 2001 to April 2004; Vice President, BMO Nesbitt Burns from May 1998 to November 2001

	Elaine Zhao,

Chino Hills, California, USA
Director since May 2012
	Chief Financial Officer, Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd., October 1, 2007 to present; President, ELZ Accountancy Corp. from October 2005 to present; Independent Financial Advisor, Genworth Financial Securities October 2002 to present; Auditor, Liang & Co. Accountancy Corp. from October 2000 to October 2005.


(1) Member of the Audit Committee

(2) Member of the Compensation Committee

(3) Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

Each director holds office until the next annual general meeting or until his or her successor is duly elected or appointed, unless his or her office is earlier vacated in accordance with the Articles of the Company or unless he or she becomes disqualified to act as a director. 

As at the date of this AIF, the directors and officers of the Company, as a group owned, directly or indirectly, or exercised control or direction over 11,934,200 common shares representing 14.0% of the total number of common shares outstanding.  
Cease Trade Orders, Penalties and Sanctions

Mr. Thomson was the Chairman of Asia Media Group Corporation, at the time it had its shares cease traded on November 25, 2002 for failure to file certain financial statements.  The cease trade order has not been revoked and Asia Media Group Corporation was voluntarily dissolved in November 2006.  Mr. Kendall is the Chairman of SunOpta Inc., which was the subject of a temporary management cease trade order from February 20, 2008 through March 4, 2008 in relation to the requirement to restate certain financial statements. On March 4, 2008 the Ontario Securities Commission issued a management cease trade order prohibiting certain specified directors, officers and insiders, including Mr. Kendall, from trading in the securities of SunOpta Inc. until two business days following the receipt by the Ontario Securities Commission of all required securities filings, including the restated financials at which time the cease trade order was lifted, on August 1, 2008.  Other than as set out above, no director or executive officer of the Company is, or within ten years prior to the date hereof has been, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company (including the Company) that,

(a) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or

(b) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer

No director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

Bankruptcies

Mr. Thomson was a director of Imperial PlasTech Inc. (“IPI”), which was subject to certain orders under the Companies Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) and the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) from the period from June 12, 2003 to April 11, 2006, when a plan of compromise or arrangement previously filed with the Ontario Superior Court of Justice was fully performed.  Mr. Thomson resigned as a director of IPI in January 2005.  Other than as disclosed herein, no director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially control of the Company, 

(c) is, or within ten years prior to the date hereof has been, a director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 

(d) has, within ten years prior to the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director, executive officer or shareholder.

Conflicts of Interest

To the best of our knowledge, and other than disclosed in this AIF, there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest between the Company and any of its directors or officers, except that certain of the directors and officers may serve as directors and officers of other public companies and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties as a director or officer of Asia Bio-Chem and their duties as a director or officer of such other companies.  Some of those individuals have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and officers of the Company will be in direct competition with the Company.

Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions

Mr. Kendall is the Chairman of SunOpta Inc.  In connection with the restatement of certain financial statements of SunOpta Inc., class action legal proceedings were commenced against the company in 2008 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the “Courts”), under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Securities Act (Ontario), respectively.  SunOpta Inc. has entered into a settlement agreement with respect to these claims, providing for a $11.25 million settlement fund, which has been approved by the Courts and is expected to become final on June 17, 2010.  Other than as disclosed herein, the Company is not aware of any material legal proceedings to which it is a party or to which its property is subject, nor is it aware that any such proceedings are contemplated. Furthermore, during the Company’s most recently completed financial year there were: 

(a) no penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority during its most recently completed financial year; 

(b) no other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision in the Company; or 

(c) no settlement agreements that the Company entered into before a court relating to securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority during its most recently completed financial year.

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends or distributions since incorporation and does not plan on declaring any dividends or distributions in the near future. Any decision to declare or pay dividends or distributions on the Company’s shares will be made by its Board of Directors based upon the Company’s earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at such future time.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares without nominal or par value. Holders of common shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of the shareholders of the Company, other than separate meetings of holders of any other class or series of shares, and to one vote in respect of each common share held at such meetings. Holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends if, as and when declared by the board of directors of the Company and to receive pro rata the remaining assets of the Company upon its liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, subject to the rights of holders of any other class or series of shares of the Company having priority over the common shares.  

As of December 31, 2013, there were 85,306,258 common shares issued and outstanding.

MARKET FOR SECURITIES

The Company’s common shares commenced trading on the TSX-V under the symbol “ABC” on June 26, 2008, following the completion of the RTO.  The Company then was delisted from the TSX-V and listed on the TSX and began trading under the same symbol “ABC” on September 20, 2010.  The following table sets forth the reported high and low prices and the trading volume for the periods indicated during the last financial year of the Company and until the date of this AIF.  
	Year
	
	Month
	High
	Low
	Close
	Volume

	2013
	
	January
	0.11
	0.05
	0.07
	1,590,607

	
	
	February
	0.07
	0.04
	0.04
	1,614,827

	
	
	March
	0.04
	0.05
	0.04
	600,236

	
	
	April
	0.05
	0.04
	0.04
	294,591

	
	
	May
	0.06
	0.04
	0.05
	373,570

	
	
	June
	0.07
	0.04
	0.05
	213,024

	
	
	July
	0.06
	0.05
	0.06
	352,740

	
	
	August
	0.07
	0.05
	0.05
	429,320

	
	
	September
	0.05
	0.04
	0.04
	413,863

	
	
	October
	0.04
	0.03
	0.04
	1,002,059

	
	
	November
	0.05
	0.04
	0.04
	1,691,555

	
	
	December
	0.05
	0.03
	0.05
	835,650

	2014
	
	January
	0.05
	0.04
	0.05
	318,921

	
	
	February
	0.05
	0.03
	0.03
	1,822,473

	
	
	March(1)
	0.04
	0.025
	0.025
	916,885


(1)
For the period March 1 to March 30, 2013.  

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as set forth in this Annual Information Form, no director or executive officer of the Company, no person or company that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10 percent of any class or series of the Company’s outstanding voting securities and no associate or affiliate of any such person has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since within the three most recent financial years of the Company.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for the Company is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal offices in Vancouver, British Columbia and Toronto, Ontario.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The Company is party to a Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 2012 pursuant to the acquisition of Tieling. A redacted copy of the Sale and Purchase Agreement is filed on SEDAR under the Company’s profile.  
The Company is party to an underwriting agreement dated January 18, 2011 (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with the Underwriters pursuant to which the Company issued and sold the Common Shares to the Underwriters. A copy of the Underwriting Agreement is filed on SEDAR under the Company’s profile.  
NAMES AND INTERESTS OF EXPERTS

The Company’s auditors, Manning Elliott LLP, report that they are independent of the Company in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia.  To the knowledge of the Company, none of the designated professionals of Manning Elliott LLP beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over more than one percent, either as an individual or combined with other designated professionals of Manning Elliott LLP, of the issued and outstanding Common Shares or shares in the capital of the Company. None of the aforementioned designated professionals are currently expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee of the Company or any associate or affiliate of the Company. 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to the Company may be found under the Company’s name on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Additional information, including directors’ and officers’ remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of the Company’s securities and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is contained in the Company’s information circular dated May 3, 2012. Additional financial information is also available in the Company’s financial statements and Management’s Discussion & Analysis for its most recently completed financial year, which are also available on SEDAR

AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION

Audit Committee Charter

A copy of the charter of the Audit Committee is attached as Schedule “A” to this AIF.

Composition of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is presently composed of three directors, being Mr. William Thomson (Chair) Mr. Jeremy Kendall, Mr. Brent Majkrzak.  All three members of the Audit Committee are considered to be independent and financially literate pursuant to the definitions in National Instrument 52-110 - Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”).

Relevant Education and Experience

 NI 52-110 provides that an individual is “financially literate” if he or she has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 

All of the members of the Audit Committee are financially literate as that term is defined in NI 52-110, based on their education and experience as directors and executive officers of public and/or private companies.  A description of the education and experience of each of the Audit Committee members is set out below.

William Thomson – Mr. Thomson earned a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Dalhousie University in Halifax, Nova Scotia in 1961.  He is a Chartered Accountant in Canada.  He is currently a Managing Partner of Mercana Growth Partners, a leading merchant banking company specializing in the areas of finance, leadership, strategic alliances and governance. Mr. Thomson through Mercana is currently involved in projects in the manufacturing, energy and agriculture sectors in China.  Mr. Thomson has served as chairman and/or director of a number of companies listed on the TSX and/or NASDAQ, including, Chairman of Med-Emerg International Inc., from February 1998 to May 2004; Director of China Automotive Systems Inc., from September 2003 to  July 2010; Director of China Armco Metals Inc., from December 2009 to present; Director of Speedware Corporation from June 1997 to September 2000; Chairman of Asia Media Group Corporation, from December 1996 until the company’s dissolution in 2006; Director of Score Media Inc. from October 2004 to present; Director of Imperial Plastech Inc., from December 1997 to December 2000 and from 2002 to 2005; Director and Vice-Chairman of YTW Growth Capital Corporation, from October 2004 to September 2005; Director of Open EC Technologies Inc., from November 2005 to November 2009; Director of Jite Technologies Inc., from September 2005 to February 2007; Director of Industrial Minerals, from March 2007 to June 2009; Director of Atlast Pain and Injury Solutions from June 2006 to March 2007; Director of Maxus Technologies from February 2004 to June 2010; Director of Greater China Capital from February 2010 to Present; and Director of Chile Mining Technology from September 2010 to present. 

Jeremy Kendall – Mr. Kendall earned both a Bachelor of Arts in Economics in 1962 and a Master of Business Administration in 1964 from the University of Western Ontario.  Mr. Kendall has been a Chairman and Director of SunOpta Inc since June 1983, a company involved in the sourcing, processing, packaging and distribution of organic and natural foods.  Mr. Kendall has been the Chairman of Jemtec Inc. since April 1987, a distributor of home incarceration equipment in Canada.  Mr. Kendall has been the Chairman of Opta Minerals Inc. since June 2003, a producer, manufacturer, distributor and recycler of industrial minerals, abrasives, roofing shingle granules, speciality sands and related products.  From June 1983 to November 2002, Mr. Kendall was Chairman of BI inc., a manufacturer of home incarceration equipment and service provider to the corrections industry.

Brent Majkrzak – Brent Majkrzak – Mr. Majkrzak earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from North Dakota State University in 1999. He is currently the owner of Majkrzak Farms a small grain and sugar beet farm. Mr. Majkrzak is an active member of American Crystal Sugar Company, a cooperative sugar beet processing facility. Formally Mr. Majkrzak was President of Precision Equipment Manufacturing, LLC, which produces heavy equipment for the agricultural, petroleum, and construction industries. Precision Equipment was the exclusive contract manufacturer for Rotational Energy, LLC; formerly known as MagTec Energy, LLC, for which Mr. Majkrzak served as both President and Vice-President. Early on in his career, Mr. Majkrzak served in various roles with Crary Industries, a manufacturer and distributor specializing in industrial and agricultural equipment, including Design Engineering, Sales and Marketing. Mr. Majkrzak was a Co-founder of MagTec Alaska, LLC, an equipment distributor and rental company serving the petroleum industry.
Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee pre-approves any non-audit services to be provided to the Company by the external auditor, Manning Elliott LLP, and the fees for those services. 
External Auditor Service Fees

The aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditors for the periods indicated were as follows: 
	Period Ended 
	Audit Fees
	Audit Related Fees
	Tax Fees 
	All Other Fees 

	December 31, 2013
	$274,617 
	$37,300 
	$3,950 
	$3,600 

	December 31, 2012
	$197,888
	$37,700
	$3,300
	$6,830


Audit Fees

“Audit Fees” were paid for professional services rendered by the auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements as well as services provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings.

Audit Related Fees

“Audit Related Fees” represent the fees billed by the external auditors in connection with quarterly reviews and out of- pocket expenses incurred in connection with such reviews.

Tax Fees 

“Tax Fees” were paid for professional services rendered by the auditors in connection with tax consultation and preparation of tax returns.

All Other Fees

“All Other Fees” represent the fees billed by the external auditors in connection with consultation, financing and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with such services.

SCHEDULE “A”

ASIA BIO-CHEM GROUP CORP.
(the “Company”)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

CHARTER

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is a committee of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company.  The role of the Committee is to provide oversight of the Company’s financial management and of the design and implementation of an effective system of internal financial controls as well as to review and report to the Board on the integrity of the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies.  This includes helping directors meet their responsibilities, facilitating better communication between directors and the external auditor, enhancing the independence of the external auditor, increasing the credibility and objectivity of financial reports and strengthening the role of the directors by facilitating in-depth discussions among directors, management and the external auditor.  Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining those controls, procedures and processes and the Committee is appointed by the Board to review and monitor them.  The Company’s external auditor is ultimately accountable to the Board and the Committee as representatives of the Company’s shareholders.

Duties and Responsibilities

External Auditor 

· To recommend to the Board, for shareholder approval, an external auditor to examine the Company’s accounts, controls and financial statements on the basis that the external auditor is accountable to the Board and the Committee as representatives of the shareholders of the Company.

· To oversee the work of the external auditor engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting.

· To evaluate the audit services provided by the external auditor, pre-approve all audit fees and recommend to the Board, if necessary, the replacement of the external auditor.

· To review and approve any non-audit services to be provided to the Company by the external auditor and the fees for those services.  

· To obtain and review, at least annually, a written report by the external auditor setting out the auditor’s internal quality-control procedures, any material issues raised by the auditor’s internal quality-control reviews and the recommended steps taken to resolve those issues.

· To ensure that the committee discusses with the independent auditor the audit partner rotation plan including the timing and process for implementing the plan to ensure the succession plan is set.
· To review, at least annually, the relationships between the Company and the external auditor in order to establish the independence of the external auditor.
Financial Information and Reporting 

· To review the Company’s annual audited financial statements with the CEO and CFO and then the full Board.  

· To review the interim financial statements with the CEO and CFO.

· To review and discuss with management and the external auditor, as appropriate:

a) The annual audited financial statements and the interim financial statements, including the accompanying management discussion and analysis; and,

b) Earnings guidance and other releases containing information taken from the Company’s financial statements prior to the release of such financial statements;

· To review the quality and not just the acceptability of the Company’s financial reporting and accounting standards and principles and any proposed material changes to them or their application.

· To meet at least annually with management (including the CFO), and the external auditor in separate executive sessions and review issues and matters of concern respecting audits and financial reporting.

· In connection with its review of the annual audited financial statements and interim financial statements, the Committee will also review the process for the CEO and CFO certifications (if required by law or regulation) with respect to the financial statements and the Company’s disclosure and internal controls, including any material deficiencies or changes in those controls.

· The Committee shall review the CEO and CFO certifications and inquiries as to the practices and procedures adopted to permit management’s assurance on the underlying controls.  Furthermore the committee receives and reviews any disclosure from the company’s CEO or CFO of 1/ significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely effect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and 2/ any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or any other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal controls.

Membership
· The Committee shall consist solely of three or more members of the Board, each of whom the Board has determined has no material relationship with the Company and is otherwise “unrelated” or “independent” as required under applicable securities rules or applicable stock exchange rules.

· Any member may be removed from office or replaced at any time by the Board and shall cease to be a member upon ceasing to be a director.  Each member of the Committee shall hold office until the close of the next annual meeting of shareholders of the Company or until the member ceases to be a director, resigns or is replaced, whichever first occurs.

· The members of the Committee shall be entitled to receive such remuneration for acting as members of the Committee as the Board may from time to time determine.

· All members of the Committee must be “financially literate” (i.e., have the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements such as a balance sheet, an income statement and a cash flow statement).
Procedures

· The Board shall appoint one of the directors elected to the Committee as the Chair of the Committee (the “Chair”).  In the absence of the appointed Chair from any meeting of the Committee, the members shall elect a Chair from those in attendance to act as Chair of the meeting.

· The Chair will appoint a secretary (the “Secretary”) who will keep minutes of all meetings.  The Secretary does not have to be a member of the Committee or a director and can be changed by simple notice from the Chair.

· No business may be transacted by the Committee except at a meeting of its members at which a quorum of the Committee is present or by resolution in writing signed by all the members of the Committee.  A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum, provided that if the number of members of the Committee is an even number, one-half of the number of members plus one shall constitute a quorum.

· The Committee will meet as many times as is necessary to carry out its responsibilities.   Any member of the Committee may call meetings.

· The time and place of the meetings of the Committee, the calling of meetings and the procedure in all respects of such meetings shall be determined by the Committee, unless otherwise provided for in the bylaws of the Company or otherwise determined by resolution of the Board.

· The Committee shall have the resources and authority necessary to discharge its duties and responsibilities, including the authority to select, retain, terminate, and approve the fees and other retention terms (including termination) of special counsel, advisors or other experts or consultants, as it deems appropriate.  

· The Committee shall have access to any and all books and records of the Company necessary for the execution of the Committee’s obligations and shall discuss with the CEO or the CFO such records and other matters considered appropriate.

· The Committee has the authority to communicate directly with external auditors.

· The Committee will provide its members with annual continuing education opportunities in areas relevant to the responsibilities of the committee.

Reports

The Committee shall produce the following reports and provide them to the Board:

1. An annual performance evaluation of the Committee, which evaluation must compare the performance of the Committee with the requirements of this Charter.  The performance evaluation should also recommend to the Board any improvements to this Charter deemed necessary or desirable by the Committee.  The performance evaluation by the Committee shall be conducted in such manner as the Committee deems appropriate.  The report to the Board may take the form of an oral report by the Chair or any other member of the Committee designated by the Committee to make this report.

2. A summary of the actions taken at each Committee meeting, which shall be presented to the Board at the next Board meeting.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

· Review the effectiveness of the system for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and the results of management’s investigation and follow up of any fraudulent acts of non-compliance. Obtain regular updates from Company’s counsel regarding compliance matters.

· Responsibility for reviewing regular reports from management and others with respect to the company’s compliance with laws and regulations having a material impact on the financial statements including

1) Tax and financial reporting laws and regulations

2) Legal withholding requirements;

3) Environmental protection laws and regulations;

4) Other laws and regulations which expose directors to liability.

· Be satisfied that all regulatory compliance matters have been considered in the preparation of the financial statements

· Review any material findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies

· Review the effectiveness of the legal function of the corporation

· Review the qualifications of the personnel responsible for compliance and concur with the appointment, replacement or dismissal of such personnel.

· Meet separately with the personnel responsible for compliance to discuss any matters that the committee or auditors believe should be discussed privately.

Ensure that significant findings and recommendations made by the personnel responsible for compliance are received and discussed on a timely basis

APPENDIX A: Annual Audited Financial Statements

for the years ended  12/31/12 and 12/31/13

	Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended 

December 31, 2013 and 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of 

Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained based on our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability of Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. to continue as a going concern.
/s/ “Manning Elliott LLP”

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Vancouver, British Columbia

March 31, 2014 

Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

	 
	Note
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	Current Assets
	
	
	

	Cash
	
	1,649,377 
	5,043,183 

	Marketable securities
	
	227,580 
	                    - 

	Restricted cash
	10
	32,736,376 
	     31,142,263 

	Trade receivables
	19
	26,308,492 
	47,380,140 

	Other receivables
	3
	14,239,825 
	2,281,557 

	Inventory
	4
	7,224,000 
	12,663,889 

	Deposit and prepaid expenses
	5
	2,317,473 
	2,352,332 

	
	
	84,703,123 
	100,863,364 

	Construction deposits
	6
	9,220,359 
	10,151,668 

	Plant and equipment
	7
	127,389,398 
	97,795,917 

	Land use rights 
	8
	33,779,357
	10,809,053 

	Intangible assets
	8
	464,900
	477,839 

	Deferred tax asset
	17
	- 
	1,395,770 

	 
	 
	255,557,137
	221,493,611 

	
	
	
	

	Current Liabilities
	
	
	

	Accounts payable
	
	20,063,142 
	19,828,837 

	Accrued liabilities and customer deposits
	9
	23,109,836 
	     19,302,632 

	Short-term loans
	10
	194,368,571 
	    107,132,836 

	Note payable
	12
	4,601,128 
	                    - 

	Current portion of long-term loans
	11
	11,850,112 
	       3,152,337 

	
	
	253,992,789 
	149,416,642 

	Long-term loans
	11
	3,244,647 
	     12,920,858 

	Deferred tax liability
	17
	7,062,570
	                  -   

	 
	 
	264,300,006
	162,337,500 

	
	
	
	

	Shareholders' (Deficiency) Equity
	
	
	

	Share capital
	14
	49,686,495 
	49,686,495 

	Contributed surplus
	15
	10,836,639 
	     10,825,640 

	Reserves
	16
	7,414,066 
	7,414,066 

	Deficit
	
	(84,322,364)
	(11,810,654)

	Accumulated other comprehensive income  - foreign currency translation adjustment
	 
	7,642,295
	3,040,564 

	 
	 
	(8,742,869)
	59,156,111 

	 
	 
	255,557,137
	221,493,611 

	
	
	
	

	GOING CONCERN
	1 
	
	

	COMMITMENTS
	22 
	
	

	SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
	24 
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Approved on behalf of the Board:
	
	
	


“Zhiping Wang”




“William Thomson”



Zhiping Wang, CEO, Director

William Thomson, Director
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

	 
	Note
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	
	
	
	

	Sales
	
	109,261,247 
	130,440,152 

	Cost of sales
	
	115,073,498
	138,643,135 

	Gross profit (loss)
	 
	(5,812,251)
	(8,202,983)

	
	
	
	

	Expenses
	
	
	

	Selling and distribution
	20
	7,256,068 
	7,621,422 

	General and administrative
	20
	15,747,028
	16,268,936 

	Stock-based compensation
	14
	10,999 
	          356,612 

	 
	 
	23,014,095
	24,246,970 

	
	
	
	

	Loss from operations
	 
	(28,826,346)
	(32,449,953)

	
	
	
	

	Other Income (Expenses)
	
	
	

	Impairment of property, plant and equipment
	7
	(25,410,718)
	-

	Impairment of intangibles
	8
	(4,634,076)
	-

	Interest income
	
	708,699
	465,724 

	Finance charges and interest expense
	10, 11
	(14,176,811)
	      (7,560,732)

	Other income
	
	637,759 
	795,115 

	Foreign exchange gain (loss)
	
	(1,001)
	            (6,553)

	 
	 
	(42,876,148)
	(6,306,446)

	
	
	
	

	Net loss before income taxes
	
	(71,702,494)
	(38,756,399)

	Income taxes expense 
	17
	809,216
	523,096 

	Net loss
	 
	(72,511,710)
	(39,279,495)

	
	
	
	

	Other Comprehensive Income (loss)
	
	
	

	Foreign exchange translation adjustment
	
	4,601,731
	(2,350,863)

	Comprehensive loss
	 
	(67,909,979)
	(41,630,358)

	
	
	
	

	Loss per share – basic and diluted
	 
	(0.85)
	(0.46)

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Weighted average number of shares – basic and diluted
	 
	85,306,258 
	85,306,258 


See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Foreign
	
	Total

	
	
	Share
	
	Contributed
	
	
	
	Retained Earnings
	
	Currency Translation
	
	Shareholders' (Deficiency)

	 
	 
	Capital
	 
	Surplus
	 
	Reserves
	 
	(Deficit)
	 
	Adjustment
	 
	Equity

	
	
	$
	
	$
	
	$
	
	$
	
	$
	
	$

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance, December 31, 2011
	 49,686,495 
	
	      10,469,028 
	
	 7,414,066 
	
	27,468,841
	
	    5,391,427 
	
	    100,429,857 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Share-based compensation
	                    - 
	
	          356,612 
	
	                - 
	
	-
	
	                     - 
	
	            356,612 

	
	Comprehensive loss
	                    - 
	
	                     - 
	
	                 - 
	
	  (39,279,495)
	
	  (2,350,863)
	
	   (41,630,358)

	Balance, December 31, 2012
	 49,686,495 
	 
	      10,825,640 
	 
	 7,414,066 
	 
	  (11,810,654)
	 
	    3,040,564 
	 
	       59,156,111 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Share-based compensation
	 - 
	
	  10,999 
	
	 - 
	
	-
	
	  - 
	
	  10,999

	
	Comprehensive income (loss)
	                    - 
	
	                      - 
	
	                 - 
	
	   (72,511,710)
	
	4,601,731
	
	(67,909,979)

	Balance, December 31, 2013
	 49,686,495 
	 
	      10,836,639 
	 
	 7,414,066 
	 
	(84,322,364)
	 
	7,642,295
	 
	(8,742,869)


See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

	
	Note
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	OPERATING ACTIVITIES
	
	
	

	Net loss
	
	(72,511,710)
	(39,279,495)

	Items not involving cash:
	
	
	

	Impairment of assets
	
	30,044,793
	-

	
Interest expenses/accretion
	
	3,222,489
	387,557

	
Allowance for doubtful accounts
	
	2,496,647
	10,218,668

	
Deferred income tax expense
	
	809,216
	523,096

	
Amortization of property, plant and equipment
	
	14,141,589
	7,340,819

	
Stock based compensation
	
	10,999
	356,612

	
	
	(21,785,977)
	(20,452,743)

	Changes in other assets and liabilities:
	
	
	

	
Trade receivables
	
	(2,468,442)
	4,174,150

	
Other receivables
	
	2,070,678
	785,175

	
Inventories
	
	6,671,034
	7,884,806

	
Deposit and prepaid expenses
	
	(197,390)
	196,847

	
Accounts payable
	
	(4,767,207)
	4,177,482

	
Accrued liabilities and customer deposits
	
	(4,469,034)
	5,458,308

	
Taxes receivable
	
	-
	129,355

	Cash provided by (used in) operating activities
	
	(24,946,338)
	2,353,380

	
	
	
	
	

	INVESTING ACTIVITIES
	
	
	

	Cash and restricted cash acquired on acquisition of Tieling
	1
	282,969
	(388,835)

	Additions to construction deposits
	
	(47,670)
	-

	Acquisitions of plant and equipment
	
	(2,894,551)
	(5,719,525)

	Restricted cash acquired on acquisition of Tieling
	1
	22,068,200
	-

	Restricted cash
	
	2,904,305
	(6,101,776)

	Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
	
	22,313,253
	(12,210,136)

	
	
	
	
	

	FINANCING ACTIVITIES
	
	
	

	Proceeds from short term loans
	
	221,748,888
	132,246,348

	Repayment of short term loans
	
	(238,746,581)
	(127,050,389)

	Repayment of long term loan
	
	(3,326,569)
	(3,172,136)

	Proceeds of loans from unrelated parties
	
	339,995,719
	5,551,238

	Repayment of loans from unrelated parties
	
	(320,688,780)
	(2,379,102)

	Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
	
	(1,017,323)
	5,195,959

	
	
	
	
	

	Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash
	
	256,602
	(875,536)

	
	
	
	
	

	Decrease in cash
	
	(3,393,806)
	(5,536,333)

	Cash, beginning of year
	
	5,043,183
	10,579,516

	Cash, end of year
	
	1,649,377
	5,043,183

	
	
	
	
	

	Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
	
	
	

	Cash paid for interest
	
	8,992,009
	7,910,221

	Cash paid for income taxes
	
	-
	-


See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. (the "Company" or "Asia Bio-Chem") was incorporated under the Laws of the Province of British Columbia on October 5, 2005.  The Company maintains its primary operations office at B1908 Fengtian Yinzuo, 19 Youhao Street, Shenhe District, Shenyang, Liaoning, China 110013.  The Company’s operations are through its subsidiaries in Changtu, Daqing and Tieling cities, which are located in Liaoning and Heilongjiang Provinces in People’s Republic of China.

On September 20, 2010, the Company graduated from the TSX Venture Exchange to the Toronto Stock Exchange (see also Note 24(g)).

Through its subsidiaries in People's Republic of China, the Company's primary business is the manufacturing, packaging and sale of corn starch, germ, fibre and gluten manufactured from raw corn using various chemical processes.  For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company has incurred a gross loss of $5,812,251 (2012 – $8,202,983).  It has also incurred a net loss of $72,511,710 (2012 - $39,279,495). As at December 31, 2013, the Company had accumulated losses of $84,322,364 (2012 – $11,810,654).  The Company has experienced significant losses since 2011 on the manufacture and sale of its products primarily due to depressed pricing for starch. This raises significant uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  The Company’s ability to continue its operations as intended are dependent on its ability to obtain necessary financing and raise capital sufficient to attain profitable operations. 

Management has taken steps to address these conditions including temporarily suspending production during certain periods at its plants, reduction of production and other costs, and addressing its operating decision making.  Management is working with its customers and its suppliers to manage the high cost of raw corn and the low selling prices for manufactured starch.  Management is also working with its banks to ensure the Company continues to have sufficient liquidity to operate at its reduced level of production.  The Company’s future return to profitability is dependent on the management’s ability to effectively implement these measures as well as on future raw corn costs and the market prices of starch and other related products in the market.  Many of these factors are beyond the direct control of the Company’s management and depend on government policy and future government intervention in certain markets.

These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
Acquisition of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd.

On December 22, 2012, the Company entered into a binding agreement (“Acquisition Agreement”) to acquire from Cheerful Dragon Asia Limited (“CDAL”) a 100% interest in the share capital of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. (“Tieling”), a wholly foreign owned enterprise under the laws of the PRC.  Tieling owns and previously operated a corn starch plant located in Tieling, Liaonjing Province, Peoples Republic of China.  This plant ceased production operations in June 2012, prior to the Company’s acquisition of the plant, and was idle as at January 1, 2013.  On January 1, 2013, the Company acquired all of the share capital of Tieling including all the assets comprising the starch plant, buildings and equipment of Tieling (the “Acquisition”) for a purchase price defined in the Acquisition Agreement as RMB 280,000,000.  The Acquisition is considered a business combination under the provisions of the IFRS 3 Business Combinations and the purchase price paid as defined in the Acquisition Agreement is comprised as follows:

	
	$
	RMB

	Promissory note due one year after the completion of closing
	4,728,900
	30,000,000

	Accounts receivable of the Company from certain customers 
	38,014,500
	241,162,635

	Prepaid corn deposit made by the Company
	1,393,000
	8,837,365

	Purchase price defined in the Acquisition Agreement
	44,136,400
	280,000,000


1.
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (continued)

Acquisition of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. (continued)
The Company acquired Tieling in order to increase its market share in the corn processing market in Northern China.  The acquisition of Tieling represents an opportunity to grow the Company’s annual corn processing capacity by approximately 600,000 tons.  The corn processing plant is located in Tieling City in Liaoning Province, Peoples Republic of China.  It includes all necessary licences to operate the corn starch plant facilities.  As the Acquisition of Tieling by the Company was a transaction between non-related parties and resulted in all of the equity interests in Tieling being acquired and controlled by the Company after the transaction, Tieling’s assets and liabilities were revalued as at January 1, 2013, by assigning the fair values to all of Tieling’s identifiable assets and obligations at the time of the Acquisition as a business.

The fair values of the assets and obligations of Tieling have been reflected in the Company’s balance sheet as of January 1, 2013 and consolidated with Asia Bio-Chem from that date forward.  The fair values of the note payable, accounts receivable and prepaid corn deposit transferred to CDAL as consideration on January 1, 2013 were as follows:

	
	$
	RMB

	Promissory note due one year after the completion of closing
	4,341,356
	27,541,432

	Accounts receivable of the Company from certain customers 
	27,061,694
	171,678,575

	Prepaid corn deposit made by the Company
	657,898
	4,173,687

	Fair value of consideration paid
	32,060,948
	203,393,694


The allocation of the fair value of the consideration paid to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as determined by an independent valuator, were as follows:

	
	$
	RMB

	Assets acquired:
	
	

	   Cash and restricted cash
	22,351,169
	141,795,149

	   Marketable securities
	204,919
	1,300,000

	   Trade and other receivables
	13,578,309
	86,140,385

	   Inventory
	587,133
	3,724,753

	   Prepaid and deposits
	206,612
	1,310,741

	   Property, plant and equipment
	49,727,217
	315,467,974

	   Intangible assets – land use rights
	20,266,237
	128,568,400

	   Licenses
	1,980,000
	12,561,062

	
	108,901,596
	690,868,464

	Less: liabilities assumed:
	
	

	   Accounts payable
	3,083,338
	19,560,606

	   Other payables
	4,606,289
	29,222,161

	   Short-term loans
	64,355,342
	408,268,366

	   Deferred tax liabilities
	6,988,339
	44,333,807

	
	79,033,308
	501,384,940

	Net assets acquired
	29,868,288
	189,483,524

	Goodwill
	2,192,660
	13,910,170

	Fair value of consideration paid
	32,060,948
	203,393,694


Of the face value of $38,014,500 (RMB 241,162,635) accounts receivable transferred to CDAL as consideration for the acquisition, an impairment of $10,952,806 (RMB 69,484,060) had been recorded as allowances for doubtful accounts between fiscal 2010 and 2012.  In addition, for the face value $1,393,000 (RMB 8,837,365) in prepaid corn deposits transferred, $735,102 (RMB 4,663,678) had also been recorded as impairment allowance during the year ended December 31, 2012.

1.
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (continued)

Acquisition of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. (continued)
As a result of the allocation of the fair values, goodwill of $2,192,660 (RMB 13,910,170) has been recognized and recorded on January 1, 2013.  The goodwill is considered generally to include the value related to the ability of the acquirer to control additional corn starch processing capacity in Northern China which may enhance the acquirer’s ability to influence the purchase cost for raw corn and the selling price for corn starch and related by-products because it may be able to control a larger share of the local market.  None of this goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes.  The Company’s main reasons for completing this acquisition were to acquire additional corn processing plant capacity, to ultimately control a larger share of the corn processing market in Northern China, to obtain the corn processing and sweetener processing licenses held by Tieling, to eliminate a competitor from the market, and to take advantage of an opportunity to acquire additional plant capacity at a cost significantly below what the cost would be to construct it.  In addition, it offered the Company a solution to realize on its overdue trade receivables.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, Tieling generated $50,777 in revenue from selling inventory since it has not been in operation since June 2012.  For the year ended December 31, 2013, Tieling incurred a net loss of $15,865,116 which has been included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

The trade and other receivables acquired include various amounts due from former customers and other parties.  The amount presented in the list of acquired assets represents the fair value which is also the contractual amount and estimated cash flows that are expected to be collected as at the acquisition date.

See also Note 24(h) which describes additional information related to the closing of the acquisition.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements represent the annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

These consolidated financial statements were reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 30, 2014.

Change in accounting policies

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company adopted the following accounting policies effective January 1, 2013:

a)
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - requires entities to provide additional information about offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities that will enable users of financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with an entity's recognized financial assets and recognized financial liabilities, on the entity's financial position. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

b)
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. IFRS 10 replaced SIC-12, Consolidation-Special Purpose Entities, and parts of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

c)
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, and unconsolidated structured entities. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

2.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Change in accounting policies (continued)

d)
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. The adoption of this IFRS did not require any adjustments to the valuation techniques used by the Company to measure fair value and did not result in any measurement adjustments as at January 1, 2013. 

e)
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, has been amended to require entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) into two groups, based on whether or not items may be recycled to net income in the future. Entities that choose to present OCI items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately including prior year comparatives. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Use of estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions about the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities, and the results of operations. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include the recognition of revenue, allowance for doubtful receivables, obsolescence of inventories, useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment, land use rights and intangible assets, particularly as it relates to the estimates made by the valuator in determining the cash flows and other assumptions used to estimate net recoverable amounts for these items, determination of accrued liabilities, deferred income tax assets and liabilities, determination of the value of assets received and allocation of the consideration paid for the business combination, and stock based compensation. Actual results could differ from the estimates made.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and further periods if the review affects both current and future periods.

Use of judgements
Critical accounting judgements are accounting policies that have been identified as being complex or involving subjective judgements or assessments with a significant risk of material adjustment in the year:

(i)
Going concern

The assessment of the Company’s ability to execute its strategy by effectively operating the Company involves judgement.  Management closely monitors the operations and cash flows in the Company.  Further information regarding going concern is outlined in Note 1.

(ii)
Acquisition of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd.

The determination of the date on which the Company acquired control of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. (“Tieling”) involves judgement about the date at which management obtained control of the acquired company and requires management to consider various factors determining control.  Management has determined that it obtained control on January 1, 2013.

(iii)
Determination of the treatment and allocation of purchase consideration for the acquisition of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. including determination of when control was acquired.
The determination of the purchase consideration and its allocation to the assets and obligations assumed requires both management judgement and estimation since the purchase price is comprised substantially of non-cash consideration.   In addition, although Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. was not operating at the time it was acquired, in management’s judgement, the acquisition meets the conditions for a business combination and it has been disclosed as such.

(iv)
Determination of impairment

The determination of the assets impairment Daqing and Tieling requires significant judgement from the valuator and the management.  The approach, estimates and assumptions used in the calculations are highly subjective.  Future forecasts for corn and starch prices are the key drivers of the Company’s financial forecasts which ultimately determine the value of the Company’s cash generating units and any resulting impairment.  These forecasts require significant management judgement.

2.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Use of judgements (continued)
(v)
Income taxes

Management exercises judgment to determine the extent to which deferred tax assets are recoverable, and can therefore be recognized in the statements of financial position and comprehensive income or loss.

Going concern

These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments, which assumes that the Company will continue its operations for a reasonable period of time. For the year ended December 31, 2013, as outlined in Note 1, the Company has incurred a significant net loss.  Further operating losses may result in further going concern issues if they are not adequately addressed by management.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the assets and operations of Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp., Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd. (BVI), Chang Tu Bio-Chem Technology Co. Ltd. (PRC) (“Changtu”), Daqing Biochemical Company Ltd. (PRC) (“Daqing”) and Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. (PRC) (“Tieling”).

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the consolidated financial statements did not include Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd.

All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of any applicable discounts, and after eliminating intercompany sales. The Company bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

The Company recognizes revenues from sales of goods when they are shipped to the customer, which is when the Company can measure the amount of revenue reliably, the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer and the Company no longer retains control over the goods sold.

Product shipped to third parties in anticipation of sales is considered part of inventory until the product is shipped to the customer.

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with original maturities of six months or less when purchased.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value less provisions made for doubtful receivables based on a review of period-end trade receivables, and do not carry any interest. A provision for doubtful accounts receivables is generally made when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect the amounts due according to original payment terms or when there are indications of collection issues related to specific customers. The provision for impairment of trade receivables are presented within “general and administrative” expenses.

Inventory

Inventory and raw materials are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first-in first-out basis. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any costs to complete and sell the product. An allowance for obsolete, slow-moving or defective inventories is made where necessary. 

2.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost which includes the acquisition price and any direct costs to bring the asset into productive use at its intended location.

Amortization of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to write off the cost, net of any estimated residual value, over their estimated useful lives.  The amortization periods used are as follows:

	Plant
	
	20 years

	Machinery and equipment
	
	15 years 

	Motor vehicles
	
	5 years 

	Office furniture and equipment
	
	5 years 


Intangible assets

Intangible assets consist of land use rights and certain industrial technologies.  Assets are recognized only when it is probable that the expected future economic benefits attributable to the assets will accrue to the Company and the cost can be reliably measured. Intangible assets that do not have indefinite lives are amortized over their useful lives using an amortization method which reflects the economic benefit of the intangible asset. Land use rights are amortized over the lives of the rights.  The amortization periods used are as follows:

	Land use rights
	
	50 years 

	Industrial technology
	
	10 years


Provisions

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Impairment

i) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred income tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or group of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets.  Impairment losses are recognized in net income (loss).

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortization, if no impairment loss has been recognized.

2.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment (continued)

ii)
Financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognized in net income (loss) and reflected in an allowance account against receivables.  When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through net income (loss).

Interest expense

Interest expenses for loans are calculated using the effective interest rate method. Interest expenses that are directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of manufacturing plants are included in the cost of that asset. The Company begins capitalizing interest expenses as part of the cost of manufacturing plant on the construction commencement date and ceases capitalizing interest when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete. Upfront loan administration fees are included in the determination of the loan balance and expensed as part of finance charges and interest.

Share issue costs
Professional, consulting, regulatory and other costs directly attributable to financing transactions are recorded as deferred financing costs until the financing transactions are completed, if the completion of the transaction is considered likely; otherwise they are expensed as incurred. Share issue costs are charged to share capital when the related shares are issued. Deferred financing costs related to financing transactions that are not completed are expensed.

Stock-based compensation
Compensation expense for stock option grants to employees and non-employees is based on the fair value of the stock options issued at the grant date, which is determined using the Black-Scholes Option-Pricing Model. Compensation expense for stock options granted to non-employees is recognized as the options are earned and the services are provided. Compensation expense for stock options granted to employees is amortized over the vesting period using a graded vesting assumption. Consideration paid by employees and non-employees together with the related contributed surplus on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital.

Reserve funds
The Company’s PRC subsidiaries, Changtu, Daqing, and Tieling are required to appropriate a portion of their annual profits to various statutory reserve funds in accordance with PRC regulations. These statutory reserve funds are restricted as to the distribution of dividends and other distributions (see Note 16).

Earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The Company applies the treasury stock method in calculating diluted earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share excludes all dilutive potential common shares if their effect is anti-dilutive.

2.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Government assistance

Government assistance related to the acquisition of capital expenditures is reflected as a reduction of the cost of the related assets. 

Subject to meeting any repayment obligations or operational requirements or restrictions, government assistance related to operations or cost of sales is recognized in the period in which the Company either receives the assistance, or can establish with certainty that the assistance will be received.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company received $332,657 (RMB 2,000,000) in Daqing government subsidies (2012 – $nil).  This amount has been included in other income as the grant does not contain any requirements or restrictions with which the Company must comply as a condition of receipt.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognized in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly into equity, in which case the related tax effect is recognized in equity. 

Current tax expense is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable or not deductible. Current tax expense is calculated using tax rates, laws and government policies that were enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using a temporary difference approach and is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred tax is calculated based on the expected manner in which temporary differences related to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and are expected to reverse using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date which are expected to apply in the period of reversal.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized in respect of temporary differences that arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities acquired other than in a business combination and which do not affect accounting or taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

Foreign currency translation

The reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar.

The functional currency of the parent Company and Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd. is Canadian dollar and both transact in Canadian dollars ("CAD"). The functional currency of the Company’s wholly-owned PRC subsidiaries, Changtu, Daqing and Tieling which comprise substantially all of the assets and operations, is the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company's subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the "functional currency"). Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of an entity are recognized in the income statement.

Assets and liabilities of entities with functional currencies other than Canadian dollars are translated at the year end rates of exchange, and the results of their operations are translated at average rates of exchange for the year. The resulting translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders' equity.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, an unrealized foreign exchange translation gain of $4,601,731 (2012 – $2,350,863 translation loss) was recorded under accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a result of changes in the value of the RMB with respect to the Canadian dollar.

2.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and classified upon inception into one of the following four categories: held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivables or at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized through earnings. The Company’s cash and marketable securities are classified as FVTPL. 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held to maturity assets are measured at amortized cost. The Company’s restricted cash, trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Financial assets classified as available for sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income and loss except for losses in value that are considered other than temporary which are recognized in earnings. At December 31, 2013, the Company has not classified any financial assets as available for sale. 

Transactions costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset. 

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and classified upon inception as FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. The Company’s accounts payable, short-term loans, note payable and long-term loans are classified as other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized in earnings.

New standards and interpretations
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective:

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by the IASB that are mandatory for future accounting periods. Some updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to the Company may have been excluded from the list below. 

The following standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014:

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements – In June 2012, the IASB issued an amendment to provide an exception to the consolidation requirements in IFRS 10 and required investment entities to measure changes in particular subsidiaries fair value through profit or loss, rather than consolidate the subsidiaries. This amendment also set out disclosure requirements for investment entities. This amendment also impacts IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in other entities and IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements.
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - In December 2011, the IASB issued an amendment to clarify the meaning of the offsetting criterion and the principle behind net settlement, including identifying when some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. Earlier application is permitted when applied with corresponding amendment to IFRS 7.

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets – In May 2013, the IASB issued an amendment to address the disclosure of information about the recoverable amount of impaired assets if that amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal.

2.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
New standards and interpretations (continued)
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – In June 2013, the IASB issued a narrow scope amendment to IAS 39. Under the amendment, there would be no need to discontinue hedge accounting if a hedging derivative was novated, provided that certain criteria are met.

IFRIC 21 Levies – IFRIC 21 provides guidance on when to recognise a liability for a levy imposed by a government, both for levies that are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and those where the timing and amount of the levy is certain.

The following standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - In November 2009, as part of the IASB project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the IASB issued the first phase of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, that introduces new  requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. The standard was revised in October 2010 to include requirements regarding classification and measurement of financial liabilities.
The extent of the impact of adoption of these standards and interpretations on the financial statements of the Company has not been determined.
3. OTHER RECEIVABLES

	
	
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	Advances to employees
	
	1,971,133
	816,176

	Taxes recoverable
	
	532,378
	1,298,219

	Loan receivable from an unrelated party
	
	8,753,042
	-

	Other advances
	
	2,983,272
	167,162

	 
	
	14,239,825
	2,281,557


The loan receivable due from an unrelated party is non-interest bearing and is recoverable on demand.

4. INVENTORY

	
	
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	Raw materials
	
	4,358,317
	4,878,897

	Finished product
	
	2,865,683
	7,784,992

	
	
	7,224,000
	12,663,889


The Company’s finished goods are pledged as security against a loan described in Note 10(g).

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company impaired $542,689 in finished goods to reflect the net realizable value (2012 - $nil).

5. DEPOSITS AND PREPAID EXPENSES

	
	
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	Corn deposit
	
	538,099
	1,222,660

	Prepaid income taxes
	
	61,356
	55,243

	Other
	
	1,718,018
	1,074,429

	
	
	2,317,473
	2,352,332


The corn deposit of $538,099 (RMB 3,073,782) is a deposit with an agent for purchasing corn.  The Company regularly advances deposits in order to secure the supply and fix the purchase price of future corn deliveries.   

6. CONSTRUCTION DEPOSITS

The construction deposits of $9,220,359 (RMB 52,669,459) at December 31, 2013 include $282,347 (RMB 1,612,853) related to the Changtu plant second phase expansion for an additional 600,000 tonnes of corn processing capacity, $7,158,237 (RMB 40,890,000) related to the Daqing down stream project, $4,436,647 (RMB 25,343,456) related to prepayments of VAT to contractors for Daqing plant construction, which has been completed but not yet invoiced by the contractors.  Due to the prolonged collection period of the VAT, the Company has recorded an accumulated provision of $2,656,872 (RMB 15,176,850) for prepayments of VAT of which $2,105,001 (RMB 12,024,400) has been recorded in the general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2013. Upon receiving the invoices from the contractors, the prepayments related to VAT will be transferred to VAT taxes recoverable and recovered as part of the Company’s VAT filing.
7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At December 31, 2013, the Company assessed its market capitalization compared to the carrying amounts of its long lived assets and considered that certain of these assets may be impaired.  Accordingly, the Company undertook a valuation of its cash generating units with the assistance of an independent valuator, and determined that certain assets within the Daqing and Tieling cash generating units had become impaired as follows:

	
	Construction

in Progress
	Building
	Machinery

and Equipment
	Total

	
	$
	$
	$
	$

	Daqing
	1,765,007
	6,574,997
	15,405,826
	23,745,830

	Tieling
	-
	670,627
	994,260
	1,664,887

	
	1,765,007
	7,245,624
	16,400,086
	25,410,717


The recoverable amounts estimated for Changtu and Daqing were based on five-year projected cash flows, and a terminal value in each case, on a value-in-use basis.  Discount rates of 21.94% and 21.44% and long term growth rates of 1.5% and 1% for Changtu and Daqing, respectively, were used to determine the present values of these cash generating units.

The recoverable amount estimated for Tieling was based on fair value less costs to sell as this plant had not been operated since being acquired.  The recoverable amount was estimated with reference to earlier transactions involving similar assets using the net asset method.

The recoverable amount of Changtu as a cash generating unit was determined to be $35,422,369, which was higher than the carrying amount of the unit, accordingly no impairment was required for that unit.

The recoverable amount of Daqing as a cash generating unit was determined to be $76,215,288, which was $23,745,830 less than the carrying amount of the unit, accordingly, the assets in that unit were impaired by that amount as shown above, prorated primarily to depreciable long lived assets, other than the land use rights, based on previous net carrying amounts.

The carrying amount for Tieling was determined to be $67,304,399, which was $6,298,963 less than the carrying amount, including its license intangibles and goodwill.  The key assumptions used included the equipment being transferable to another location and that selling and disposition costs would range between 5 and 10% of the proceeds.  The values determined were based on level 3 inputs which are not generally considered readily observable.  The impairment was allocated first to the goodwill, then to the production licences, which were completely written off (see Note 8), with the remaining balance being allocated to building and machinery as outlined above.
7.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
	
	Construction in progress
	Plant
	Machinery and equipment
	Vehicles
	Office furniture and equipment
	Software
	Leasehold improvement
	Total

	
	$
	$
	$
	$
	$
	$
	$
	$

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2011
	2,721,826
	38,275,136
	74,944,955
	536,300
	161,820
	29,532
	8,127
	116,677,696

	Additions/Transfer
	2,064,071
	2,179,863
	1,284,146
	162,403
	34,956
	- 
	-
	5,725,439

	Disposals
	-
	-
	(10,151)
	-
	 (251)
	-
	-
	 (10,402)

	Foreign exchange movement
	(85,685)
	(1,037,374)
	(2,012,546)
	(9,715)
	(4,106)
	(790)
	-
	(3,150,216)

	December 31, 2012
	4,700,212
	39,417,625
	74,206,404
	688,988
	192,419
	28,742
	8,127
	119,242,517

	Acquisition of Tieling
	- 
	20,314,483 
	50,591,303 
	       33,544 
	     273,626 
	       11,665 
	                - 
	  71,224,621 

	Additions/Transfer
	1,586,452 
	78,158 
	1,247,001 
	                - 
	         1,562 
	                - 
	                - 
	    2,913,173 

	Disposals
	-
	- 
	- 
	      (34,095)
	        (1,227)
	                - 
	        (8,127)
	        (43,449)

	Foreign exchange movement
	604,586 
	6,600,465 
	13,871,461 
	       54,820 
	       49,757 
	         4,471 
	                - 
	  21,185,560 

	December 31, 2013
	6,891,250 
	66,410,731 
	139,916,169 
	     743,257 
	     516,137 
	       44,878 
	                - 
	 214,522,422 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accumulated amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2011
	-
	4,057,046
	10,457,072
	246,270
	78,834
	10,850
	8,127
	14,858,199

	Additions
	-
	1,937,511
	4,946,163
	111,223
	33,206
	2,933
	-
	7,031,036

	Disposals
	-
	-
	(4,263)
	-
	(226)
	-
	-
	(4,489)

	Foreign exchange movement
	-
	(120,608)
	(310,547)
	(4,572)
	(2,110)
	(309)
	-
	(438,146)

	December 31, 2012
	-
	5,873,949
	15,088,425
	352,921
	109,704
	13,474
	8,127
	21,446,600

	Acquisition of Tieling
	-
	  1,606,214 
	   19,771,604 
	       23,558 
	       90,876 
	         5,152 
	                - 
	21,497,404 

	Additions
	-
	  3,136,026 
	   10,037,855 
	     134,012 
	       68,002 
	         4,306 
	                - 
	13,380,201 

	Disposals
	-
	                - 
	                  - 
	      (25,339)
	        (1,087)
	                - 
	        (8,127)
	        (34,553)

	Foreign exchange movement
	-
	992,347
	4,383,244
	       30,364 
	       24,411 
	         2,288 
	                - 
	5,432,654

	December 31, 2013
	-
	11,608,536
	49,281,128
	     515,516 
	     291,906 
	       25,220 
	                - 
	61,722,306

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accumulated impairment provision
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2012
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Impairment provision
	1,765,007
	7,425,625
	16,400,086
	-
	-
	-
	-
	25,410,717

	December 31, 2013
	1,765,007
	7,425,625
	16,400,086
	-
	-
	-
	-
	25,410,717

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2012
	4,700,212
	33,543,676
	59,117,979
	336,067
	82,715
	15,268
	-
	97,795,917

	December 31, 2013
	5,126,243
	47,556,570
	74,234,955
	     227,741 
	     224,231 
	       19,658 
	                - 
	127,389,398


8. LAND USE RIGHTS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

	
	Land use rights
	Intangible assets
	Goodwill

	
	$
	$
	$

	Cost
	
	
	

	December 31, 2011
	12,505,457
	608,927
	-

	Foreign exchange movement
	(334,488)
	(16,288)
	-

	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2012
	12,170,969
	592,639
	-

	Acquisition of Tieling
	20,582,233 
	1,980,000 
	2,192,660

	Impairment
	-
	(2,198,950)
	(2,435,126)

	Foreign exchange movement
	3,623,000
	284,540
	242,466

	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2013
	36,376,202
	658,229
	-

	
	
	
	

	Accumulated amortization
	
	
	

	December 31, 2011
	1,143,928
	57,061
	-

	Additions
	250,146
	59,637
	-

	Foreign exchange movement
	(32,158)
	(1,898)
	-

	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2012
	1,361,916
	114,800
	-

	Additions
	696,685
	62,540
	-

	Acquisition of Tieling
	315,995
	-
	-

	Foreign exchange movement
	222,249
	15,989
	-

	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2013
	2,596,845
	193,329
	-

	
	
	
	

	Accumulated impairment provision
	
	
	

	December 31, 2012
	-
	-
	-

	Impairment provision
	-
	2,198,950
	2,435,126

	December 31, 2013
	-
	2,198,950
	2,435,126

	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	

	December 31, 2012
	10,809,053
	477,839
	-

	December 31, 2013
	33,779,357
	464,900
	-


The intangible assets comprised of starch and sweetener production licenses, which were acquired as part of the Tieling acquisition were impaired by the Company at December 31, 2013 as a result of the valuation work described in Note 7.  The goodwill related to the Tieling acquisition was also impaired based on this valuation.  The impairment provision for these assets as comprised of:

	
	
	
	$

	Intangible assets
	
	
	2,198,950

	Goodwill
	
	
	2,435,126

	
	
	
	4,634,076


8.
LAND USE RIGHTS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)
Land use rights
Changtu acquired the land use rights for a piece of land near Changtu, Liaoning, China on June 10, 2004 for $3,798,820 (RMB 21,700,000) on which Changtu’s plant was situated.  In August 2010, the PRC Government granted approximately 190,000 square metres of land with a fair value of approximately $6,652,312 (RMB 38,000,000) to Changtu at substantially no cost to the Company, provided a plant is constructed on the site.  During 2010, Changtu moved its plant to the new location and commenced operations at that site in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Daqing acquired the land use rights for a piece of land near Daqing, Heilongjiang, China in November 2007 for a cost of RMB 46,080,000, on which Daqing built its processing plant. In accordance with the tax agreement between the PRC Government and Daqing, the PRC Government would reimburse the Company for its cost to acquire the land use rights once the cost amount is fully paid by the Company.  In December 2007 and January 2008, the PRC Government reimbursed a total of RMB 46,000,000 to Daqing.  On September 13, 2008, the Company acquired Daqing’s land use rights with a fair value of $14,116,906 (RMB 80,640,000).

Tieling acquired the land use rights for a piece of land near Changtu, Liaoning, China in July 2006 for a cost of RMB 30,752,000, on which Tieling built its processing plant. On January 1, 2013, the Company acquired the land use right with a fair value of $20,266,237 (RMB 128,568,400).  This acquisition is pending PRC Government approval (see also Note 24).

Intangible assets
During 2011, the Company acquired certain technology rights, which allowed the Company to be more efficient and reduced waste during production.  The technology rights are indefinite, however, management estimates that the technology will become obsolete in approximately 10 years.  Accordingly, the technology rights are amortized over 10 years based on the estimated useful life of these rights.  These rights were not considered impaired at December 31, 2013.
On January 1, 2013, the Company acquired a license to operate a corn starch and sugar manufacturing facility as part of the acquisition of Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. as described in Note 1. The license had a fair value of $1,980,000 (RMB 12,561,062) on the date of acquisition. Since the license is considered to have an indefinite useful life, no amortization has been recorded accordingly. 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company determined, based on a valuation performed by an independent valuator, that the corn starch and sugar processing licenses had become impaired as the Company did not put the Tieling plant into operation.

Goodwill

The goodwill was recognized as part of the Tieling plant acquisition (see Note 1).  Since the Company did not put the Tieling plant into production, the valuation referred to above also determined the goodwill to be impaired during the year ended December 31, 2013.
9. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

	
	
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	Customer deposits
	
	9,032,037
	11,639,645

	Construction related payables
	
	3,692,587
	4,463,012

	Accrued freight expense
	
	2,305,818
	2,258,117

	Other accrued liabilities
	
	8,079,394
	941,858

	
	
	23,109,836
	19,302,632


As at December 31, 2013, included in other accrued liabilities is $898,302 (RMB 5,131,370) of accrued interest (December 31, 2012 - $nil). 
10. SHORT-TERM LOANS AND RESTRICTED CASH

	
	2013
	2012

	Lender
	Maturity date
	Face value
	Carrying

value
	Effective annual interest
	Carrying

value

	Working Capital Loans:
	
	RMB
	$
	rate
	$

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Yingkou Bank (Notes 10(a) & 24(a))
	January 16, 2014
	30,000,000
	5,251,826
	7.80%
	7,880,839

	Harbin Bank (Notes 10(a) & 24(b))
	March 21, 2014
	45,000,000
	7,877,738
	7.20%
	4,728,505

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	April 22, 2014
	10,000,000
	1,750,608
	6.00%
	4,728,505

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	April 17, 2014
	10,000,000
	1,750,608
	6.00%
	3,152,337

	Huaxia Bank (Note 10(a))
	August 6, 2014
	807,000
	141,274
	6.60%
	-

	Guangdong Development Bank (Note 10(a))
	September 22, 2014
	30,000,000
	5,251,825
	6.80%
	-

	Private short-term loan
	No fixed maturity
	    40,000,000
	7,002,433
	-
	-

	Private short-term loan
	No fixed maturity
	7,000,000
	1,225,426
	-
	-

	China Construction Bank (Note 10(b))
	November 24, 2014
	100,000,000
	17,506,084
	6.90%
	31,268,028

	China Construction Bank (Note 10(b))
	December 1, 2014
	100,000,000
	17,506,084
	6.90%
	

	Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. (Note 10(c))
	October 13, 2014
	29,000,000
	5,076,764
	6.90%
	3,782,804

	Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. (Notes 10(a) &(g))
	October 15, 2014
	11,000,000
	1,925,668
	6.90%
	788,084

	Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. 
	-
	-
	-
	-
	2,049,019

	China Construction Bank (Note 24(c))
	March 17, 2014
	40,000,000
	7,002,433
	6.30%
	-

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	June 7, 2014
	10,000,000
	1,750,608
	6.60%
	-

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	June 16, 2014
	10,000,000
	1,750,608
	6.60%
	-

	CITIC Bank (Note 10(a))
	June 26, 2014
	50,000,000
	8,753,042
	7.80%
	-

	CITIC Bank
	July 18, 2014
	50,000,000
	8,753,042
	7.80%
	-

	SPD Bank (Notes 10(a) & (d))
	August 20, 2014
	30,000,000
	5,251,825
	6.60%
	-

	SPD Bank 
	August 15, 2014
	30,000,000
	5,251,825
	5.90%
	-

	SPD Bank (Note 10(d))
	August 1, 2014
	20,000,000
	3,501,217
	5.90%
	-

	Bank of China (Note 24(a))
	February 4, 2014 
	19,999,471
	3,501,124
	6.81%
	-

	Bank of China (Note 24(a))
	February 28, 2014
	10,000,000
	1,750,608
	7.36%
	-

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	June 9, 2014
	15,000,000
	2,625,913
	6.16%
	-

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	June 14, 2014
	5,000,000
	875,304
	6.56%
	-

	Private short-term loan (Notes 10(e) & 24(d))
	February 28, 2014
	30,000,000
	5,251,825
	-
	3,152,337

	Private short-term loans (Note 10(f))
	No fixed maturity
	68,865,000
	12,055,564
	-
	-

	Fuxin Bank (Note 10(a))
	October 29, 2014
	60,000,000
	10,503,650
	9.00%
	-

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	April 27, 2014
	10,000,000
	1,750,608
	6.00%
	-

	SPD Bank (Note 10(a))
	April 25, 2014
	20,000,000
	3,501,217
	6.00%
	-

	Loans from employees
	No fixed maturity 
	1,525,000
	266,968
	-
	-

	Loans from unrelated parties
	No fixed maturity
	1,667,809
	291,968
	-
	-

	Subtotal
	
	
	156,655,687
	
	61,530,458


	
	2013
	2012

	Lender
	Maturity date
	Face value
	Restricted Cash Pledged as Security
	Carrying 

value
	Carrying

value

	Banker’s Acceptances:
	
	RMB
	$
	$
	$

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Yingkou Bank (Note 24(e))
	February 13, 2014
	50,000,000
	4,376,521
	8,705,708
	7,827,429

	Harbin Bank (Note 24(e))
	January 24, 2014
	10,000,000
	1,750,608
	1,745,938
	11,482,482

	SPD Bank 
	May 14, 2014
	40,000,000
	3,501,217
	6,878,096
	3,105,020

	Harbin Bank
	April 15, 2014
	18,000,000
	3,151,095
	3,107,682
	

	Fuxin Bank (Note 24(f))
	March 26, 2014
	12,000,000
	1,050,365
	2,077,516
	-

	Fuxin Bank (Note 24(f))
	March 25, 2014
	48,000,000
	4,201,460
	8,311,215
	-

	SPD Bank
	May 5, 2014
	40,000,000
	3,501,217
	6,886,729
	18,494,260

	SPD Bank loan (Note 10 (d))
	-
	-
	9,278,225
	-
	-

	Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. (Note 10 (g))
	-
	1,925,668
	-
	-

	Longjiang Bank
	-
	-
	-
	-
	4,693,187

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subtotal
	
	
	32,736,376
	37,712,884
	45,602,378

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	
	
	
	194,368,571
	107,132,836


10.
SHORT-TERM LOANS (continued)

(a) These bank loans are guaranteed by various unrelated companies and are secured by various assets in Changtu or Daqing as stipulated by the bank agreements.
(b) The debt covenants for the China Construction Bank loan require that the debt to asset ratio for Daqing must be less than 75% and the current ratio for Daqing must be higher than 0.7.  As at December 31, 2013, the Company did not meet these debt covenants.  China Construction Bank has not requested early repayments as a result of this breach.

(c) This bank loan is guaranteed by the CEO of the Company and another unrelated company.

(d) These bank loans of $5,251,825 (RMB 30,000,000) and $3,501,217 (RMB 20,000,000) obtained from SPD bank are secured by $9,278,224 (RMB 53,000,000) of restricted cash deposits.

(e) Daqing borrowed a short-term unsecured working capital loan of $5,251,825 (RMB 30,000,000) from an unrelated individual. According to the terms of the agreement, the Company is obligated to purchase a minimum of 12,000 tonnes of corn per month. Interest expense of RMB 30 is charged per tonne of corn purchased per month before October 21, 2013, after October 21, 2013, the interest charge is changed to RMB 75 per tonne of corn purchased (see also Note 22(d)).

(f) Daqing obtained loans of $12,055,564 (RMB 68,865,000) from five unrelated parties. The loans are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

(g) The bank loan of $1,925,669 (RMB 11,000,000) obtained from Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. by Daqing is secured by $1,925,668 (RMB 11,000,000) of restricted cash deposits at Changtu.
(h) Total interest expense incurred for the short-term loans for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $11,659,894 (December 31, 2012 - $5,219,361).

11. LONG-TERM LOANS

The long-term loans consist of:

	
	
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	Government loan
	
	10,099,504
	8,466,863

	China Construction Bank loan
	
	4,995,255
	7,606,332

	
	
	
	

	
	
	15,094,759
	16,073,195

	Less current portion
	
	(11,850,112)
	(3,152,337)

	
	
	3,244,647
	12,920,858


Government Loan:

As of September 30, 2013, the Company had received $10,503,650 (RMB 60,000,000) as a portion of its long-term government loan facility. An additional amount of $7,002,433 (RMB 40,000,000) is under negotiation with the PRC government. The non-interest bearing long-term government loan facility charges a 1% administrative fee paid upfront. The loan matures 5 years from the date of receipt and is due in several tranches between March and September 2014.  The Company is required to repay $10,503,650 (RMB 60,000,000) by September 30, 2014, which carrying value has been classified to the current portion of long-term loans.  Based on an effective interest rate of 7.2% per annum, the carrying value of this loan at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 is as follows:

	
	
	2013
	2012

	
	
	$
	$

	
	
	
	

	Fair value at issuance
	
	7,352,555
	6,619,907

	Interest accretion
	
	2,746,949
	1,846,956

	
	
	
	

	Balance
	
	10,099,504
	8,466,863


11.
LONG-TERM LOANS (continued)
China Construction Bank Loan:

On June 2, 2009, the Company obtained a loan of $17,506,083 (RMB 100,000,000) from China Construction Bank at an annual interest rate of 5.94% for construction of the Daqing processing plant and paid a related loan fee of $759,764 (RMB 4,340,000).  The loan is secured by certain real property and machinery in Daqing with a carrying value of approximately $20,552,002 (RMB 117,399,200).  The loan matures on June 1, 2015. Based on an effective interest rate of 7.97% per annum, the carrying value of the remaining loan at December 31, 2013 was $4,995,255. The Company has repaid $13,533,631 (RMB 70,000,000) as of December 31, 2013 and is required to repay $875,304 (RMB 5,000,000) each on June 1, 2014 and September 1, 2014, which has been classified in the current portion of long-term loans.

Total interest expense incurred for the long-term loans for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $1,280,683 (December 31, 2012 - $1,334,351).

12. NOTE PAYABLE

The unsecured, non-interest bearing promissory note has a face value of $5,251,825 (RMB 30,000,000) and is due twelve months from the completion of title transfer of the Tieling plant (see Note 1). Based on an effective interest rate of 5.87% per annum and an estimated maturity term of 18 months, at December 31, 2013, the fair value of the note is $4,601,128 (see also Note 24).

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has identified its directors and senior officers as its key management personnel.  No post-employment benefits, other long-term benefits and termination benefits were made during the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.  Short-term key management compensation consists of the following for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

	Transactions:
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Directors fees
	82,000
	82,000

	
	
	

	Management fees:
	
	

	    Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
	341,000
	331,049

	    Chief Financial Officer
	106,431
	102,082

	    Executive Vice President
	80,000
	160,000

	
	
	

	Share-based compensation:
	
	

	    Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
	1,153
	8,671

	    Chief Financial Officer
	980
	32,534

	    Executive Vice President
	490
	110,360

	    Directors
	2,943
	6,767

	
	
	

	
	614,997
	833,463


The Company had the following balances and transactions with directors, executive officers or companies controlled by these officers:
	Balances:
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Accounts payable:
	
	

	    President and Chief Executive Officer
	10,849
	21,744

	    Chief Financial Officer
	10,407
	1,810

	
	
	

	Accrued liabilities:
	
	

	    Directors fees
	20,500
	20,500


14. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized:

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of voting common shares without par value.

Issued and outstanding:

	
	Number of

Common Shares
	
	Amount

	
	
	
	$

	Balance, December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013
	85,306,258
	
	49,686,495


Stock options

	
	Underlying

Shares
	Weighted Average Exercise Price

	 
	
	 

	Stock options outstanding, December 31, 2011 and 2012
	10,335,617
	$1.14

	Granted
	1,100,000
	$0.05

	Expired
	(4,854,966)
	$1.20

	Stock options outstanding, December 31, 2013
	6,580,651
	$0.92


Details of stock options outstanding:

	Expiry Date
	Exercise Price
	Stock Options Outstanding 
	Stock Options 

Exercisable and Vested 

	
	
	
	

	May 28, 2014
	$0.55
	841,800
	841,800

	November 13, 2014
	$1.16
	800,000
	800,000

	June 19, 2018
	$1.20
	3,838,851
	3,838,851

	February 20, 2018
	$0.05
	1,100,000
	366,300

	
	
	
	

	
	
	6,580,651
	5,846,951


As at December 31, 2013, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding stock options is 3.46 years.

The Company adopted its stock option plan under which it may grant stock options for up to 20% of the Company’s total number of shares issued and outstanding on a non-diluted basis. The stock option plan provides for the granting of stock options to regular employees and persons providing investor-relation or consulting services up to a limit of 5% and 2% respectively of the Company’s total number of issued and outstanding shares per year. The stock options vest 33% on each of the 1st to 3rd anniversary dates of grant, except for certain options granted to the Executive Vice President, which vested 25% on each of the 1st to 4th anniversary dates of grant, those issued in exchange for pre-existing Company options, which vested on grant. The option price must be greater or equal to the discounted market price on the grant date and the option term cannot exceed ten years from the grant date.

The fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2013 was calculated using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted average assumptions yielding the following weighted average grant date fair values:

	Assumptions:
	

	   Risk-free interest rate (%)
	1.33

	   Expected dividend yield (%)
	–

	   Expected option life (years)
	3.18

	   Expected stock price volatility (%)
	112.4%

	
	

	   Weighted average grant date fair value
	$ 0.04


For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $10,999 (December 31, 2012 - $356,612) related to these options.

15. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

	
	
	$

	Balance, December 31, 2011
	
	10,469,028

	Share-based compensation recognized 
	
	356,612

	
	
	

	Balance, December 31, 2012
	
	10,825,640

	Share-based compensation recognized
	
	10,999

	
	
	

	Balance, December 31, 2013
	
	10,836,639


16. RESERVES

According to the Company Law of China, the Company’s Chinese subsidiaries are required each year to transfer 10% of the profit after tax as reported in their financial statements, prepared in accordance with Chinese law, to the statutory common reserve fund until the fund reaches 50% of the registered capital. This fund can be used to make up for any losses incurred in the future or be converted into paid-in capital, provided that the fund does not fall below 25% of the registered capital. 

Changtu was also required to transfer 5% of the profit after tax for the 2004 and 2005 years to the enterprise expansion fund as determined by the board of directors. This fund is used for the collective welfare of staff and workers of the Company.  The enterprise expansion fund is not available for distribution to owners, except upon liquidation. 

The Company's Chinese subsidiaries’ transfers to the statutory reserves from their net profits are as follows: 

	
	Statutory
	Enterprise
	

	
	Common
	Expansion
	

	
	Reserve Fund
	Fund
	Total

	
	$
	$
	$

	
	
	
	

	Balance, December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013
	7,107,569
	306,497
	7,414,066


17. INCOME TAX

Asia Bio-Chem, Daqing, Changtu and Tieling are subject to taxes under their respective tax jurisdictions, which are the same as their respective places of incorporation.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, Changtu and Tieling recorded operating losses for PRC tax purposes and therefore no tax provision were recorded for the Changtu and Tieling operations.

On November 7, 2008, the Company signed a tax agreement with the PRC government, under which Daqing was granted an exemption from income tax for two fiscal years, and 50% of its usual tax rate of 25% for the next three years.  The exemption started upon the commencement of production operations in Daqing which was January 1, 2010. This tax exemption is not technically considered grandfathered because it was granted to Daqing after the January 1, 2008 effective date of the New Enterprise Income Tax Law in PRC.  The Company has been provided with assurance that the PRC government will administratively apply the exemption to Daqing. The tax rate applicable to Daqing will be confirmed when Daqing first reports taxable income on its operations and there is no guarantee that this incentive will not be revoked.  For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company has treated its Daqing taxable income as being subject to the reduced tax rate based on this agreement, however, the Daqing operation recorded an operating loss for PRC tax purposes and therefore no tax provision was recorded for the Daqing operation.

17.
INCOME TAX (continued)

Income tax expense (recovery) is comprised as follows:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Current
	-
	-

	Deferred
	809,216
	523,096

	
	
	

	Total income tax expense 
	809,216
	523,096


The following table reconciles the amount of income tax expense on application of the combined statutory Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Combined statutory rate
	26%
	26%

	Income tax recovery at combined statutory rates
	(18,252,989)
	(10,076,664)

	Difference in foreign income tax rates
	687,116
	361,307

	Non-taxable items
	2,860
	200,811

	Reduction in tax rates
	-
	(20,548)

	Other items
	-
	38,925

	Change in unrecognized tax benefits
	18,372,229
	10,019,265

	Income taxes expense
	809,216
	523,096


Due to the uncertainties of the profitability of the Company, it is unlikely that the Company can realize the deferred tax assets in the future.  As a result, all remaining deferred tax assets recognized in the previous years was derecognized in 2013.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Deferred revenue
	22,962
	31,877

	Plant and equipment
	(2,706,186)
	1,159,190

	Land lease and intangibles
	(4,321,692)
	-

	Start-up costs
	-
	135,224

	Bank and government loan
	(57,654)
	(579,327)

	Non-capital losses
	-
	648,806

	Total deferred income tax assets (liabilities)
	(7,062,570)
	1,395,770


Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) arise from the Company’s subsidiaries as follows:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Changtu
	-
	922,211

	Daqing
	-
	473,559

	Tieling
	(7,062,570)
	-

	
	
	

	Total
	(7,062,570)
	1,395,770


18. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE

For the year ended December 31, 2013, two customers accounted for approximately 55% of the Company’s total sales (December 31, 2012 – two customers accounted for 35% of total sales).  As at December 31, 2013, the outstanding trade receivables from these two customers accounted for 89% of the total outstanding trade receivables (December 31, 2012 – two customers accounted for 36% of outstanding trade receivables). 

The loss of any of these customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

The Company’s financial instruments include cash, marketable securities, restricted cash, trade receivables, other receivables, accounts payable, short-term loans, note payable and long-term loans.  The carrying amounts of these financial instruments are a reasonable estimate of their fair values because of their current nature. It is impractical to determine the fair value of these financial instruments with sufficient reliability due to the nature of these financial instruments, the absence of secondary market and the significant cost of obtaining external appraisals. The fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying value under the effective interest method.
The following table summarizes the carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments:

	
	
	
	2013
	2012

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	$
	$

	Financial assets:
	
	
	
	

	  Fair value through profit or loss (i)
	
	
	1,876,957
	5,043,183

	  Loans and receivables (ii)
	
	
	73,284,693 
	80,803,960

	Financial liabilities:
	
	
	
	

	  Other financial liabilities (iii)
	
	
	234,127,600 
	143,034,868


(i) Cash and marketable securities

(ii) Restricted cash, trade receivable and other receivables 

(iii) Accounts payable, short-term loans, note payable and long-term loans

The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with the three level fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 – 
Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – 
Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices), and

Level 3 – 
Inputs that are not based on observable market data

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy as follows:

	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Total 

2013

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	$
	
	$
	
	$
	
	$

	Cash
	
	1,649,377 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,649,377 

	Marketable securities
	
	227,580 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	227,580 

	Restricted cash 
	
	32,736,376 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	32,736,376 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	
	34,613,333 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	34,613,333 


Interest Rate and Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its bank loans and notes payable to the extent that its credit facilities are based on floating rates of interest.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, restricted cash and trade receivables. The Company has significant cash and restricted cash balances.  To minimize the credit risk the Company places these instruments with reliable financial institutions located in Canada, Hong Kong and China.

Credit risk from accounts receivable encompasses the default risk of its customers.  Management monitors the level of trade receivable attributable to each customer and the length of time taken for amounts to be settled on an ongoing basis, and where necessary, takes appropriate action to follow up on those balances considered overdue.

19.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Interest Rate and Credit Risk (continued)

The Company’s exposure to credit risk associated with its accounts receivable is the risk that a client will be unable to pay amounts due to the Company. In its determination of the valuation of accounts receivable, including the allowance for doubtful accounts, management relies on current customer information and its planned course of action as well as assumptions about business and economic conditions in the future period over which the receivables are collectible. Allowances are provided for potential losses that have been incurred at the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the balance sheet are net of these allowances for bad debts. Trade receivables are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when objective evidence is received that a customer will default. The Company takes into consideration the customer’s payment history, his credit worthiness and the current economic environment in which the customer operates to assess impairment. The Company accounts for a specific bad debt provision when management considers that the expected recovery is less than the actual account receivable. All bad debt provisions are charged to general and administrative expenses. 

As at December 31, 2013, the aging of trade receivables is as follows:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	
	
	

	0 – 30 days
	1,029,729
	6,134,386

	31 – 60 days
	1,455,534
	1,788,868

	61 – 90 days
	7,516,224
	2,125,672

	90 days – 1 year
	15,243,318
	14,685,577

	Past due over 1 year
	1,063,687
	33,679,639

	
	
	

	Trade receivables
	26,308,492
	58,414,142

	Less allowance for doubtful accounts
	-
	(11,034,002)

	
	
	

	
	26,308,492
	47,380,140


The following table provides the change in allowance for doubtful accounts for trade accounts receivable:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	
	
	

	Balance at beginning of year
	11,034,002
	2,169,086

	Allowance for doubtful accounts
	-
	8,978,977

	Reversed on sale of accounts receivable for Tieling acquisition (Note 1)
	(11,034,924)
	-

	Foreign exchange
	922
	(114,061)

	
	
	

	Balance at end of year
	-
	11,034,002


Approximately $1,063,687 (2012 – $33,679,639) of the Company’s accounts receivable are more than one year old.  The maximum exposure to loss arising from trade accounts receivable is equal to their total carrying amounts. The Company realized the majority of the aged accounts receivable as at December 31, 2012 by disposing of them through the acquisition of Tieling (see Note 1).  Accounts receivable with a carrying amount of $38,014,500 and a fair value of $27,061,694 were disposed of during the year ended December 31, 2013 as partial consideration paid for the acquisition of Tieling (see Note 1)

Financial assets past due 

The Company reviews financial assets past due on an ongoing basis with the objective of identifying potential matters which could delay the collection of funds at an early stage. Once items are identified as being past due, contact is made with the customer to determine the reason for the delay in payment and to establish an agreement to rectify variation from contractual terms. A provision for potential impairment is recognized for accounts that have a significant probability of not being collected in full or not being collected within a reasonable time.

19.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Currency Risk

The Company generates revenues and incurs expenses and capital expenditures primarily in China and is exposed to the resulting risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Some administrative and head office related expenses are incurred in Canada. In addition, the Company holds financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies that expose the Company to foreign exchange risks. A significant change in the currency exchange rates between the Canadian dollar relative to the RMB could have an effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position and/or cash flows. The Company has not hedged its exposure to currency fluctuations.

At December 31, 2013, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, the Company had cash and restricted cash of $33,182,886, marketable securities of $227,579, trade receivables of $26,308,492, other receivables of $14,185,299, accounts payable of $20,063,142, short-term loans of $194,368,571, note payable of $4,601,128 and long-term loans of $15,094,759, all of which were denominated in RMB.

Remaining Contractual Lives

The information related to the remaining contractual lives of longer term financial instruments is described in Note 11.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Company's objective in managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity available to meet its liabilities when due.  The Company uses cash to settle its financial obligations as they fall due.  The ability to do this relies on the Company’s ability to collect its accounts receivable in a timely manner and maintain sufficient cash on hand.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2013:

	
	
	Carrying

Amount
	Contractual
Cash Flows
	Within

1 year
	Within

2 years
	Within

3 years

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	$
	$
	$
	$
	$

	Accounts payable
	
	20,063,142
	(20,063,142)
	(20,063,142)
	
	-

	Short-term loans
	
	194,368,571
	(194,368,571)
	(194,368,571)
	
	-

	Note payable
	
	4,601,128
	(4,601,128)
	(4,601,128)
	
	-

	Long-term loans
	
	15,094,759
	(15,755,475)
	(12,254,258)
	(3,501,217)
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	
	234,127,600
	(234,788,316)
	(231,287,099)
	(3,501,217)
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	


Sensitivity analysis
The Company has completed a sensitivity analysis to estimate the impact on comprehensive income which a change in foreign exchange rates as at and during the period ended December 31, 2013 would have had.

The sensitivity analysis includes the assumption that changes in individual foreign exchange rates do not cause foreign exchange rates in other countries to alter.

The result of this sensitivity analysis indicates that a 10% increase (decrease) in the average value of the RMB during the period would have resulted in an increase (decrease) in other comprehensive income of approximately $17,920,000.

The effect of other comprehensive income reflected above results primarily from the fact that all of the Company’s significant operations and assets are denominated in RMB, while its reporting currency is the Canadian dollar.  The financial position of the Company may vary at the time that a change in the foreign exchange rate occurs, causing the impact on the Company's results to be affected accordingly.

Foreign exchange controls, regulated by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange, impose certain rules and policy governing the conversion and foreign transfer of funds.  This may restrict the ability of the Company to transfer funds between the present Company and the PRC operating subsidiaries.

20. EXPENSES BY NATURE

For the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company incurred the following operating expenses:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Amortization
	8,324,176
	1,179,253

	Bad debts 
	1,885,333
	10,218,668

	Business taxes
	1,123,896
	808,959

	Freight
	6,766,518
	7,255,398

	Insurance
	81,356
	256,701

	Office
	500,039
	510,686

	Miscellaneous
	228,525
	158,986

	Professional fees
	549,342
	468,892

	Promotion
	252,080
	249,415

	Repairs and maintenance
	184,561
	111,265

	Travel
	387,527
	303,677

	Vehicle
	134,485
	161,113

	Wages and benefits
	2,585,258
	2,207,345

	
	
	

	
	23,003,096
	23,890,358


Classified in the consolidated financial statements of comprehensive loss are:

	
	2013
	2012

	
	$
	$

	Selling and distribution
	7,256,068
	7,621,422

	General and administrative
	15,747,028
	16,268,936

	
	
	

	
	23,003,096
	23,890,358


For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company incurred total wages and benefits expenses of $3,868,304 (2012 - $4,655,189).

21. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

The Company operates in one reporting segment being manufacturing cornstarch and related by-products.  All of the Company's assets and operations are located in the PRC. 
22. COMMITMENTS

(a) The Company is committed to a lease for its office in Shenyang, PRC expiring in August 2014. Minimum lease payments of $35,147 annually are required until August 2014.

(b) The Company was committed to various construction and equipment purchase contracts in Daqing with a total contract price of $99,672,611 including VAT. The remaining balance due for these contracts is $2,372,071 including VAT and is payable upon receiving the VAT invoice. The Company was also committed to construction and equipment purchase contracts for the Daqing down stream project of $17,848,632 of which $7,158,237 has been paid as a construction deposit (see Note 6), $4,393,537 has been paid for the construction in progress, the balance of $6,296,858 is payable upon completion of the contract.

(c) The Company was committed to various construction and equipment purchase contracts in Changtu with a total contract price of $20,606,546 including VAT. The remaining balance payable for these contracts is $1,215,519 including VAT and is payable upon receiving the VAT invoice. The Company was also committed to construction and equipment purchase contracts of $1,995,694 of which $282,347 has been paid as a construction deposit (see Note 6) for the Changtu second phase plant expansion, the balance of $1,713,347 is payable upon completion of the contract.

(d) The Company is committed to purchase 12,000 tonnes of corn per month until February 28, 2014 as part of the terms of a private loan obtained by Daqing (see Note 10(e)).
23. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company's objectives when managing capital are:

· to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,

· to preserve shareholders’ equity and ultimately provide an adequate return to shareholders through expansion and acquisition correspondingly to the level of risk, and

· to ensure sufficient liquidity and capital availability to satisfy is bank loans and other creditors as these obligations become due.  Ultimately, the Company’s objective is to complete its plant construction program.

· to return the Company to profitability and positive operating cash flow.

The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets as well as the availability of debt and equity financing.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may seek new debt, seek new equity investors, and may seek to negotiate changes to the terms of its debt, or sell assets to reduce debt.
24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a) The short-term loans described in Note 10 for amounts of $3,501,124, $1,750,608 and $5,251,825 matured after year end were either repaid or renewed.
(b) The short-term loan of $7,877,738 described in Note 10 matured on March 21, 2014 and was repaid.
(c) The short-term loan of $7,002,433 described in Note 10 matured on March 17, 2014 and is in the process of being renewed. 
(d) The short-term loan of $5,251,825 described in Note 10(e) was not repaid on the due date.  A penalty of 0.05% per day on the outstanding amount applies after the due date.
(e) The banker’s acceptances described in Note 10 matured after year end and were renewed for another 6 months.
(f) The banker’s acceptances described in Note 10 matured after year end were repaid.
(g) On February 25, 2014 the Company was advised that it would be delisted from the TSX on March 28, 2014.  The delisting was imposed for failure by the Company to meet the continued listing requirements of TSX.

(h) On January 27, 2014, the Company entered into an amending agreement to the Tieling Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 2012 (the “Amending Agreement”).  Under the terms of this Amending Agreement, the Company is to close the legal registration of its acquisition of Tieling by also acquiring Cheerful Dragon Asia Limited, the legal parent company which owns 100% of Tieling’s shares, from its sole owner, Kon Hon Wong (the “Seller”).  Under the Amending Agreement, the Seller agreed to forgive the $4,604,128 (RMB 30,000,000) note payable owed to the Seller in respect of the Purchase Price (see Notes 1 and 12).
(i) On March 27, 2014, the shares of the Company began trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “Exchange”) pursuant to an application by the Company which was accepted by the Exchange.
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Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.

Management Discussion and Analysis

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013

March 31, 2014
The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition of Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. (the “Company”, “Asia Bio-Chem” or “we”) and the financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2013.  This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes as at, and for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. Reference should also be made to the Company’s filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, which are available at www.sedar.com.
This MD&A is the responsibility of management. The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the review of this disclosure directly and through its audit committee comprised exclusively of independent directors. The audit committee reviews and prior to its publication, approves, pursuant to the authority delegated to it by the Board of Directors, this disclosure.

All amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted and prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
In addition to measures based on IFRS in this MD&A, terms such as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) and EBITDA margin are not defined by IFRS, and our use of such terms or measurement of such items may vary from that of other companies. In this MD&A, we describe certain income and expense items that are unusual or non-recurring. These terms are not defined by IFRS. Our usage of these terms may vary from the usage adopted by other companies. We provide this detail so that readers have a better understanding of the significant events and transactions that have had an impact on our results.

At March 31, 2013 the Company has 85,306,258 common shares outstanding.
Forward-Looking Information
The statements made in this MD&A that are not historical facts contain forward-looking information that involves risk and uncertainties. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, which address Asia Bio-Chem’s expectations, should be considered forward-looking statements. Such statements are based on management’s exercise of business judgment as well as assumptions made by and information currently available to management. When used in this document, the words “may”, “will”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend” and words of similar import, are intended to identify any forward-looking statements. 
You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These statements reflect our current view of future events and are subject to certain risks and uncertainties as contained in the Company’s filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof, or to reflect the occurrence of any unanticipated events. Although we believe that our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions, we can give no assurance that our expectations will materialize. The forward-looking statements made in this MD&A describe our expectations as at March 31, 2014.

For a description of material factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward looking statements in this MD&A, please see the Risk Factors section.

Overview

Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on October 5, 2005 as Parran Capital Inc. (“Parran”), a capital pool company.  On June 19, 2008, Parran completed a qualifying transaction by acquiring Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd. (“Asia Bio”), a company incorporated on July 30, 2007 under the Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands, and its wholly owned subsidiary Chang Tu Bio-Chem Technology Co. Ltd. (“Changtu”), formerly ChangTu Wan Shun Da Starch Co. Ltd., incorporated on June 10, 2004 under the business laws of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”). The acquisition was accomplished through an exchange of shares which resulted in the former shareholders of Asia Bio obtaining control of the Company. Accordingly, this transaction was recorded as a reverse takeover (“RTO”) and Asia Bio was deemed to be the accounting acquirer. Concurrent with this transaction, the Company changed its name from Parran Capital Inc. to Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.
The Company operates three manufacturing facilities in China.  The first facility is located in Changtu County, Liaoning Province which was purchased by the company in 2006.  Since the acquisition of the Changtu facility, the capacity has been increased from 170,000 tonnes to approximately 300,000 tonnes of corn per year.  This facility was updated and relocated during the third and fourth quarter of 2010.  These upgrades were intended to improve efficiencies by reducing steam, electricity and water usage.  Also by undertaking these upgrades the Company will satisfy the latest standards of the international food and beverage industry and allow the Company to qualify for larger contracts.  This Changtu facility was reopened in the first quarter of 2011.  

On September 25, 2008, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% interest in Daqing Biochemical Company Ltd. (“Daqing”), a PRC company located in Heilongjiang Province. The construction of the Daqing processing plant was completed in the fourth quarter of 2009 and commenced commercial production in the first quarter of 2010. The Daqing plant has the capacity to process approximately 600,000 tonnes of corn per year.  A downstream expansion of the Daqing plant was undertaken in 2010, however, due to reduced profitability, this expansion was suspended in 2011.

On January 1, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% interest in Tieling Wanshunda Starch Company Ltd. (“Tieling”), a PRC company located in Liaoning Province. Tieling is a corn processing plant located in the city of Tieling in Liaoning Province of PRC, it has the capacity to process approximately 600,000 tonnes of corn per year.

The Company primarily produces cornstarch which is sold to industrial customers in a variety of industries within China. Cornstarch is used in the production of hundreds of food products, including MSG, fructose, maltose, glucose, dextrin, citric acid and lysine.  Cornstarch is also used to produce sugar alcohols, such as sorbitol and mannitol, and is used to produce a wide variety of modified starch products for the pharmaceutical and fine chemical industries.  The cornstarch manufacturing process produces three by-products: corn germ, gluten and fibre.  Corn germ is used by the Company’s customers to produce corn oil used in the manufacturing of a variety of products including margarine.  The gluten and fibre products manufactured by the Company are used by livestock farmers as animal feed.
Highlights for the Fourth Quarter of 2013
· The Company continues to manage its capacity utilization in reaction to market conditions.  During the fourth quarter, the Company’s Changtu and Daqing plants operated at approximately 12% capacity while the newly acquired Tieling facility remained closed. Consequently, revenues were $18.0 million during the fourth quarter representing a 12.3% decline from the same period of 2012.

· During the fourth quarter, lower starch prices caused a negative gross margin of 13.4% compared with a negative gross margin of 13.0% during the same period in 2012.
· The Company took a $30.0 million non-cash charge during the quarter to reflect impairment of the assets employed in the business. 

· As a result of the impairment charge, the Company’s EBITDA decreased during the fourth quarter to negative $35.8 million compared with negative $8.1 million during the fourth quarter of 2012.
· Net loss for the fourth quarter was $41.0 million (-$0.48 per share) compared with a net loss of $14.4 million (-$0.17 per share) during the fourth quarter of 2012
· The Company continues to enjoy the strong support of its banking group and successfully renewed all loans due in the fourth quarter and obtained additional $97.5 million in loans in the quarter.  

· The Company maintains unrestricted cash balance of $1.6 million at December 31, 2013. 
· On March 7, 2014 the Company announced that its controlling shareholders have entered into a letter of intent to sell of their shares of Asia Bio-Chem to a subsidiary of the Chinese state-owned Beidahuang State Farm Group General Corp.  This transaction is expected to close during the second quarter of the current fiscal year.
· On February 25, 2014 the Company announced that it was put on notice by the Toronto Stock Exchange that its common shares will be delisted on March 28, 2014.  In order to provide continuous trading in its shares, the Company obtained approval for listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange which commenced on March 27, 2014. 
Performance of the Company 
Key Performance Indicators

The key performance indicators for the Company are revenue growth, gross profit, EBITDA, and net income.

The success of the Company’s expansion will be measured by revenue growth.  Revenue growth will be dependent on the Company’s ability to expand production capacity either by building new facilities or through acquisitions.

The cost of corn is a major factor in the Company’s production process.  The price paid by the Company for its corn input is influenced by seasonal demand and supply factors and can be volatile.  Furthermore, the selling prices of the Company’s products are influenced by market conditions and can also be volatile. Gross profit is an indicator of the relationship between input costs and selling prices as well as how the Company is managing its production costs and customer price negotiations.
Management believes that EBITDA, after adjusting for share-based compensation expense, is a measure of how efficiently and effectively the business is running.

Net income is also viewed as an important measure for determining the value created for shareholders.
Measurement

Provided below are two tables that the Company uses to assess performance. The Quarterly Results table presents the Company’s consolidated results for the last eight quarters. The Results of Operations table sets out the Company’s consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with the same period last year.
Quarterly Results
	in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share and percentage data
	Fiscal 2013
	
	Fiscal 2012

	
	Q4
	
	Q3
	
	Q2
	
	Q1
	
	Q4
	
	Q3
	
	Q2
	
	Q1

	Sales
	18,027
	
	26,260
	
	31,818
	
	33,157
	
	20,565
	
	27,880
	
	49,510
	
	32,486

	Gross profit (loss)
	(2,419)
	
	(3,594)
	
	(79)
	
	279
	
	(2,680)
	
	(2,270)
	
	(1,996)
	
	(1,257)

	Gross margin (% of Sales)
	-13.4%
	
	-13.7%
	
	-0.2%
	
	0.8%
	
	-13.0%
	
	-8.1%
	
	-4.0%
	
	-3.9%

	Selected operating expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Selling and distribution 
	1,386
	
	1,471
	
	1,576
	
	2,823
	
	1,491
	
	2,370
	
	2,205
	
	1,556

	General and administrative
	4,129
	
	3,925
	
	3,821
	
	3,872
	
	6,389
	
	5,131
	
	2,450
	
	2,299

	Stock-based compensation
	3
	
	3
	
	3
	
	1
	
	28
	
	56
	
	126
	
	147

	Income (loss) from operations
	(7,938)
	
	(8,993)
	
	(5,479)
	
	(6,417)
	
	(10,588)
	
	(9,826)
	
	(6,777)
	
	(5,259)

	Other income (expense)
	(33,378)
	
	(3,689)
	
	(3,018)
	
	(2,791)
	
	(1,331)
	
	(1,420)
	
	(1,743)
	
	(1,813)

	Income taxes (recovery)
	(358)
	
	1,160
	
	3
	
	4
	
	2,466
	
	(118)
	
	(287)
	
	(1,537)

	Net income (loss)
	(35，809)
	
	(13,843)
	
	(8,500)
	
	(9,212)
	
	(14,385)
	
	(11,127)
	
	(8,233)
	
	(5,535)

	EBITDA
	(35，806)
	
	(5,213)
	
	(1,464)
	
	(2,390)
	
	(8,119)
	
	(7,911)
	
	(4,685)
	
	(3,139)

	EBITDA before stock-based compensation
	(34,313)
	
	(5,210)
	
	(1,461)
	
	(2,389)
	
	(8,091)
	
	(7,855)
	
	(4,559)
	
	(2,992)

	Earnings (loss) per share:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	(0.48)
	
	(0.16)
	
	(0.10)
	
	(0.11)
	
	(0.17)
	
	(0.13)
	
	(0.10)
	
	(0.06)

	Diluted
	(0.48)
	
	(0.16)
	
	(0.10)
	
	(0.11)
	
	(0.17)
	
	(0.13)
	
	(0.10)
	
	(0.06)


Results of Operations
Consolidated Results
The following table sets out the Company’s selected consolidated results for the year ending December 31, 2013, compared with the same period in 2012:

	in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share and percentage data
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Sales
	
	
	         109,261 
	
	         130,440 
	
	-16.2%

	Gross profit (loss)
	
	
	           (5,812)
	
	           (8,203)
	
	29.1%

	Gross margin (% of Sales)
	
	
	-5.3%
	
	-6.3%
	
	

	Operating expenses
	
	
	          23,014 
	
	          24,247 
	
	-5.1%

	Income (loss) from operations
	
	
	         (28,826)
	
	         (32,450)
	
	11.2%

	Other income (expense)
	
	
	         (42,876)
	
	           (6,306)
	
	-579.9%

	Income taxes expense
	
	
	809 
	
	             523
	
	n/a

	Net income (loss)
	
	
	         (72,512)
	
	         (39,279)
	
	-84.6%

	EBITDA
	
	
	         (49，201)
	
	         (23,854)
	
	-106.2%

	EBITDA before stock-based compensation
	
	         (49，190)
	
	         (23,497)
	
	-109.3%

	Earnings per share:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	
	
	            (0.85)
	
	            (0.46)
	
	

	Diluted
	
	
	            (0.85)
	
	            (0.46)
	
	

	Weighted average number of shares:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic
	
	
	    85,306,258 
	
	    85,306,258 
	
	

	Diluted
	
	
	    85,306,258
	
	85,306,258 
	
	


The Company earns all of its revenues and incurs most of its expenses in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). Accordingly, reported results will fluctuate with changes in the exchange rate to the Canadian dollar. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the average exchange rate was $0.16633 Canadian dollars to one Chinese RMB compared with $0.15861 for the year ended December 31, 2012.  

Sales

	($000)
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Sales
	18,027
	
	20,565
	
	-12.3%
	
	109,261
	
	130,440
	
	-16.2%


For the quarter ended December 31, 2013, sales decreased by $2.5 million or 12.3%, compared with the corresponding period of 2012.  For the year ended December 31, 2013, sales decreased by $21.2 million or 16.2%, compared with fiscal 2012. These declines in sales were primarily due to the soft market demand created by the weak Chinese economy.  

The decrease in sales in Canadian dollars was partly offset by foreign exchange translation effect due to the weaker Canadian dollar against Chinese RMB for the current reporting periods.

Production Volume

The table below outlines the tonnage of product produced as well as the percentage changes for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013 compared with the corresponding periods of 2012.
Tonnes of production:

	
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Starch
	18,496
	
	46,692
	
	-60.4%
	
	192,412
	
	230,435
	
	-16.5%

	Gluten
	1,330
	
	3,261
	
	-59.2%
	
	13,153
	
	15,129
	
	-13.1%

	Germ
	1,810
	
	5,077
	
	-64.3%
	
	19,337
	
	23,764
	
	-18.6%

	Fibre
	3,096
	
	8,260
	
	-62.5%
	
	34,559
	
	38,824
	
	-11.0%

	
	24,732
	
	63,290
	
	-60.9%
	
	259,461
	
	308,152
	
	-15.8%


During the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, total production decreased by 60.9% and 15.8%, respectively, compared with the same periods of 2012.  The changes in total production during these periods were caused by adjustments to production undertaken in reaction to market conditions.   

Based on a theoretical maximum monthly production capacity of 47,000 tonnes, the Daqing plant averaged 7% and 32% of production capacity utilization during the fourth quarter and the year of 2013.  Based on a theoretical maximum monthly production capacity of 23,500 tonnes, the Changtu plant averaged 22% and 28% in production capacity utilization during the fourth quarter and the year of 2013.  The Company’s average capacity utilization for the Changtu and Daqing facilities was 12% and 31% during the fourth quarter and the year of 2013. There was no production in the Tieling plant during the fourth quarter and the year of 2013.

Product Pricing

During the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, starch prices decreased by 1.8% and 3.0%, respectively, compared with the same periods of 2012. These slight decreases in prices were primarily due to the soft market demand for starch. 
On average, germ prices during the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013 were down by 11.5% and 6.5%, respectively, compared with the corresponding periods of 2012.  These declines in germ prices were mainly due to continued lower demand from the corn oil industry which continues to suffer from a slow economy in China.

Gluten prices during the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013 were up by 19.7% and 12.2%, respectively, compared with the same periods of 2012.  This increase was mainly due to the decrease in supply from smaller producers which shut down production together with strong demand from beef farmers which use gluten as feed.    

Fibre prices increased 21.4% and decreased 6.3% during the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, compared with the same periods of 2012.  The increase in the quarter was mainly due to the increased feed demand from the pig industry in the last part of the year. The decrease in the year 2013 was primarily due to lower demand from the feed industry as a result of the H7N9 virus in the first half of 2013.  The sale of fibre mixed with corn residue also reduced the average price at Daqing during 2013.

Geographic Revenues
The Company generates all of its sales in the PRC.  There is currently no plan to expand into exporting products.
Cost of Sales

	($000)
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Cost of Sales
	20,445
	
	23,245
	
	-12.0%
	
	115,073
	
	138,643
	
	-17.0%


Costs of sales decreased by $2.8 million or 12.0% and $23.6 million or 17.0% during the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, compared with the same periods in 2012.  This decrease was primarily due to the decrease in sales volume as well as lower corn prices which are the single-largest component of cost of sales. The foreign exchange translation effect resulting from the weaker average exchange rate of Canadian dollar against Chinese RMB partly offset the decrease in the cost of sales in Canadian dollars. 

The following table presents the average price of corn paid by the Company during the respective periods.

	RMB per Tonne
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Average 

Corn Price
	RMB1,760 
	
	RMB1,703 
	
	3.3%
	
	1,670RMB 
	
	RMB1,882 
	
	-11.3%


For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, the average purchase prices of corn were flat and decreased 11.3%, respectively, compared with the same periods in 2012.  This decrease in the prices of corn was mainly due to the adequate supply together with lower demand from the corn deep processing industry.  
Gross Profit
	($000)
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Gross Profit
	-2,419
	
	-2,680
	
	9.7%
	
	-5,812
	
	-8,203
	
	29.1%

	Gross Margin %
	-13.4%
	
	-13.0%
	
	
	
	-5.3%
	
	-6.3%
	
	


Gross profit during the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $0.3 million or 9.7% and $2.4 million or 29.1%, respectively, compared with the same periods in 2012.    
The increase in gross profit in the fourth quarter of 2013 was mainly due to the higher gluten and fibre prices.

The improvement in gross profit and gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2013 were primarily due to the higher gluten and fibre prices and lower corn prices.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

	($000)
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Selling and distribution expenses
	1,386
	
	1,491
	
	-7.0%
	
	7,256
	
	7,621
	
	-4.8%

	% of sales
	7.7%
	
	7.2%
	
	
	
	6.6%
	
	5.8%
	
	


Selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of freight expense and, to a lesser extent, sales personnel and travel expenses.

During the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, selling and distribution expenses decreased by $0.1 million or 7.0% and $0.4 million or 4.8% respectively, compared with the same periods in 2012.  

The decrease in selling and distribution expenses in the fourth quarter and year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due to the lower sales volume as well as a greater proportion of local sales from Changtu and Daqing. 
The increase in selling and distribution expenses as a percentage of sales in the fourth quarter and year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due to the increase in railroad and ocean freight costs.

General and Administrative Expenses
	($000)
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	General and administrative expenses 
	4,129
	
	6,389
	
	-35.4%
	
	15,747
	
	16,269
	
	-3.2%

	% of sales
	22.9%
	
	31.1%
	
	
	
	14.4%
	
	12.5%
	
	


General and administrative expenses (“G&A”) consist primarily of administrative personnel costs, professional and consulting fees, facilities expenses, travel expenses, equipment and land use right amortization, and allowance for doubtful accounts.

During the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, general and administrative expenses decreased by $2.3 million or 35.4% and $0.5 million and 3.2%, respectively, compared with the same periods of 2012.  

The decrease in the fourth quarter of 2013 was mainly due to the decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts of $4.3 million as most of the overdue trade receivables were used to acquire Tieling, partly offset by the addition of depreciation (approximately $0.9 million) associated with the newly acquired Tieling operation.

During the fiscal year 2013, G&A expenses slightly decreased over 2012 due to a decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts of $9.8 million as most of the overdue trade receivables were used to acquire Tieling.  This decrease was offset by a higher provision for construction deposit of $1.5 million, and addition of depreciation and other G&A expenses associated with the Tieling acquisition (approximately $5.4 million and $2.3 million, respectively).  The Tieling depreciation is not included in cost of sales because Tieling currently is not in operation.  

Share-Based Compensation Expense

	($000)
	Three Months Ended December 31,
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% Change

	Stock-based compensation
	3.3
	
	28
	
	 -88.2%
	
	11
	
	357
	
	-96.9%

	% of sales
	0.0%
	
	0.1%
	
	
	
	0.0%
	
	0.3%
	
	


This reduction in share-based compensation expense was mainly because the previously granted stock options have been fully expensed.  The small share-based compensation expenses in the fourth quarter and the year 2013 are related to new options granted to officers and directors in February 2013.

Finance charges and interest
For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, finance charges and interest increased to $3.4 million and $14.2 million from $2.0 million and $7.6 million, respectively, for the same periods in 2012. This increase was partly due to the consolidation of Tieling’s finance charges and interest which represented $0.5 million and $2.9 million for the fourth quarter and the year 2013, respectively. The higher average loan balances at Changtu and Daqing also contributed to the higher finance charges and interest.  

Other income 
For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, other income includes miscellaneous sales from selling residual materials generated in production and a government subsidy of $0.3 million.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, other income includes a $0.8 million government subsidy. 

Income Taxes

	($000)
	Three Months Ended 
December 31,
	
	Year Ended 
December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	2013
	
	2012

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current income tax recovery
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Deferred income tax expense (recovery)
	(358)
	
	2,466
	
	809
	
	523

	Total
	(358)
	
	2,466
	
	809
	
	523


For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, there was no current income tax because all subsidiaries incurred net losses. 

As a wholly foreign-owned enterprise, Daqing was granted a tax exemption by local tax authorities for two fiscal years starting on January 1, 2010, and 50% of its usual tax rate for the next three years.

The National People’s Congress of China approved legislation relating to tax reforms on March 16, 2007, and effective January 1, 2008, China adopted a uniform tax rate of 25% for all enterprises (including foreign-invested enterprises) and canceled several tax incentives enjoyed by foreign-invested enterprises including exemption granted by local tax authorities in Daqing. Because the Daqing tax exemption was granted by local authorities after the effective date of tax reform changes in China, there is risk that the incentives that have been granted by the local state tax authorities may not continue and may be retroactively revoked, in which case Daqing may become subject to the usual tax rates of 25% applicable under Chinese tax reform for the current and prior periods.

Upon expiration of the tax exemptions currently granted to Daqing, the effective income tax rate for Daqing will increase to 25%.  

The deferred income tax expense or recovery was caused by the temporary differences between the taxable expenses and book expenses and some net operation loss carryforward.  However, due to the uncertainty in future income, the Company derecognized all deferred tax assets on the non-capital loss that were previously recorded.   

Net Income/Loss

For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, net loss was $41.0 million and $72.5 million, respectively, compared with net loss of $14.4 million and $39.3 million for the corresponding periods of 2012. The increase in net loss for the fourth quarter and the year of 2013 was mainly due to the impairment of assets and higher interest expenses, partly offset by lower gross loss and lower operating expenses.  

Foreign exchange translation

The financial statements of the Company’s self-sustaining foreign operations are translated into Canadian dollars from their functional currency of RMB. Under IFRS, assets and liabilities are translated at the period end rates of exchange and revenues and expenses are translated using the average rates of exchange for the period. The foreign exchange translation adjustments are recorded as other comprehensive income (loss).
For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, foreign exchange translation adjustments were $1.2 million gain and $4.6 million gain, respectively, compared with $0.9 million gain and $2.4 million loss for the corresponding periods in 2012.  These foreign exchange translation gains were due to the depreciation of Canadian dollar against Chinese RMB during the quarter and the year. 
Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”)
	($000)
	Three Months Ended 
December 31,
	
	Year Ended 
December 31,

	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	% 
Change
	
	2013
	
	2012
	
	%
Change

	Net income (loss) before income taxes
	(41,315)
	
	(11,919)
	
	
	
	(71,702)
	
	(38,756)
	
	

	Finance charges and interest
	3,372
	
	1,955
	
	
	
	14,177
	
	7,561
	
	

	Amortization
	2，134
	
	1,845
	
	
	
	14,142
	
	7,341
	
	

	EBITDA
	(35，809)
	
	(8,119)
	
	-341.0%
	
	(49，201)
	
	(23,854)
	
	-106.2%

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	EBITDA before stock-based compensation
	(35，806)
	
	(8,091)
	
	-342.5%
	
	(49，190)
	
	(23,497)
	
	-109.3%


For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2013, EBITDA decreased by $27.7 million and $25.3 million, respectively, compared with the same periods in 2012. EBITDA before share-based compensation expense (“Adjusted EBITDA”) decreased by $27.7 million and $25.7 million respectively, compared with the same periods of 2012.  In the fourth quarter and the year of 2013, the decrease was primarily due to higher G&A expenses as a result of the impairment of assets. 
Liquidity and Capital Resources

	($000)
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	
	
	
	2013
	 
	2012

	Cash (used in) provided by operating activities
	
	 $            (24,946)
	
	 $            2,353

	Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
	
	              22,313
	
	              (6,108)

	Cash (used in) financing activities
	
	(1,017)
	
	              (906)

	Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
	
	256
	
	                  (875)

	Increase (decrease) in cash
	
	
	                (3,394)
	
	                (5,536)

	Cash, beginning of period
	
	
	                5,043
	
	                10,579  

	Cash, end of period
	
	
	 $           1,649
	 
	 $           5,043


During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company has funded its operations and capital expenditures primarily through refinancing bank debt.
Cash Position
Unrestricted cash totaled $1.6 million as of December 31, 2013, representing a decrease of $3.4 million compared with the balance as of December 31, 2012. This decrease was a result of $24.9 million used in operating activities, $2.9 million spent on equipment and construction deposit, and $1.0 million net repayment in loans, offset by $25.0 million restricted cash mainly from the acquisition of Tieling and $0.3 million positive effect of changes in exchange rates. During the year, the company refinanced $561.7 million in loans as a significant portion of the Company’s short term loans were less than a year in term.    
As disclosed in the December 31, 2013 financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a negative working capital.  The Company’s ability to return to profitability is dependent on future corn costs and the market prices of starch and other related products.  

The Company may need to obtain debt facilities or equity financing for funding its operation or expansion.  Additional financing may not be available at all or on terms favorable to the Company.  Further, the Company is in breach of a covenant associated with one of its credit facilities which may cause the bank to demand repayment of its loan.

Working Capital
Working capital was negative $169.3 million as of December 31, 2013, representing a decrease of $120.7 million compared to negative $48.6 million as of December 31, 2012. This decrease was primarily attributable to the $21.1 million decrease in trade receivables as some trade receivables were used to acquire Tieling and $87.2 million increase in short-term loans ($33.6 million from Tieling).  Further, working capital was negatively affected by a $3.4 million decrease in cash and restricted cash, $5.4 million decrease in inventory, $3.8 million increase in accrued liabilities and customer deposits ($6.1 million from Tieling), $4.6 million note payable for Tieling acquisition, and $8.7 million increase in current portion of long-term loans. The decrease in working capital was offset by $12.0 million increase in other receivables ($2.9 million from Tieling).

Plant and Equipment, Construction in Progress, Land Use Rights

Plant and equipment net of accumulated amortization was $127.4 million at December 31, 2013 compared with $97.8 million as of December 31, 2012. The increase was primarily due to consolidating $49.1 million Tieling’s plant and equipment and the unrealized foreign exchange gain experienced during the year 2013, offset by an impairment of $25.4 million and the amortization.

Land use rights net of accumulated amortization were $33.8 million as at December 31, 2013, compared to $10.8 million as at December 31, 2012. The increase was primarily due to consolidating $24.2 million Tieling’s Land use rights and the unrealized foreign exchange gain experienced during the year 2013, offset by the amortization.  

Intangible assets net of accumulated amortization were $0.5 million as at December 31, 2013, compared to $0.5 million as at December 31, 2012. The largely unchange was mainly because the consolidation of Tieling’s license which was valued at $2.2 million and the unrealized foreign exchange gain experienced during the year 2013 were offset by an impairment of $2.1 million and the amortization. 

Contractual Obligations Summary
The Company is committed to a lease for its office in Shenyang, PRC expiring in August 2014. Minimum lease payments of $35,147 annually are required until August 2014.

Commitments on capital expenditures include various construction contracts in Daqing and Changtu.  The total contract price in Daqing is approximately $117.5 million including VAT which relates to the original construction of the plant ($99.7 million) as well as the Daqing downstream project ($17.8 million).  The remaining balance for Daqing original construction contracts is approximately $2.4 million including VAT and payable upon receiving the VAT invoice.  The balance of $6.3 million for Daqing downstream project is payable upon the completion of the project.  The total contract price in Changtu is approximately $20.6 million including VAT, which relates to the upgrade and relocation as well as a commitment for second phase plant expansion. The remaining balance for Changtu upgrade and relocation contracts is approximately $1.2 million including VAT and payable upon receiving the VAT invoice.  The balance of $1.7 million for Changtu second phase expansion is payable upon the completion of the project.

The Company is also committed to purchase 12,000 tonnes of corn per month until February 28, 2014 as part of terms of a private loan obtained during the period.
Capital Structure

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares, each common share providing the holder with one vote. As of March 27, 2014 there were:  

· 85,306,258 common shares outstanding.

· 6,580,651 stock options are outstanding, with exercise prices of between $0.05 to $1.20, and weighted average remaining life of 3.46 years at December 31, 2013. 5,846,951 stock options are exercisable as of December 31, 2013.  
Report on Controls
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at December 31, 2013 and has concluded, based on its evaluation, that these controls and procedures provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company is made known to management and reported as required.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management has also evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2013 and has concluded that although the Company has various controls, processes, and procedures in place to govern the preparation, approval and reporting of its interim and annual financial information and provide reasonable assurance about the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements, the design of the process used has not been completely documented. Management is in the stage of finalizing the process of documenting its system of controls, processes and procedures relating to its financial reporting.  While management considers the lack of documentation of the process a weakness, management’s assessment is that the process used is nevertheless effective for the purpose of providing timely and accurate external reporting.

While the officers of the Company have certified the Company’s Annual Filings, they do not expect that the disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and fraud. A control system, because of its inherent limitations, no matter how well conceived or implemented, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, over time controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of its operations or financial condition including, without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital resources that have not previously been discussed.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to establish accounting policies, estimates and assumptions that affect the timing and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates are based upon historical experience and on various other assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, and require judgment on matters which are inherently uncertain. Management reviews its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using the most current information available and considers the following to be key accounting policies and estimates:

Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments

The Company must make an assessment of whether accounts receivable are collectible from customers. Accordingly, the Company establishes an allowance for estimated losses arising from non-payment and other sales adjustments, taking into consideration customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and past experience. If future collections differ from estimates, future earnings would be affected. 
Property, Plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost which includes the acquisition price and any direct costs to bring the asset into productive use at its intended location. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Judgment is required to determine the estimated useful lives of assets, especially for computer equipment, including determining how long existing equipment can function and when new technologies will be introduced at cost-effective price points to replace existing equipment. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially impact the financial position and results of operations.
Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment or reversal whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. 
In accordance with IFRS, these evaluations consist of comparing each asset’s carrying value with the estimated discounted future net cash flows or the fair value less costs to sell. Impairment is considered to exist if the total estimated future discounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the assets. The resulting impairment loss is measured and recorded based on the difference between future discounted cash flows and book value. Future cash flows are estimated based on expected future production, commodity prices, operating costs and capital costs which are all subject to uncertainty. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially impact the reported financial position and results of operations.

In accordance with IFRS if, subsequent to impairment, an asset’s discounted future net cash flows exceeds its book value, the impairment previously recognized can be reversed. However, the asset’s book value cannot exceed what its amortized book value would have been had the impairment not been recognized.

Share-based Compensation
Share-based compensation expense is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is recognized over the period that the employees earn the options, with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus. If and when the stock options are ultimately exercised, the applicable amounts of contributed surplus are transferred to share capital. In the event that unvested stock options are forfeited, any share-based compensation expense previously recognized with regards to these options is reversed in the period of forfeiture.
Deferred income taxes
In assessing the probability of realizing income tax assets recognized, management makes estimates related to expectations of future taxable income, expected timing of reversals of existing temporary differences and the likelihood that tax positions taken will be sustained upon examination by applicable tax authorities.  Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction.  Where applicable tax laws and regulations are either unclear or subject to ongoing varying interpretations, it is reasonably possible that changes in these estimates can occur that materially affect the amounts of income tax assets recognized. In addition, future changes in tax laws could limit the Company from realizing the tax benefits from the deferred tax assets.   The Company reassesses unrecognized income tax assets at each reporting period.
Going concern
The assessment of the Company’s ability to execute its strategy by effectively operating the Company involves judgment.  Management closely monitor the operation and cash flows in the Company.  
Acquisition

The determination of the date on which the Company acquired control of the acquired company involves judgment and requires management to consider various factors determining control.  

The determination of the purchase consideration and its allocation to the assets and obligations assumed requires both management judgment and estimation if the purchase price is comprised substantially of non-cash consideration.   In addition, the determination of whether, the acquisition meets the conditions for a business combination requires management’s judgment.

Change in accounting policies

The Company adopted the following accounting policies effective January 1, 2013:

a) IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - requires entities to provide additional information about offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities that will enable users of financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with an entity's recognized financial assets and recognized financial liabilities, on the entity's financial position. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

b) IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. IFRS 10 replaced SIC-12, Consolidation-Special Purpose Entities, and parts of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

c) IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, and unconsolidated structured entities. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

d) IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. The adoption of this IFRS did not require any adjustments to the valuation techniques used by the Company to measure fair value and did not result in any measurement adjustments as at January 1, 2013. 

  
e) IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, has been amended to require entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) into two groups, based on whether or not items may be recycled to net income in the future. Entities that choose to present OCI items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately including prior year comparatives. The adoption of this IFRS did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

New standards and interpretations
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by the IASB that are mandatory for future accounting periods. Some updates that are not applicable or are not consequential to the Company may have been excluded from the list below. 
New accounting standards effective after January 1, 2014:
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements – In June 2012, the IASB issued an amendment to provide an exception to the consolidation requirements in IFRS 10 and require investment entities to measure particular subsidiaries fair value through profit or loss, rather than consolidate them. This amendment also set out disclosure requirements for investment entities. This amendment also impacts IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in other entities and IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements.
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - In December 2011, the IASB issued an amendment to clarify the meaning of the offsetting criterion and the principle behind net settlement, including identifying when some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. Earlier application is permitted when applied with corresponding amendment to IFRS 7.

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets – In May 2013, the IASB issued an amendment to address the disclosure of information about the recoverable amount of impaired assets if that amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – In June 2013, the IASB issued a narrow scope amendment to IAS 39. Under the amendment, there would be no need to discontinue hedge accounting if a hedging derivative was novated, provided that certain criteria are met.

IFRIC 21 Levies – IFRIC 21 provides guidance on when to recognise a liability for a levy imposed by a government, both for levies that are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and those where the timing and amount of the levy is certain.
New accounting standards effective after January 1, 2017:

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments - In November 2009, as part of the IASB project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the IASB issued the first phase of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, that introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. The standard was revised in October 2010 to include requirements regarding classification and measurement of financial liabilities.
The extent of the impact of adoption of these standards and interpretations on the consolidated financial statements of the Company has not been determined.
Financial Instruments and Other Instruments

The various risks related to the Company’s financial instruments, including interest rate and credit risk, currency risk, and liquidity risk have been disclosed in detail in the notes to financial statements.
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risks consist principally of cash and accounts receivable.  The Company has significant cash balances.  To minimize the credit risk the Company places these instruments with what it believes to be credit-worthy financial institutions located in Canada, Hong Kong and China.
Credit risk from accounts receivable encompasses the default risk of customers.  Management monitors the level of accounts receivable attributable to each customer and the length of time taken for amounts to be settled on an ongoing basis, and where necessary, takes appropriate action to follow up on those balances considered overdue.
The Company’s exposure to credit risk associated with its accounts receivable is the risk that a client will be unable to pay amounts due to the Company. In its determination of the valuation of accounts receivable, including the allowance for doubtful accounts, management relies on current customer information and its planned course of action as well as assumptions about business and economic conditions in the future period over which the receivables are collectible. Allowances are provided for potential losses that have been incurred at the date of the statement of financial position. The amounts disclosed in the statements of financial position are net of these allowances for bad debts. Trade receivables are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when objective evidence is received that a customer will default. The Company takes into consideration the customer’s payment history, his credit worthiness and the current economic environment in which the customer operates to assess impairment. The Company accounts for a specific bad debt provision when management considers that the expected recovery is less than the actual account receivable. All bad debt write-offs are charged to general and administrative expenses.
Interest rate risk is mostly related to bank loans.  A significant change in the interest rate could have an effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position, and/or cash flows.
The Company generates revenues and incurs expenses and expenditures primarily in Canada and China and is exposed to risk from changes in foreign currency rates.  In addition, the Company holds financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies that expose the Company to foreign exchange risks.  A significant change in the currency exchange rates between the Canadian dollars relative to the RMB could have an effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position and/or cash flows.  The Company has not hedged its exposure to currency fluctuations.
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Company's objective to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity available to meet its liabilities when due.  The Company uses cash to settle its financial obligations as they fall due.  The ability to do this relies on the Company collecting its accounts receivables in a timely manner and by maintaining sufficient cash on hand.  The Company’s normal term of trade receivables is generally less than 90 days, but in recent years has not been able to collect all accounts receivables within 90 days due to the economic slowdown in China. 
Risk Factors

The Company is exposed to a variety of risks in the normal course of operations. In the Company’s Annual Information Form dated March 30, 2013, it provided a detailed review of the risks that could affect its financial condition, results of operations or business and that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the Company’s forward-looking statements. In management’s opinion, there has been no material change in the nature or magnitude of the risks faced by the Company.
APPENDIX C: Management proxy circular dated 5/09/13

ASIA BIO-CHEM GROUP CORP.
MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR
As at and dated May 9, 2013

FOR
THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON MONDAY, JUNE 10, 2013

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

This Management Proxy Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies being made by the management of Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. (the “Company”) for use at the Annual General Meeting of the Company’s shareholders to be held at 10:00 a.m. (Vancouver time) on June 10, 2013 (the “Meeting”) at the offices of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, Suite 2900, 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 0A3. While it is expected that the solicitation will be made primarily by mail, proxies may be solicited personally or by telephone by directors, officers and employees of the Company.

All costs of this solicitation will be borne by the Company.

PROXY INSTRUCTIONS

Shareholders who cannot attend the Meeting in person may vote by proxy if a registered shareholder, or provide voting instructions as provided herein if a non-registered shareholder, either by mail, by telephone or over the internet.  Proxies and/or voting instructions must be received by Computershare Investor Services Inc., the Company’s transfer agent, (“Computershare”) no later than 10:00 a.m. (Vancouver time) on June 6, 2013 at its Toronto office, 9th Floor, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2Y1.

A Proxy returned to Computershare will not be valid unless dated and signed by the shareholder or by the shareholder’s attorney duly authorized in writing or, if the shareholder is a corporation or association, the form of Proxy must be executed by an officer or by an attorney duly authorized in writing.  If the form of Proxy is executed by an attorney for an individual shareholder or by an officer or attorney of a shareholder that is a corporation or association, the instrument so empowering the officer or attorney, as the case may be, or a notarial copy thereof, must accompany the form of Proxy.  If not dated, the Proxy will be deemed to have been dated the date that it is mailed to shareholders.

The securities represented by Proxy will be voted or withheld from voting in accordance with the instructions of the shareholder on any ballot that may be called for and, if the shareholder specifies a choice with respect to any matter to be acted upon, the securities will be voted accordingly.  The form of Proxy confers discretionary authority upon the named proxyholder with respect to matters identified in the accompanying Notice of Meeting.  If a choice with respect to such matters is not specified, it is intended that the person designated by management in the form of Proxy will vote the securities represented by the Proxy in favour of each matter identified in the proxy and for the directors and auditor named in the proxy or designated by management.

The Proxy confers discretionary authority upon the named proxyholder with respect to amendments to or variations in matters identified in the accompanying Notice of Meeting and other matters which may properly come before the Meeting.  As at the date of this Management Proxy Circular, management is not aware of any amendments, variations, or other matters.  If such should occur, the persons designated by management will vote thereon in accordance with their best judgment, exercising discretionary authority.

APPOINTMENT OF PROXYHOLDER

A shareholder has the right to designate a person (who need not be a shareholder of the Company), other than Zhiping Wang or Robert Wilson, both directors and/or officers of the Company and the management designees, to attend and act for the shareholder at the Meeting.  If you are returning your Proxy to Computershare, such right may be exercised by inserting in the blank space provided in the enclosed form of Proxy the name of the person to be designated or by completing another proper form of Proxy and delivering it to Computershare as provided above, or to the Chairman of the meeting.

REVOCATION OF PROXIES

In addition to revocation in any manner permitted by law, you may revoke your Proxy by an instrument in writing signed by you as registered shareholder or by your attorney duly authorized in writing.  If you are a representative of a registered shareholder that is a corporation or association, the instrument in writing must be executed by an officer or by an attorney duly authorized in writing, and deposited with the Company’s registered office, c/o Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, Attention: Georald Ingborg, Suite 2900, 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 0A3 at any time up to and including the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof, or, as to any matter in respect of which a vote shall not already have been cast pursuant to such Proxy, with the Chairman of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting, or at any adjournment thereof, and upon either of such deposits the Proxy is revoked.  In addition, shareholders can also change their vote by phone or via the internet. 

Only registered shareholders have the right to revoke a Proxy.  Non-registered shareholders that wish to change their voting instructions must, in sufficient time in advance of the Meeting, contact Computershare or their intermediary to arrange to change their voting instructions.

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR VOTING BY NON-REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS

Only registered shareholders or duly appointed proxyholders are permitted to vote at the Meeting.  Some shareholders of the Company are “non-registered” shareholders because the shares they own are not registered in their names but are instead registered in the name of the brokerage firm, bank or trust company through which they purchased the shares.  More particularly, a person is not a registered shareholder in respect of shares which are held on behalf of that person (the “Non-Registered Shareholder”) but which are registered in the name of an intermediary (the “Intermediary”) that the Non-Registered Shareholder deals with in respect of the shares.  Intermediaries include, among others, banks, trust companies, securities dealers or brokers and trustees or administrators of self-administered RRSP’s, RRIF’s, RESP’s and similar plans; or in the name of a clearing agency (such as The Canadian Depository of Securities Limited) of which the Intermediary is a participant.  

There are two kinds of Non-Registered Shareholders - those who object to their name being made known to the Company (called OBOs for “Objecting Beneficial Owners”) and those who do not object to the Company knowing who they are (called NOBOs for “Non-Objecting Beneficial Owners”).  

The Company takes advantage of certain provisions of National Instrument 54-101 – Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (“NI 54-101”), which permit the Company to directly deliver proxy-related materials to NOBOs who have not waived the right to receive them (and is not sending proxy-related materials using notice-and-access this year).  As a result, NOBOs can expect to receive a scannable voting instruction form (a “VIF”), together with the meeting materials from our transfer agent, Computershare.  These VIFs are to be completed and returned to Computershare in accordance with the instructions.  Computershare is required to follow the voting instructions properly received from NOBOs.  Computershare will tabulate the results of the VIFs received from NOBOs and will provide appropriate instructions at the Meeting with respect to the common shares represented by the VIFs they receive.  

Should a NOBO wish to attend and vote at the Meeting in person, the NOBO must insert the NOBO’s name (or such other person as the NOBO wishes to attend and vote on the NOBO’s behalf) in the blank space provided for that purpose on the VIF and return the completed VIF to Computershare or the NOBO must submit, to the Company or Computershare, any other document in writing that requests that the NOBO or a nominee of the NOBO be appointed as proxy holder.  In such circumstances with respect to proxies held by management in respect of securities owned by the NOBO so requesting, the Company must arrange, without expense to NOBO, to appoint the NOBO or a nominee of the NOBO as a proxy holder in respect of those securities.  Under NI 54-101, if the Company appoints a NOBO or a nominee of the NOBO as a proxy holder as aforesaid, the NOBO or nominee of the NOBO, as applicable, must be given the authority to attend, vote and otherwise act for and on behalf of management in respect of all matters that may come before the Meeting and any adjournment or continuance thereof, unless corporate law does not permit the giving of that authority.  Pursuant to NI 54-101, if the Company appoints a NOBO or its nominee as proxy holder as aforesaid the Company must deposit the proxy within the timeframe specified above for the deposit of proxies if the Company obtains the instructions at least one (1) business day before the termination of that time.  If a NOBO or a nominee of the NOBO is approved as a proxy holder pursuant to such request, the appointed proxy holder will need to attend the Meeting in person in order for their votes to be counted.
In accordance with the requirements of NI 54-101, the Company has distributed copies of the meeting materials to the Intermediaries for onward distribution to OBOs.  Intermediaries are required to forward the meeting materials to OBOs unless, in the case of certain proxy-related materials, the OBO has waived the right to receive them.  Very often, Intermediaries will use service companies to forward the meeting materials to OBOs.  With those meeting materials, Intermediaries or their service companies should provide OBOs with a “request for voting instruction form” which, when properly completed and signed by such OBO and returned to the Intermediary or its service company, will constitute voting instructions which the Intermediary must follow.  The purpose of this procedure is to permit OBOs to direct the voting of the common shares that they beneficially own. 

Should an OBO wish to vote at the Meeting in person, the OBO must insert the OBO’s name (or such other person as the NOBO wishes to attend and vote on the OBO’s behalf) in the blank space provided for that purpose on the request for voting instruction form and return the completed request for voting instruction form to the intermediary or its service provider or the OBO must submit, to their Intermediary, any other document in writing that requests that the OBO or a nominee of the OBO be appointed as proxy holder.  In such circumstances an intermediary who is the registered holder of, or holds a proxy in respect of, securities owned by an OBO is required under NI 54-101 to arrange, without expense to the OBO, to appoint the OBO or a nominee of the OBO as a proxy holder in respect of those securities.  Under NI 54-101, if an intermediary appoints an OBO or the nominee of the OBO as a proxy holder as aforesaid, the OBO or nominee of the OBO, as applicable, must be given the authority to attend, vote and otherwise act for and on behalf of the intermediary, in respect of all matters that may come before the Meeting and any adjournment or continuance thereof, unless corporate law does not permit the giving of that authority.  Pursuant to NI 54-101 an intermediary who appoints an OBO or its nominee as proxy holder as aforesaid is required under NI 54-101 to deposit the proxy within the timeframe specified above for the deposit of proxies if the intermediary obtains the instructions at least one (1) business day before the termination of that time.  If the OBO or a nominee of the OBO is appointed a proxy holder pursuant to such request, the appointed proxy holder will need to attend the Meeting in person in order for their votes to be counted.
Management of the Company does not intend to pay for intermediaries to forward the proxy-related materials to OBOs.  The OBOs will not receive the materials unless the OBOs intermediary assumes the cost of delivery.

These proxy related materials are being sent to both registered shareholders and Non-Registered Shareholders.  If you are a Non-Registered Shareholder, and the Company or its agent has sent these proxy related materials directly to you, your name and address and information about your holdings of common shares have been obtained in accordance with applicable securities requirements from the Intermediary on your behalf.

By choosing to send these materials to you directly, the Company (and not the intermediary holding on your behalf) has assumed responsibility for (i) delivering these materials to you, and (ii) executing your proper voting instructions.  Please return your voting instructions as specified in the request for voting instructions.

INTERESTS OF CERTAIN PERSONS OR COMPANIES IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON

No director or executive officer of the Company at any time since the beginning of the Company’s most recently completed financial year, no proposed nominee for election as a director of the Company and no associate or affiliate of any such persons has any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of securities or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the Meeting, except as set forth in this Management Proxy Circular and except for any interest arising from the ownership of shares of the Company where the shareholder will receive no extra or special benefit or advantage not shared on a pro-rata basis by all holders of shares in the capital of the Company.
VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value and an unlimited number of preferred shares without par value.  As at the date of this Management Proxy Circular, 85,306,258 common shares without par value were issued and outstanding, each such share carrying the right to one (1) vote at the Meeting.  The Company has no outstanding preferred shares.  May 6, 2013 has been fixed by the directors of the Company as the record date for the purpose of determining those shareholders entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Meeting.

To the knowledge of the directors and executive officers of the Company, no person or company beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Company, other than as set out below:

	Name
	Number of Shares
	Percentage of Outstanding Shares

	Thrive In Group Limited (1)
	24,019,200
	28.16%

	Rich Profit Ltd. (2)
	11,509,200
	13.49%


(1)
Mr. Yong Chin Wang is the sole shareholder of Thrive In Group Limited, and accordingly holds a beneficial interest in these shares.

(2)
Mr. Zhiping Wang, a director of the Company, is the sole shareholder of Rich Profit Ltd., and accordingly holds a beneficial interest in these shares.

BUSINESS OF THE MEETING

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, together with the auditor’s report thereon, are included with this Management Proxy Circular.  These documents are also available on www.sedar.com.

APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

In accordance with the recommendation of the Company’s Audit Committee, the Board recommends that shareholders vote for the reappointment of Manning Elliott LLP, Chartered Accountants as the Company’s auditors to hold office until the next annual general meeting of shareholders.  Manning Elliott LLP was first appointed as the Company’s auditor on June 19, 2008.
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The number of directors for the Company is set by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company.  Management of the Company is seeking shareholder approval of an ordinary resolution determining the number of directors of the Company at five (5) for the ensuing year.

The persons below are management’s nominees to the Board.  Each director elected will hold office until the next annual general meeting or until his or her successor is duly elected or appointed unless his or her office is earlier vacated in accordance with the Articles of the Company or unless he or she becomes disqualified to act as a director.

	Jeremy Kendall(1)(2)(3)(4)
Belfountain, Ontario, Canada

Director since June 2008

Common Shares:  200,000

Stock Options:  250,000

	Chairman and Director of SunOpta Inc., a company involved in the sourcing, processing, packaging and distribution of organic and natural foods from May 1983 to present; Chairman, Jemtec Inc., a distributor of home incarceration equipment in Canada from April 1987 to present; Chairman of Opta Inc., a producer, manufacturer, distributor and recycler of industrial minerals, abrasives, roofing shingle granules, specialty sands and related products from June 2003 to present; Chairman of BI Inc., a manufacturer of home incarceration equipment and service provider to the corrections industry from June 1983 to November 2002.

	Zhiping Wang(1)
Beijing, China 

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer since June 2008

Common Shares:  11,509,200(5)
Stock Options:  3,604,966
	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd., September 14, 2007 to present; Chairman of World Products Group Inc., a supplier of technology and equipment to the starch and agricultural industries in China from June 2001 to present; President of Krauss Maffei China Company GmbH, a machine manufacturer for numerous industries including the starch industry from July 1996 to December 2000; Chief Representative and General Manager (China) of Dorr Oliver Inc., an engineering and machine manufacturer for the starch industry from November 1984 to June 1996.

	Brent Majkrzak(1)(2)(3)(4)
West Fargo, North Dakota, USA

Director since June 2008

Common Shares:  64,000

Stock Options:  250,000
	Owner/mananger of Majkrzak Farms, April 2013 to present; President, Precision Equipment Manufacturing LLC, July 2010 to April 2013; President, MagTec Energy LLC, April 2008 to July 2010; Vice President, Sales Marketing of MagTec Energy LLC, September 2006 to April 2008; Mechanical Engineer and Sales Manager of Crary Industries, May 1999 to September 2006. 

	William Thomson(1)(2)(3)(4)
Thornhill, Ontario, Canada
Director since June 2008

Common Shares:  Nil

Stock Options:  250,000
	President of Thomson Associates Inc., a leading merchant banking company specializing in the areas of finance, leadership, strategic alliances and corporate development from August 1978 to present.

	Elaine Zhao(1)
Chino Hills, California, USA 
Director since June 2012

Common Shares:  2,000

Stock Options:  675,000
	Chief Financial Officer, Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd., October 1, 2007 to present; President, ELZ Accountancy Corp. from October 2005 to present; Independent Financial Advisor, Genworth Financial Securities October 2002 to present; Auditor, Liang & Co. Accountancy Corp. from October 2000 to October 2005.


(1)
Information as to the place of residence, principal occupation and shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or controlled or directed, has been furnished by the respective directors.

(2)
Denotes member of the Audit Committee.

(3)
Denotes member of the Compensation Committee.

(4)
Denotes member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.

(5)
These shares are held in the name of Rich Profit Ltd.  Mr. Zhiping is the sole shareholder of this company and accordingly holds beneficial interest in these shares.

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

Mr. Thomson was the Chairman of Asia Media Group Corporation, at the time it had its shares cease traded on November 25, 2002 for failure to file certain financial statements. The cease trade order has not been revoked and Asia Media Group Corporation was voluntarily dissolved in November 2006.  

Mr. Kendall is the Chairman of SunOpta Inc., which was the subject of a temporary management cease trade order from February 20, 2008 through March 4, 2008 in relation to the requirement to restate certain financial statements.  On March 4, 2008 the Ontario Securities Commission issued a management cease trade order prohibiting certain specified directors, officers and insiders, including Mr. Kendall, from trading in the securities of SunOpta Inc. until two business days following the receipt by the Ontario Securities Commission of all required securities filings, including the restated financials at which time the cease trade order was lifted, on August 1, 2008.  

Save for the foregoing, during the ten years preceding the date of this Management Proxy Circular, no proposed director of the Company has, to the knowledge of the Company, been a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that:
was subject to an order that was issued while the proposed director was acting in the capacity as a director, chief executive officer of chief financial officer; or

was subject to an order that was issued after the proposed director ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer.

Mr. Thomson was a director of Imperial PlasTech Inc. (“IPI”), which was subject to certain orders under the Companies Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) and the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) from the period from June 12, 2003 to April 11, 2006, when a plan of compromise or arrangement previously filed with the Ontario Superior Court of Justice was fully performed. Mr. Thomson resigned as a director of IPI in January 2005. 

Save for the foregoing, during the ten years preceding the date of this Management Proxy Circular, no proposed director of the Company has, to the knowledge of the Company, been a director, chief executive officer of chief financial officer of any company that:

while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that company; or

has become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the proposed director. 

Penalties and Sanctions

Mr. Kendall is the Chairman of SunOpta Inc. (“SunOpta”).  In connection with the restatement of certain financial statements of SunOpta, class action legal proceedings were commenced against the company in 2008 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the “Courts”), under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Securities Act (Ontario), respectively.  SunOpta has entered into a settlement agreement with respect to these claims, providing for a total cash contribution of $11,250 to a settlement fund, the adoption of certain governance enhancements to SunOpta’s audit committee charter and internal audit charter and the adoption of an enhanced information technology conversion policy. The settlement was entirely funded by SunOpta’s insurers.  The settlements were approved by the Courts in May 2010 and as a result the terms of the settlement have become effective, including the dismissal of the U.S. and Ontario class actions and releases of settled claims against SunOpta and other named defendants.   Save for the foregoing, no proposed director of the Company has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court, or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding to vote for a proposed director.

REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview and Philosophy

The Company has no formal written compensation policy.  The Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to an executive officer’s compensation, evaluating the executive officer’s performance in light of those goals and objectives and making recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to the executive officer’s compensation, based on this evaluation.

The key components comprising executive officer compensation are base salary and annual bonus (short-term incentives), participation in the Company’s incentive stock option plan (long-term incentive) and various perquisites.  Executive compensation is based on an annual review of actual performance against corporate objectives undertaken by the Compensation Committee.  

Executive officers’ compensation is designed in a manner to recognize and reward executive officers based upon individual and corporate performance.  To the extent determined to be appropriate, we also consider general economic conditions, our financial performance relative to budget, earnings per share, access to capital and individual merit in setting compensation policies for our executive officers.  

In establishing compensation objectives for executive officers, the Compensation Committee seeks to:

1. motivate executives to achieve corporate performance objectives and reward them when such objectives are met;

attract and subsequently retain highly qualified executive officers by offering overall compensation which is competitive with that offered for comparable positions in similar companies; 

align the interest of executive officers with the long-term interests of shareholders through participation in the Company’s incentive stock option plan; and

To promote an ownership mentality among the key leadership and Board of Directors; and

Enhance the overall performance of the Company.

The Company’s operations, reporting and governance performance is measured against benchmarks established by the Compensation Committee for the purposes of evaluating executive officer performance.  The benchmarks examined include achievement of budget, achievement of significant initiatives, earnings per share, achievement of financings, improvement in share price and regulatory compliance.  The Company does not compare these benchmarks with other companies, given the Company’s unique situation of being a public company in Canada but operating in the manufacturing industry in China.  The Company believes the approach taken is reasonable.

Compensation Program

Our executive compensation program generally consists of base salary, cash incentive compensation (“bonuses”) and long-term incentive compensation in the form of stock options. Our executive officers also participate in benefit programs including medical coverage.  All compensation decisions are determined following a review of factors that we believe are relevant, including; our achievements over the past year, the individual’s contributions to our success and any significant changes in their role or responsibility.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, the Compensation Committee established specific measures for each executive and reviewed the appropriate mix between salary and other forms of compensation and set annual compensation guidelines for our executive officers.   Executive officers’ compensation is established based on the following specific criteria:

Achievement of the annual budget. The annual budget is compared to performance at the end of the fiscal year with regard to working capital revenues, gross margin, operating expenses and net income which are achieved during the year;

Management of bank and credit facilities including the renewal of short term bank loans and new lending facilities;

Achievement of significant initiatives including; achievement of target production capacity, plan expansions and acquisitions;

Achievement of accuracy and timeliness of reporting of financial results with emphasis on monthly reports and budget preparation, achievement of financings, and management’s ability to access capital including bank debt, government loans, equity and convertible or subordinated debt; and

Improvement in share price, research coverage, shareholder diversification and trading volume achieved during the year.

Base Compensation

The Company determines base salary based on a combination of comparable market data, experience, level of responsibility and other relevant factors.   For fiscal 2013, compensation for executive officers was set within the range of this compensation review for executive officers, based on the determination of management and approved by the Compensation Committee.  Base compensation was also determined in light of a particular individual’s contribution as a whole, including compliance with legal and accounting regulations, recognition and pursuit of business expansion opportunities and initiation of programs to enhance shareholder value.

Short Term Incentives

Short term incentives for executives and management are provided through annual bonus plans based on the performance of the business. The objectives of these plans are to align the behaviour of executives and management with the overall strategy of the business and shareholder interests. 

Eligible participants could receive an annual bonus based on the following: achievement of budget, achievement of significant initiatives, earnings per share, achievement of financings, improvement in share price and regulatory compliance.  

Long-Term Incentives

Long-term incentives for executive officers and key employees are provided through the Company’s incentive stock option plan. The objectives of this plan is to align executive and shareholder long-term interests by creating a strong and direct link between executive compensation and shareholder return, and to enable executive officers to develop and maintain a significant, long-term stock ownership position in our common shares.  Stock options are granted to our executive officers and certain key employees. These options vest over a period of 3 to 4 years at a rate of 25% to 33.3%  per year from the anniversary date of the original grant.  In selecting executive officers eligible to receive stock options and determining the amount and frequency of such grants, we evaluate a variety of factors, including the following: achievement of budget, achievement of significant initiatives, earnings per share, achievement of financings, improvement in share price and regulatory compliance.  

Corporate Goals

The general performance goals for the Company’s current Named Executive Officers (the “NEOs”) are as follows:

1.
Achievement of budgets as approved by the Board;

2.
Execution of corporate objectives including, successful completion of expansion and acquisition activities; 
and

3.
Increased shareholder return on investment as measured by earnings per share and return on net assets.

At the end of each year, the Compensation Committee also reviews actual performance against corporate goals.

The Chief Executive Officer or CEO participates in discussions or reviews executive compensation for NEOs but does not participate in the discussions or review of his own compensation.

CEO compensation is determined by the Board on the recommendation of the Compensation Committee.  The Compensation Committee’s policy is that the salary of the CEO should be in line with competitive salaries for positions of similar responsibility at other Canadian publicly listed companies and to be consistent with the CEO’s respective contributions to the overall benefit of the Company.  

The graph below shows the change in value of CDN$100 invested in our common shares between June 26, 2008 and December 31, 2012, compared to a similar investment in the S&P/TSX Composite Index over the same period. 
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	Investment
	December 31, 2008
	December 31, 2009
	December 31, 2010
	December 31, 2011
	December 31, 2012

	Company
	100.00
	100.00
	$187.70
	$244.62
	$23.08
	$9.23

	S&P/TSX Composite Index
	100.00
	100.00
	$130.69
	$149.57
	$133.01
	$138.34


The Company experienced a 96.0% loss in share price since incorporation, compared to a gain of 38.3% for the S&P/TSX Composite Index. 

During the three-year period ending December 31, 2012, our market capitalization decreased from Cdn$91.4 million to Cdn$5.1 million while Mr. Wang earned total cash compensation of Cdn$1,017,293.   
Compensation Governance

A description of policies and practices adopted by the Company to determine the compensation for the Company’s directors and executive officers is detailed below under “Report on Corporate Governance – Compensation”. 

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides a summary of compensation paid, directly or indirectly, to the following persons (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs”) for the most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2012:   
our current CEO, 

our current CFO, and

our Executive Vice President.
	Name and Principal Position
	Year
	Salary

(CDN$)
	Share-based awards

(CDN$)
	Option-based awards 
(CDN$)(1)
	Non-equity incentive plan compensation (CDN$)
	Pension value

(CDN$)
	All other compens-ation ($)

(CDN$)
	Total compen-sation

(CDN$)

	
	
	
	
	
	Annual incentive plans

(CDN$)
	Long-term incentive plans
	
	
	

	Zhiping Wang
CEO
	2012

2011

2010
	$305,549
$302,427

$288,720
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

Nil

$105,190
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	$25,500

$15,407

Nil
	$331,049

$317,834

$393,910

	Elaine Zhao
CFO
	2012

2011

2010
	$97,876

$96,909

$92,934
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

$8,072

$9,451
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	$4,206

$4,814

Nil
	$102,082

$109,795

$102,385

	Robert Wilson
Executive Vice President
	2012

2011

2010
	$160,000
$200,000

$200,000
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

$16,000

$16,000
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil

$28,200

$17,520
	$160,000
$244,200

$233,520


(1)
The Company has chosen to utilize the Black-Scholes model for determining the “grant date fair value” as the Company believes it is the most accepted model for determining such calculations and it is used when determining calculations for the Company’s financial statements.  The Black-Scholes model is a mathematical valuation model that ascribes a value to a stock option based on a number of factors, including the exercise price of the option, the price of the underlying security and the risk-free rate of return.  The amounts disclosed in this column reflect the accounting fair value of the award in accordance with Section 3870 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook.
Pension Plan Benefits

The Company does not have any pension plans. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans and Incentive Plan Awards

On May 27, 2009 the shareholders of the Company passed a resolution approving the 2009 Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”).  The Plan fixes a maximum number of common shares that may be issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Plan at 11,516,554, which represents 13.5% of the Company’s current and outstanding share capital.  As of the date of this Circular, there were 11,435,617 options granted, leaving 80,937 options available for grant under the Plan.  

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table is as of December 31, 2012:

	Plan Category
	Number of Securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights

(a)
	Weighted average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights

(b)
	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation  plans excluding securities reflected in column (a)

(c)

	Equity compensation plans approved by securityholders
	10,335,617
	$1.14
	1,180,937

	Equity compensation plans not approved by securityholders
	n/a
	n/a
	n/a

	Total
	10,335,617
	$1.14
	1,180,937


The Board determines the number of stock options to be awarded based on recommendations from the Compensation Committee.  Stock options are generally awarded to executive officers at the commencement of employment and periodically thereafter.  Stock options are granted to reward individuals for current performance, expected future performance and value to the Company.  The size of awards made subsequent to the commencement of employment takes into account stock options already held by the individual. 

Share-based awards and option-based awards for NEOs outstanding at the end of the most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2012 are set out in the following table:  
	
	Option-based Awards
	Share-based Awards

	Name
	Number of Securities underlying unexercised options


(#)
	Option exercise price

(CDN$)
	Option expiration date
	Value of unexercised in-the-money options 
(CDN$)
	Number of shares or units of shares that have not vested 
(#)
	Market or payout value of share-based awards that have not vested 
(CDN$)

	Zhiping Wang
	3,454,966

150,000


	$1.20

$0.55


	June , 19, 2013

May 28, 2014


	Nil

Nil


	Nil

Nil


	Nil

Nil



	Elaine Zhao
	500,000

25,000
150,000


	$1.20

$0.55
$1.16


	June , 19, 2013

May 28, 2014
Nov 13, 2014


	Nil

Nil

Nil
	Nil 

Nil
Nil


	Nil
Nil

Nil



	Robert Wilson
	3,838,851

50,000


	$1.20

$0.55


	June 19, 2018

May 28, 2014


	Nil

Nil


	Nil

Nil


	Nil

Nil




Notes:  

(1)
The closing price of the Common Shares of the Company on the TSX on the last trading day for the Company’s most recently completed financial year was $0.06.  The value of the in-the-money unexercised options represents the aggregate dollar value that would have been realized if the individual had exercised each of his or her options on December 31, 2012.

The following table discloses incentive plan awards and value vested or earned for each NEO for the most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2012:  
	Name
	Option-based awards – Value vested during the year
(CDN$)
	Share-based awards – Value vested during the year 
(CDN$)
	Non-equity incentive plan compensation – Value earned during the year 
(CDN$)

	Zhiping Wang
	$8,671
	Nil
	Nil

	Elaine Zhao
	$32,534
	Nil
	Nil

	Robert Wilson
	$110,360
	Nil
	Nil


Termination and Change of Control Benefits

Effective January 1, 2012, the Company entered into a consulting and IR services agreement with Robert Wilson and EWC Corporation (“EWC”), a company owned by Robert Wilson.  Effective January 1, 2012, Mr. Wilson’s services to oversee and manage its investor relations affairs have been provided pursuant to this agreement.  The agreement expires on December 31, 2021, unless terminated earlier in accordance with its terms.  The agreement provides that the Company will pay EWC a service fee of $100,000 per annum plus GST and an additional fee of $5,000 per month plus GST for the fiscal year of 2012 payable in instalments in arrears. As at December 31, 2012, the fee payable to EWC was adjusted to $20,000 per annum plus GST and an additional fee of $5,000 per month plus GST for the fiscal year of 2013. The service fee will be reviewed annually by the Board and any increase is subject to Board approval. In addition, the agreement provides that the Company will reimburse EWC for expenses incurred in relation to the performance of the services provided pursuant to the agreement.  If the agreement is terminated for any reason, no further compensation shall be payable pursuant to the terms of the agreement other than all accrued and owing fees and expenses earned to the date of termination. There are no provisions providing for benefits to be paid on the change of control of the Company.  

Effective July 1, 2008, the Company entered into a management services agreement with Elaine Zhao and ELZ Accountancy Corp. (“ELZ”), a company owned by Elaine Zhao.  Effective July 1, 2008, Ms. Zhao’s services as CFO of the Company have been provided pursuant to this agreement.  The agreement expired on December 31, 2010 and was renewed to December 31, 2013, unless terminated earlier in accordance with its terms.  The renewed agreement provides that the Company will pay ELZ a management fee of USD$96,000 per annum and an additional management fee on achieving performance criteria set by the Company’s Compensation Committee each fiscal year.  The management fee will be reviewed annually by the Board and any increase is subject to Board approval. In addition, the agreement provides that the Company will reimburse ELZ for expenses incurred in relation to the performance of the services provided pursuant to the agreement.  If the agreement is terminated for other than “just cause” ELZ is entitled to a lump sum payment equal to three months’ management fees and a pro-rata portion of any additional management fees and the continuance of health plan benefit arrangements, including dental insurance and extended medical insurance but excluding disability insurance, until the earlier of six months following termination or until Ms. Zhao obtains alternative coverage from employment or self-employment.  The estimated payment for the management fee, the pro-rated management fee and benefits assuming termination took place on the final business day of the most recently completed financial year is USD$25,929.  The agreement defines “just cause” to include, failure to deliver the services under the agreement, being convicted of a criminal offence involving fraud or dishonesty, Ms. Zhao or any members of her family receiving a profit in connection with the Company’s business which has not been approved by the CEO, failing to honour her fiduciary duty including failing to act in the best interests of the Company and disobeying instructions of the CEO that are not inconsistent with the services to be provided under the agreement.  The agreement contains a covenant that ELZ and Ms. Zhao will retain in confidence any confidential information concerning the Company, so long as such information is not publicly disclosed, except as required by law or by a court of competent jurisdiction.  The agreement provides that for a period of one year following the termination of the agreement, Ms. Zhao will not directly or indirectly contact any past, present or prospective customers of the Company with whom she had dealings within the twelve months period preceding the termination, in respect of any business which is the same as or competes with the business of the Company in which Ms. Zhao was involved or contact any employee for the purpose of inducing them to leave their employment with the Company.  Finally the agreement provides that for a period of two years following the termination of the agreement, Ms. Zhao will not directly or indirectly engage in a business which is the same as or which competes with the business of the Company. There are no provisions providing for benefits to be paid on the change of control of the Company.

Except as disclosed above, no employment or management services agreements exist between the Company or any of our subsidiaries and a Named Executive Officer.

Director Compensation

On January 31, 2012 the directors approved a change to the structure of directors compensation where the compensation was changed to a flat fee of $26,000 per annum, with an additional $1,000 per annum for directors who sit on each committee and an additional $2,000 for directors who sit as committee chairs.   

Directors are also granted, from time to time, incentive stock options in accordance with the Company’s stock option plan and the policies of the Toronto Stock Exchange.  We have no standard arrangement regarding to the granting of such stock options to directors.

The following compensation was paid to our directors during the financial year ended December 31, 2012.

	Name
	Fees earned
(CDN$)
	Share-based awards 
(CDN$)
	Option-based awards
(CDN$)
	Non-equity incentive plan compensation
(CDN$)
	Pension value
(CDN$)
	All other compen-sation
(CDN$)
	Total
(CDN$)

	Jeremy Kendall
	$28,000
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	$25,000

	Brent Majkrzak
	$26,000
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	$25,000

	William Thomson
	$28,000 
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	Nil
	$25,000


Share-based awards and option-based awards outstanding at the end of the most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2012 are disclosed in the following table: 
	
	Option-based Awards
	Share-based Awards

	Name
	Number of Securities underlying unexercised options  (#)
	Option exercise price 
(CDN$)
	Option expiration
date
	Value of unexercised in-the-money options (CDN$)
	Number of shares or units of shares that have not vested  (#)
	Market or payout value of share-based awards that have not vested  (#)

	Jeremy Kendall
	200,000

50,000
	$1.20

$0.55
	June , 19, 2013

May 28, 2014
	$154,449

$16,250
	Nil
	Nil

	Brent Majkrzak
	200,000

50,000
	$1.20

$0.55
	June , 19, 2013

May 28, 2014
	$154,449

$16,250
	Nil
	Nil

	William Thomson
	200,000

50,000
	$1.20

$0.55
	June , 19, 2013

May 28, 2014
	$154,449

$16,250
	Nil
	Nil


Notes:  

(1)
The closing price of the Common Shares of the Company on the TSX on the last trading day for the Company’s most recently completed financial year was $0.06.  The value of the in-the-money unexercised options represents the aggregate dollar value that would have been realized if the individual had exercised each of his or her options on December 31, 2012.

OTHER COMPENSATION MATTERS

Proportion of Common Shares Held by Directors and Executive Officers

Collectively, as of the date hereof, the directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, own 11,827,200 common shares representing approximately 13.9% (12.4% on a fully diluted basis) of the issued and outstanding common shares.  
Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers

None of the directors or executive officers of the Company has been indebted to the Company or its subsidiaries during the financial year ended December 31, 2012.

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following provides information with respect to the Company’s compliance with the corporate governance requirements (the “Corporate Governance Guidelines”) of the Canadian Securities Administrators set forth in National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices and Form 58-101F1.

Board of Directors

The Company’s Board is currently composed of five directors, three of whom are independent of management under the Corporate Governance Guidelines and free of any interest and any business or other relationship, other than arising from their shareholdings, that could interfere with their ability to act with a view to the best interests of the Company.  

	Name
	Independence
	Attendance at Board meetings held during the year ended December 31, 2012

	Jeremy Kendall
	Independent
	7 / 7

	Zhiping Wang
	Related (due to position as President & CEO of the Company)
	7 / 7

	Elaine Zhao
	Related (due to position as CFO of the Company)
	7 / 7

	Brent Majkrzak
	Independent
	6 / 7

	William Thomson
	Independent
	7 / 7


The independent status of each individual director is reviewed annually by the Board.  The Board considers a director to be independent if he has no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company which, in the view of the Board could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with the exercise of the director’s independent judgment.  All three independent directors have been nominated for re-election at the Meeting.  

As part of every audit committee meeting held at least four times per year, the independent directors hold a meeting with the auditors at which management is not present. In addition, with respect to compensation issues, the board will provide the independent directors the opportunity to discuss these matters where the member of management in question is not present.  Further, the independent hold discussions between themselves on an as needed basis.

Directorships

The following directors of the Company are also directors of the following other reporting issuers:  
	Name of Director of the Company 
	Names of Other Reporting Issuers

	Jeremy Kendall
	SunOpta Inc.
Opta Inc.
Jemtec Inc.

	Zhiping Wang
	Sunshine Agri-Tech Inc.

	William Thomson
	Score Media Inc.
Open EC Technologies, Inc.


The Chairman of the board is not an independent board member.  The board has chosen independent directors for its committees and, depending on the issue at hand, leadership of the independent directors is undertaken by the chairman of such respective committee.

Board Mandate

The full text of the Board of Directors Mandate is attached as Schedule “A” to this Management Information Circular. 

Position Descriptions

The Board determines the roles and responsibilities of the Chair of the Board and the chairman of each committee based on the respective mandates or charters.  The Board has not yet developed written position descriptions for the CEO or the Chair of the Board.  Until the written position descriptions are developed, the Board agrees that the CEO is responsible for day-to-day operational management and Board approval is required for any other matters according to the terms of the Board Mandate and the Articles of the Company.
Orientation and Continuing Education

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee implement a program to familiarize new directors with the business of the Company, its management and professional advisors and provide a tour of the Company’s facilities.

Directors are made aware of their responsibility to keep themselves up to date with best director and corporate governance practices and are encouraged to attend seminars that will increase their own and the Board’s effectiveness.

Ethical Business Conduct

The code for directors, officers and employees is embedded in the board mandate, committee charters and corporate disclosure policy for the Company.  The corporate disclosure policy provides additional measures to ensure ethical business conduct, such as policies and requirements regarding insider trading and trading blackout periods.

The Board also requires conflicts of interest to be disclosed to the Company’s Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.  In the event that conflicts of interest arise, a director who has such a conflict is required to disclose the conflict and to abstain from voting for or against the approval of the matter.  In addition, in considering transactions and agreements in respect of which a director has a material interest, the Board will require that the interested person absent themselves from portions of Board or Committee meetings so as to allow independent discussion of points in issue and the exercise of independent judgment.

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual director’s participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company.

Under applicable corporate legislation, a director is required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interest of the Company and exercise the care, diligence and skill that is reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances, and disclosure to the Board the nature and extent of any interest of the director in any material contract or material transaction, whether made or proposed, if the director is a party to the contract or transaction, is a director or officer (or an individual acting in a similar capacity) of a party to the contract or voting on the contract or transaction unless the contract or transaction (i) relates primarily to their remuneration as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or an affiliate of the Company, (ii) is for indemnity or insurance for the benefit of the director in connection with the Company, or (iii) is with an affiliate of the Company.  If the director abstains from voting after disclosure of their interest, the directors approve the contract or transaction and the contract or transaction was reasonable and fair to the Company at the time it was entered into, the contract or transaction is not invalid and the director is not accountable to the Company for any profit realized from the contract or transaction.  Otherwise, the director must have acted honestly and in good faith, the contract or transaction must have been reasonable and fair to the Company and the contract or transaction be approved by the shareholders by a special resolution after receiving full disclosure of its terms in order for the director to avoid such liability or the contract or transaction being invalid.

Any transaction which involves the Company where a director or officer has a material interest, the board will arrange a discussion where that director or officer is not present.  Further, the director or officer who has a material interest in such a transaction will not be entitled to vote on any resolution relating to such transaction.

Nomination of Directors

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for identifying individuals qualified to become new Board members and recommending to the Board new director nominees for the next annual meeting of the shareholders. 

In identifying and recommending candidates, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall take into consideration such factors as it deems appropriate, including judgement, skill diversity, and experience with business and other organizations of comparable size and the need for particular expertise on the Board.

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is composed entirely of independent directors.

Compensation

The Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving compensation and compensation programs applicable to the senior management of the Company, making recommendations to the Board with respect to the Company’s incentive compensation and equity based compensation and for recommending to the Board remuneration to be paid to directors.

The Compensation Committee conducts reviews with regard to the directors’ and the chief executive officer’s compensation once a year.  To make its recommendation on directors’ and the chief executive officer’s compensation, the Compensation Committee takes into account the types of compensation and the amounts paid to directors and the chief executive officer of other Canadian publicly listed companies of a similar size with operations in China such as Migao Corporation and Hanfeng Evergreen Inc.

The Compensation Committee is composed entirely of independent directors. 

Other Board Committees

The Board of Directors has no other committees other than the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. 

Assessments

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for assessing the effectiveness of directors, the Board and the committees of the Board.

INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as set forth in this Management Proxy Circular, no informed person of the Company, no proposed nominee for election as a director of the Company and no associate or affiliate of any such informed person or proposed nominee has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year or in any proposed transaction that, in either case, has materially affected or will materially affect the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Except as described in this Management Proxy Circular, management functions of the Company are not, to any substantial degree, performed by a person or persons other than the directors or executive officers of the Company.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to the Company is available at www.sedar.com under the name “Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp.”.  Financial information for the year ended December 31, 2012 is provided in the Company’s comparative financial statements and Management Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) which are included with this Management Proxy Circular.  Copies of the Company’s financial statements and MD&A can be obtained by contacting the Executive Vice President of the Company in writing at 249 Riverside Drive, Toronto, Ontario, M6S 4A8 or by email at robert.wilson@asiabiochem.com.  Copies of such documents will be provided to shareholders free of charge.

OTHER MATTERS

Management knows of no other matters to come before the Meeting, other than those referred to in the Notice of Meeting.  However, if any other matters which are not know to management shall properly come before said Meeting, the Form of Proxy given pursuant to the solicitation by management will be voted on such matters in accordance with the best judgment of the persons voting the proxy.

SCHEDULE “A”

ASIA BIO-CHEM GROUP CORP.
(the “Company”)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MANDATE

1. ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
1.1 The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for the stewardship of the Company.  This requires the Board to oversee the conduct of the business and supervise management, which is responsible for the day-to-day conduct of the business. 

1.2 The Board is responsible for the adoption of a strategic planning process and the approval and review, at least annually in a strategy session to review the Company’s strategic business plan proposed by management, including a statement of the vision, mission and values, and to adopt such a plan with such changes as the Board deems appropriate.  The plan and discussion which takes into account, among other things, the opportunities and risks of the business must be presented to the Board prior to the fiscal year end as to provide enough time for management to resubmit and review the plan and incorporate a budget that takes into account the strategic objectives of the Company.

1.3 The Board shall review and measure on a monthly basis corporate performance against strategic plans, senior management objectives, financial plans and quarterly budgets. More specifically, the board shall obtain explanations from management and/or the external auditors on whether:

(a) Actual financial results vary significantly from budget;

(b) Changes in financial ratios and relationships are consistent with changes in the Company’s operations and financial practices;

(c) There are any significant unusual events or transactions; and

(d) The Company’s financial and operating controls are functioning effectively.

1.4 The Board is responsible for the identification of the principal risks of the Company’s business and overseeing the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks.

1.5 The Board is responsible for succession planning, including appointing, training and monitoring senior management and, in particular, the CEO.

1.6 The Board is responsible for satisfying itself as to the integrity of the CEO and other senior officers and that the CEO and the other senior officers create a culture of integrity throughout the Company.

1.7 The Board is responsible for the Company’s communication policies, which:

(i) address how the Company interacts with analysts, investors, other key stakeholders and the public, 

(ii) contain measures for the Company to comply with its continuous and timely disclosure obligations and to avoid selective disclosure, and 

(iii) are reviewed at least annually.

1.8 The Board is responsible for the integrity of the Company’s internal control and management information systems.

1.9 The Board is responsible for acting in accordance with all applicable laws, the Company’s Articles and the Company’s Director, Officer and Employee Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

1.10 The Board and each individual director is responsible for acting in accordance with the obligations imposed by the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). In exercising their powers and discharging their duties, each director shall:

(i) act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company;

(ii) exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances;

(iii) exercise independent judgement regardless of the existence of relationships or interests which could interfere with the exercise of independent judgement; and

(iv)  LISTNUM  \l5 
disclose to the Company, in writing or by having it entered in the minutes of meetings of directors, the nature and extent of any interest that the director has in a material contract or material transaction, whether made or proposed, with the Company if the director is a party to the contract or transaction, is a director or officer, or an individual acting in a similar capacity, of a party to the contract or transaction, or, has a material interest in a party to the contract or transaction; and

(A) such director shall refrain from voting on any resolution to approve such contract or transaction unless it relates to the directors’ remuneration in that capacity, is for the directors’ indemnity or insurance or is a contract or transaction with an affiliate.

(v) Demonstrate a willingness to listen as well as to communicate their opinions, openly and in a respectful manner.

1.11 The Board has the authority to establish committees and appoint directors to act as members of these committees.  The Board may not delegate to such committees the power to:

(i) submit to the shareholders any question or matter requiring the approval of the shareholders;

(ii) fill a vacancy among the directors or in the office of auditor, or appoint additional directors;

(iii) issue securities, except as authorized by the directors;

(iv) issue shares of a series, except as authorized by the directors;

(v) declare dividends;

(vi) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares issued by the Company;

(vii) pay a commission to any person in consideration of his purchasing or agreeing to purchase shares of the Company from the Company or from any other person, or procuring or agreeing to procure purchasers for any such shares;

(viii) approve a management proxy circular, take-over bid circular or directors’ circular;

(ix) approve financial statements to be put before an annual meeting of shareholders; and

(x) adopt, amend or repeal Articles.

1.12 The matters to be delegated to committees of the Board and the constitution of such committees are to be assessed annually or more frequently, as circumstances require.  From time to time the Board may create an ad hoc committee to examine specific issues on behalf of the Board.  The responsibilities of the committees will be as specified in their respective charters.  

2. COMPOSITION
2.1 From time to time the Board or an appropriate committee of the Board shall review the size of the Board to ensure that the size facilitates effective decision-making.  

2.2 The Board shall be composed of a majority of directors who qualify as “unrelated” or “independent” directors under applicable securities laws and applicable stock exchange rules.  The determination of whether an individual director is unrelated or independent is the responsibility of the Board. 

2.3 If at any time the Company has a significant shareholder, meaning a shareholder with the ability to exercise a majority of the votes for the election of the Board, the Board will include a number of directors who do not have interests in or relationships with either the Company or the significant shareholder and who fairly reflects the investment in the Company by shareholders other than the significant shareholder.

2.4 The Board should, as a whole, have the following competencies and skills:

(i) knowledge of the Company’s industry;

(ii) knowledge of current corporate governance guidelines; 

(iii) financial and accounting expertise.

3. PROCEDURES TO ENSURE EFFECTIVE OPERATION

3.1 The Board recognizes the importance of having procedures in place to ensure the effective and independent operation of the Board.  

3.2 If the Chair of the Board is not a member of management, the Chair shall be responsible for overseeing that the Board discharges its responsibilities.  If the Chair is a member of management, responsibility for overseeing that the Board discharges its responsibility shall be assigned to the corporate governance committee.

3.3 The Board has complete access to the Company’s management.  The Board shall require timely and accurate reporting from management and shall regularly review the quality of management’s reports.

3.4 An individual director may engage an external adviser at the expense of the Company in appropriate circumstances.  Such engagement is subject to the approval of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.

3.5 The Board shall provide an orientation and education program for new recruits to the Board as well as continuing education on topics relevant to all directors.
3.6 The Board shall institute procedures for receiving shareholder feedback.

3.7 The Board requires management to run the day-to-day operations of the Company, including internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures.  

3.8 The non-management directors shall meet at least once yearly without any member of management being present.

3.9 The Board sets appropriate limits on management’s authority.  Accordingly, the following decisions require the approval of the Board:

(i) the approval of the annual and quarterly (unless delegated to the Audit Committee) financial statements;

(ii) the approval of the annual budget; 

(iii) any equity or debt financing, other than debt incurred in the ordinary course of business such as trade payables;

(iv) entering into any license, strategic alliance, partnership or other agreement outside the ordinary course of business;

(v) the acquisition and assignment of material assets (including intellectual property and fixed assets) outside of the ordinary course of business;

(vi) payment of dividends;

(vii) proxy solicitation material;

(viii) projected issuances of securities from treasury by the Company as well as any projected redemption of such securities;

(ix) any material change to the business of the Company;
(x) the appointment of members on any committee of the Board;

(xi) capital expenditures in excess of CAD$500,000 outside of the annual budget;

(xii) entering into any professional engagements where the fee is likely to exceed CAD$100,000 outside of the annual budget.

(xiii) entering into any arrangements with banks or other financial institutions relative to borrowing (either on a term or revolving basis) of amounts in excess of CAD$5 million outside the annual budget;

(xiv) entering into any guarantee or other arrangement such that the Company is contingently bound financially or otherwise in excess of CAD$5 million other than product guarantees outside the annual budget;

3.10 The Board, together with the CEO and with the assistance of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, shall develop position descriptions for the CEO.  The Board, together with the CEO, shall also approve or develop the corporate objectives that the CEO is responsible for meeting and the Board shall assess the CEO against these objectives.

Tieling Wanshunda Starch Co.,  Ltd.


(“Tieling”) 


(PRC)





Cheerful Dragon Asia Limited.,


(“Cheerful Dragon”) 


(BVI)





Asia Bio-Chem Group Company Ltd.


(“Asia Bio Sub”) 


(BVI)





Daqing Biochemical Science and Technology Company Ltd.


(“Daqing”)


(PRC)





Changtu Bio-Chem Technology Co. Ltd. 


(“Changtu Bio”)


(PRC)





Asia Bio-Chem Group Corp. 


(the “Company” or “Asia Bio-Chem”)


(BC)
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